Hydrogeology and Aquifer Storage and Recovery Performance in the Upper Floridan Aquifer, Southern Florida

By Ronald S. Reese and Carlos A. Alvarez-Zarikian

Prepared as part of the

U.S. Geological Survey Greater Everglades Priority Ecosystems Science Initiative

Scientific Investigations Report 2006-5239

U.S. Department of the Interior U.S. Geological Survey

U.S. Department of the Interior

Dirk Kempthorne, Secretary

U.S. Geological Survey

Mark Myers, Director

U.S. Geological Survey, Reston, Virginia: 2007

For product and ordering information: World Wide Web: http://www.usgs.gov/pubprod Telephone: 1-888-ASK-USGS

For more information on the USGS--the Federal source for science about the Earth, its natural and living resources, natural hazards, and the environment: World Wide Web: http://www.usgs.gov Telephone: 1-888-ASK-USGS

Any use of trade, product, or firm names is for descriptive purposes only and does not imply endorsement by the U.S. Government.

Although this report is in the public domain, permission must be secured from the individual copyright owners to reproduce any copyrighted materials contained within this report.

Suggested citation:

Reese, R.S., and Alvarez-Zarikian, C.A., 2007, Hydrogeology and Aquifer Storage and Recovery Performance in the Upper Floridan Aquifer, Southern Florida: U.S. Geological Survey Scientific Investigations Report 2006-5239, 117 p. (appendixes on CD).

Contents

Abstract	1
Introduction	2
Purpose and Scope	4
Previous Studies	4
Hydrogeology of the Upper Floridan Aquifer	4
Inventory and Compilation of Well and Test Data	8
Construction and Testing Data	8
Well Identification and Construction Data	8
Hydraulic Well-Test Data	8
Quality of Ambient Ground Water	28
Cycle Test Data	35
Aquifer Storage and Recovery Performance in the Upper Floridan Aquifer	45
Factors Affecting Freshwater Recovery	45
Hydrogeologic Factors	46
Design and Management Factors	47
Analysis of Cycle Test Data at Selected Sites	48
Fiveash Water Treatment Plant (Site 3)	48
Springtree Water Treatment Plant (Site 4)	50
Shell Creek Water Treatment Plant (Site 6)	52
Marco Lakes (Site 7)	54
Boynton Beach East Water Treatment Plant (Site 23)	56
Delray Beach North Storage Reservoir (Site 24)	58
West Palm Beach Water Treatment Plant (Site 29)	60
Evaluation of Site Performance	60
Recovery Efficiency and Relative Performance	60
Hydrogeologic, Design and Management Factors	62
Summary	69
Selected References	71

Appendixes (on CD in back pocket)

Appendix 1: Geophysical Logs and Hydrogeologic Characteristics for Selected Wells		
at Aquifer Storage and Recovery Sites in Southern Florida	75	
Appendix 2: Sources of Literature for the Aquifer Storage and Recovery Sites in		
Southern Florida	117	

Figures

1.	Map showing study area and location and status of aquifer storage and recovery sites in the Floridan aquifer system	.3
2.	Chart showing the generalized geology and hydrogeology of southern Florida	.5
3.	Cross section <i>A-A'</i> from monitoring wells at the Olga Water Treatment Plant (site 13) in southwestern Florida to System 3 Palm Beach County (site 28) in southeastern Florida showing gamma-ray and caliper logs, geologic units, flow zones, and hydrogeologic units	.6

4-6.	Maps showing:	
	 Thickness and diameter of open-hole interval in storage wells at aquifer storage and recovery sites in southern Florida 	18
	 Transmissivity determined for storage zones in the Floridan aquifer system at aquifer storage and recovery sites in southern Florida 	28
	 Ambient water salinity, expressed as chloride concentration, of storage zones in the Floridan aquifer system at aquifer storage and recovery sites in southern Florida 	35
7.	Schematic showing aquifer storage and recovery well in a confined, brackish-to saline-water aquifer depicting idealized flushed and transition zones created by recharge	46
8-14.	Graphs showing relation of volumes recharged and recovered, time, and percent recovery for each cycle at the:	
	8. Fiveash Water Treatment Plant (site 3)	49
	9. Springtree Water Treatment Plant (site 4)	51
	10. Shell Creek Water Treatment Plant (site 6)	53
	11. Marco Lakes (site 7)	5!
	12. Boynton Beach East Water Treatment Plant (site 23)	57
	13. Delray Beach North Storage Reservoir (site 24)	59
	14. West Palm Beach Water Treatment Plant (site 29)	6
15.	Graph showing comparison of potable water recovery efficiencies for each cycle at aquifer storage and recovery sites with three or more cycles	6
16.	Map showing potable water recovery efficiencies for the most recent cycle at aquifer storage and recovery sites in southern Florida	64
17.	Graph showing comparison of cumulative potable water recovery efficiencies for sites with at least three cycles	6!
18.	Graph showing comparison of cumulative recharge volume and time since the beginning of cycle testing for sites with at least three cycles	66

Tables

1.	Historical and current aquifer storage and recovery sites in southern Florida	9
2.	Well identification, location, and construction data for aquifer storage and recovery well systems in southern Florida	11
3.	Hydraulic test data from aquifer storage and recovery well systems in southern Florida	19
4.	Ambient water-quality data collected from aquifer storage and recovery well systems in southern Florida	29
5.	Cycle test data from aquifer storage and recovery wells in southern Florida	36
6.	Calculated cumulative volumes and cumulative potable water recovery efficiencies at selected aquifer storage and recovery sites	43
7.	Cycle test data from the Fiveash Water Treatment Plant (site 3)	50
8.	Cycle test data from the Springtree Water Treatment Plant (site 4)	52
9.	Cycle test data from the Shell Creek Water Treatment Plant (site 6)	54
10.	Cycle test data from the Marco Lakes facility (site 7)	56
11.	Cycle test data from the Boynton Beach East Water Treatment Plant (site 23)	58
12.	Cycle test data from the Delray Beach North Storage Reservoir (site 24)	60

13.	Cycle test data from the West Palm Beach Water Treatment Plant (site 29)	62
14.	Comparison of hydrogeologic and design factors that may affect recovery	
	efficiency with aquifer storage and recovery site performance	67
15.	Aquifer storage and recovery site performance, grouped by rating, and compared with factors that could affect recovery efficiency	68

Appendix Tables (on CD in back pocket)

A1.	Geophysical logging tool devices and units used in appendix 1 plots	76
A2.	Geologic unit boundaries and sources of determination	113
A3.	Hydrogeologic unit boundaries and sources of determination	114
A4.	Flow zone sources of determination	116

Conversion Factors, Abbreviations, and Datums

Multiply	Ву	To obtain
	Length	
inch (in.)	2.54	centimeter (cm)
foot (ft)	0.3048	meter (m)
, in the second s	Volume or Rate	
million gallons (Mgal)	3,785	cubic meter (m ³)
million gallons per day (Mgal/d)	0.04381	cubic meter per second (m ³ /s)
million gallons per year (Mgal/d)	3,785	cubic meter per year (m³/yr)
S	pecific Capacity	
gallon per minute per foot [(gal/min)/ft]	0.2070	liter per second per meter [(L/s)/m]
	Transmissivity	
foot squared per day (ft ² /d)	0.09290	meter squared per day (m ² /d)
foot squared per day (ft ² /d)	7.481	gallons per day per foot [(gal/d)/ft]
	Leakance	
inverse day (1/d)	7.481	gallons per day per cubic foot [(gal/d)/ft ³]

Temperature in degrees Fahrenheit (°F) may be converted to degrees Celsius (°C) as follows: °C= (°F-32)/1.8

Vertical coordinate information is referenced to the National Geodetic Vertical Datum of 1929 (NGVD 29).

Horizontal coordinate information is referenced to the North American Datum of 1927 (NAD 27), except as noted.

Altitude, as used in this report, refers to distance above or below the vertical datum.

The standard unit for transmissivity is cubic foot per day per square foot times foot of aquifer thickness $[(ft^3/d)/ft^2]ft$. In this report; the mathematically reduced form, foot squared per day (ft^2/d) , is used for convenience.

Specific conductance is given in microsiemens per centimeter at 25 degrees Celsius (µS/cm at 25 °C).

Concentrations of chemical constituents in water are given in milligrams per liter (mg/L).

Acronyms

ASR	Aquifer Storage and Recovery
CERP	Comprehensive Everglades Restoration Plan
FDEP	Florida Department of Environmental Protection
GWSI	Ground-Water Site Inventory
SFWMD	South Florida Water Management District
TSV	Target Storage Volume
USGS	U.S. Geological Survey
WTP	Water Treatment Plant
WWTP	Wastewater Treatment Plant

Hydrogeology and Aquifer Storage and Recovery Performance in the Upper Floridan Aquifer, Southern Florida

By Ronald S. Reese and Carlos A. Alvarez-Zarikian

Abstract

Well construction, hydraulic well test, ambient water-quality, and cycle test data were inventoried and compiled for 30 aquifer storage and recovery facilities constructed in the Floridan aquifer system in southern Florida. Most of the facilities are operated by local municipalities or counties in coastal areas, but five sites are currently being evaluated as part of the Comprehensive Everglades Restoration Plan. The relative performance of all sites with adequate cycle test data was determined, and compared with four hydrogeologic and design factors that may affect recovery efficiency.

Testing or operational cycles include recharge, storage, and recovery periods that each last days or months. Cycle test data calculations were made including the potable water (chloride concentration of less than 250 milligrams per liter) recovery efficiency per cycle, total recovery efficiency per cycle, and cumulative potable water recovery efficiencies for all of the cycles at each site. The potable water recovery efficiency is the percentage of the total amount of potable water recharged for each cycle that is recovered; potable water recovery efficiency calculations (per cycle and cumulative) were the primary measures used to evaluate site performance in this study. Total recovery efficiency, which is the percent recovery at the end of each cycle, however, can be substantially higher and is the performance measure normally used in the operation of water-treatment plants.

The Upper Floridan aquifer of the Floridan aquifer system currently is being used, or planned for use, at 29 of the aquifer storage and recovery sites. The Upper Floridan aquifer is continuous throughout southern Florida, and its overlying confinement is generally good; however, the aquifer contains brackish to saline ground water that can greatly affect freshwater storage and recovery due to dispersive mixing within the aquifer. The hydrogeology of the Upper Floridan varies in southern Florida; confinement between flow zones is better in southwestern Florida than in southeastern Florida. Vertical hydraulic conductivity in the upper part of the aquifer also may be higher in southeastern Florida because of unconformities present at formation contacts within the aquifer that may be better developed in this area.

Recovery efficiencies per cycle varied widely. Eight sites had recovery efficiencies of less than about 10 percent for the first cycle, and three of these sites had not yet achieved recoveries exceeding 10 percent, even after three to five cycles. The highest recovery efficiency achieved per cycle was 94 percent. Three southeastern coastal sites and two southwestern coastal sites have achieved potable water recoveries per cycle exceeding 60 percent. One of the southeastern coastal sites and both of the southwestern coastal sites achieved good recoveries, even with long storage periods (from 174 to 191 days). The high recovery efficiencies for some cycles apparently resulted from water banking-an operational approach whereby an initial cycle with a large recharge volume of water is followed by cycles with much smaller recharge volume. This practice flushes out the aquifer around the well and builds up a buffer zone that can maintain high recovery efficiency in the subsequent cycles.

The relative performance of all sites with adequate cycle test data was determined. Performance was arbitrarily grouped into "high" (greater than 40 percent), "medium" (between 20 and 40 percent), and "low" (less than 20 percent) categories based primarily on their cumulative recovery efficiency for the first seven cycles, or projected to seven cycles if fewer cycles were conducted. The ratings of three sites, considered to be borderline, were modified using the overall recharge rate derived from the cumulative recharge volumes. A higher overall recharge rate (greater than 300 million gallons per year) can improve recovery efficiency because of the water-banking effect. Of the 30 sites in this study, a rating was determined for 17 sites, of which 7 sites were rated high, 5 sites were rated medium, and 5 sites were rated low.

Four hydrogeologic and design factors that may affect recovery were compared with the relative performance ratings. These factors are the thickness, transmissivity, and ambient chloride concentration (correlated with salinity) of the storage zone, and the thickness of the portion of the aquifer above the top of the storage zone. Threshold values for these factors of 150 feet, 30,000 square feet per day, 2,500 milligrams per liter, and 50 feet were chosen, respectively; each represents a value above which recovery efficiency could be adversely affected.

2 Hydrogeology and Aquifer Storage and Recovery Performance in the Upper Floridan Aquifer, Southern Florida

Some general correlation of the performance ratings with the number of factors above the threshold value was found. The best correlation was found with the transmissivity and ambient chloride concentration factors, but some correlation also was indicated with the thickness of the storage zone.

Long intercycle or storage periods can adversely affect recovery efficiency. This adverse effect appears to be more likely for Upper Floridan aquifer sites in southeastern Florida than in southwestern Florida; southeastern Florida has higher ambient salinity, higher apparent vertical hydraulic conductivity, and more storage zones located greater than 50 feet below the top of the aquifer. This effect could be caused by upward migration of the recharged freshwater "bubble" during these periods as a result of buoyancy. Some evidence for this was found in the performance ratings for sites and in the analyses of certain cycles with long inactive periods.

Introduction

Interest and activity in aquifer storage and recovery (ASR) in southern Florida have greatly increased during the past 10 to 15 years, and many utility-operated ASR facilities now have wells completed in deep confined aquifers for this purpose. In southern Florida, ASR has been used to store excess freshwater during the wet season and subsequently recover it during the dry season for use as an alternative drinking-water supply source. Water is injected down an ASR well, stored in an aquifer, and withdrawn using the same well.

The principal aquifer used for ASR in southern Florida is the carbonate Upper Floridan aquifer of the Floridan aquifer system. There are 30 sites with wells completed in the Floridan aquifer system in this area; the ASR storage zone is located (or is planned to be) within the Upper Floridan aquifer at 29 sites and within the middle Floridan aquifer at the remaining site. Another storage zone being utilized at several other sites in southwestern Florida is the mid-Hawthorn aquifer, which overlies the Upper Floridan aquifer.

Most ASR sites described herein are owned by local municipalities or county water authorities in coastal areas (fig. 1) and are presently (end of 2004) at different stages of completion and operation. Of the 30 sites, 3 have at least one operating well, 11 are undergoing "operational testing," 11 require further infrastructure development or regulatory approval prior to "operational testing," and 5 have been discontinued (abandoned) after experimental testing was completed. Operational (cycle) testing is conducted during the first phase of operation and involves a multi-year period of regulatory review. During this time, the ASR well system is tested prior to receiving a full operating permit by the Florida Department of Environmental Protection (FDEP).

The expanded use of ASR on an unprecedented scale in southern Florida has been proposed as a cost-effective water-supply alternative to help meet the needs of agricultural, municipal, and recreational users, and for Everglades ecosystem restoration (U.S. Army Corps of Engineers and South Florida Water Management District, 1999). Under the Comprehensive Everglades Restoration Plan (CERP), construction of about 330 ASR wells is proposed for southern Florida. To be economically viable, each well must have an operational capacity of 5 Mgal/d during recharge (injection) or recovery. Wells were drilled at five sites as part of the CERP pilot study program (fig. 1), and large-diameter test injection wells (exploratory wells) were constructed with storage zones in the Upper Floridan aquifer at four of the sites for the purpose of cycle testing. A test well was drilled at the fifth site (site 9), but has not been completed.

Several current or potential problems with ASR have been identified in southern Florida. These problems include: (1) reduced recovery due to mixing of recharged water with brackish to saline ground water in the Upper Floridan aquifer (Reese, 2002); (2) stringent water-quality requirements for recharge into the aquifer (Federal Regulations Code, 2002a; Florida Administrative Code, 2002); and (3) the release, or potential for release, of water-quality constituents of concern (such as arsenic and radionuclides) into the stored water as a result of the interaction between injected freshwater and the aquifer matrix (Mirecki, 2004). The present study focuses only on the issue of recovery.

The Upper Floridan is continuous and well confined throughout southern Florida. The depth to the top of the aquifer ranges from 500 to 1,200 ft below land surface. In southern Florida, however, the Upper Floridan aquifer contains brackish to saline water, which can affect the recovery of the freshwater because of mixing within the aquifer during injection, storage, and withdrawal.

ASR wells are evaluated and operated through a cyclical process. Each cycle includes periods of injection (recharge) of water into the ASR well, storage in the aquifer, and withdrawal (recovery) from the same well; each period can last days or months. During operational testing, the recovery period often begins immediately after recharge is completed, with no period of storage. The volume of water recharged for each cycle and the duration of cycles and storage periods usually increase as part of the testing process. The recovery efficiency for each cycle is the total volume of water recovered, expressed as a percentage of the volume of water recharged into the storage zone. The salinity of water during the recovery period of each cycle typically increases over time; recovery is terminated when salinity reaches a level predetermined by operational or regulatory considerations. This limiting salinity constraint is usually the potable water limit of 250 mg/L chloride (Federal Regulations Code, 2002b), or slightly higher if the recovered water is mixed with potable water at a water-treatment plant (WTP). Chloride concentration and salinity (dissolved-solids concentration) are well correlated as shown by linear regression in the Floridan aquifer system in southern Florida (Reese, 1994; 2000; 2004; and Reese and Memberg, 2000), and chloride concentration is used in this report to define salinity in this aquifer system.



Figure 1. Study area and location and status of aquifer storage and recovery sites in the Floridan aquifer system.

Regional Floridan aquifer system hydrogeologic studies in southern Florida have not focused on ASR issues. Conversely, little effort has been made to link ASR site information into a regional hydrogeologic analysis. Additionally, ASR sites have been selected primarily on factors such as land availability, source-water proximity (preexisting surface-water canal systems or surficial aquifer system well fields), or proximity to a WTP. New tools, data, and synthesis are needed to make informed decisions that incorporate constraining hydrogeologic factors in the placement and construction of ASR sites. The U.S. Geological Survey (USGS), as part of its Greater Everglades Priority Ecosystems Science Initiative, conducted a study to assimilate and compile data on existing ASR sites in southern Florida, and identify and evaluate various hydrogeologic, design, and management factors that control the recovery of freshwater recharged into ASR wells. Phases 1 and 2 of this study have been completed. Phase 1 involved preliminary data inventory, review, and analysis (Reese, 2002). Phase 2 (this report) involved a more comprehensive evaluation of ASR data, including additional data made available since the completion of phase 1.

Purpose and Scope

This report documents phase 2 of the study and presents additional ASR data made available since phase 1, which was covered in an earlier report (Reese, 2002). The purposes of the present (2006) report are to: (1) provide a site-specific hydrogeologic framework analysis at existing ASR sites; (2) provide a performance evaluation of each site and comparative analysis of the performance at all sites; and (3) further evaluate the effect of hydrogeologic, design, and management factors on performance. Recovery efficiency on a per-cycle basis, as previously defined, is used to evaluate site performance. The limiting salinity level during the recovery period for this evaluation is the potable water limit of 250 mg/L chloride concentration. Data for all wells at the 30 Floridan aquifer system sites are compiled into four main categories: (1) well identification, location, and construction; (2) hydraulic testing; (3) ambient formation water quality; and (4) cycle testing. Cycle test data include calculations of recovery efficiency for each cycle and the cumulative recovery efficiency for all cycles.

The study area includes Charlotte, Glades, Lee, Hendry, Collier, Monroe, Miami-Dade, Broward, Palm Beach, and Martin Counties, and parts of Okeechobee and St. Lucie Counties in southern Florida (fig. 1). The northern boundary of the study area approximately coincides with the southern limit of ground water with less than 500 mg/L chloride concentration in the Upper Floridan aquifer in peninsular Florida (Sprinkle, 1989, pl. 6). The hydrogeology of each site is illustrated using geophysical logs and lithologic descriptions. These illustrations also include the location of the constructed storage zone. Principal hydrogeologic and well construction attributes determined for each ASR site are spatially illustrated to provide a comparative analysis. Well construction histories and results of cycle testing at seven sites are presented and discussed; analysis of the cycle testing data for these sites is made through graphical illustrations. Plots of both per cycle and cumulative recovery efficiency and cumulative recharge volume are made showing all sites with adequate data together. The relative performance of all sites with cycle test data is determined, and performance ratings are compared to several hydrogeologic and design factors that could affect recovery efficiency.

Previous Studies

Prior to the present study, the most recent overview and status reports on ASR well testing in southern Florida were by Merritt and others (1983) and Meyer (1989a), who presented data from four experimental ASR sites that also are included in this report. Additionally, experimental ASR test data were obtained from reports or written communications for the Jupiter facility, site 27 (J.J. Plappert, Florida Department of Environmental Protection, written commun., 1977), St. Lucie County facility, site 30 (Wedderburn and Knapp, 1983), the Lee County facility, site 11 (Fitzpatrick, 1986), the Hialeah facility, site 17 (Merritt, 1997), and the Taylor Creek/Nubbin

Slough—Lake Okeechobee facility, site 22 (Quiñones-Aponte and others, 1996). Khanal (1980) and Merritt (1985) conducted theoretical studies regarding the feasibility of cyclic freshwater injection in southern Florida. Merritt (1997) also simulated the salinity of recovered water in a study at the Hialeah facility. As part of the CERP regional ASR program, Mirecki (2004) studied water-quality changes that occurred during storage of ASR systems in southern Florida, including increases in concentrations of constituents of concern for drinking water.

Some regional or local hydrogeologic studies of the Upper Floridan aquifer that encompass or include part of southern Florida are Miller (1986), Bush and Johnston (1988), Meyer (1989b), Reese (1994; 2000; 2004), and Reese and Memberg (2000). All but the first two reports are specific to southern Florida.

Hydrogeology of the Upper Floridan Aquifer

The three principal hydrogeologic units in southern Florida are the surficial, intermediate, and Floridan aquifer systems of Holocene to Paleocene age. These aquifer systems, the aquifers contained within them, their relation to geologic units, and their lithology in southern Florida are described in figure 2. Water-bearing rocks in the intermediate aquifer system grade by facies change or pinch out to the east, and this system becomes the intermediate confining unit in southeastern Florida. The Floridan aquifer system consists of the Upper Floridan aquifer, middle confining unit, and Lower Floridan aquifer (Miller, 1986). The two aquifers most commonly used for ASR in southern Florida are the mid-Hawthorn aquifer of the intermediate aquifer system (southwestern Florida) and the Upper Floridan aquifer (fig. 2).

The geologic and hydrogeologic characteristics at each of the 30 Floridan aquifer system ASR sites in southern Florida are presented in appendix 1. An illustration for a well at each site includes geophysical log traces, a lithologic column, delineation of flow zones, geologic and hydrogeologic units, the completed open-hole interval(s), and vertical changes in salinity as indicated by the chloride concentration of water samples collected from known intervals. The geologic and hydrogeologic unit boundaries and flow zones (app. 1) were determined in this study or previous investigations, or were derived from other sources, such as consulting reports. These boundaries and the sources of determination also are listed in appendix 1; in this study, the determinations were made using geophysical logs and lithologic descriptions.

The Upper Floridan aquifer is 100 to 700 ft thick in southern Florida (fig. 2) and is well confined above by thick (tens to hundreds of feet) units in the Hawthorn Group composed of clay, marl, silt, clayey sand, or clayey or carbonate mud-rich limestone; the hydraulic head in the aquifer is above land surface. The middle confining unit of the Floridan aquifer



Figure 2. Generalized geology and hydrogeology of southern Florida. The middle Floridan aquifer is an informal unit.

system underlies the Upper Floridan aquifer and provides less effective to leaky confinement. This confining unit consists of fine-grained micritic limestone, dolomitic limestone, and dolomite or dolostone. Geologic units in the Upper Floridan aquifer in ascending order are the upper part of the Avon Park Formation, Ocala Limestone, Suwannee Limestone, and a basal unit of the Hawthorn Group (fig. 2)—some or all of these units above the Avon Park Formation are missing in some areas. The basal Hawthorn unit is defined by an overlying marker unit composed of micritic limestone or marl (Reese, 2000; 2004; Reese and Memberg, 2000). This marker unit, referred to as the lower Hawthorn marker unit (fig. 2), was correlated throughout most of southern Florida using gamma-ray logs; this unit provides part of the good confinement above the Upper Floridan aquifer.

The Upper Floridan aquifer generally consists of several thin water-bearing zones of high permeability (flow zones) interlayered with thicker zones of substantially lower permeability. Commonly, one or two major flow zones provide the bulk of the productive capacity. These flow zones are often less than 20 ft thick each and generally are present within the upper part of the Upper Floridan aquifer, within the lower Hawthorn producing zone and at or near the top of deeper formations (for example, see System 3 Palm Beach monitoring well shown in fig. 3). Unconformities are present at the top of the Suwannee Limestone, Ocala Limestone, or Avon Park Formation (Miller, 1986), and zones of dissolution occur in association with these unconformities in southern Florida (Meyer, 1989b). Flow zones are marked by abrupt and, in some cases, large changes in borehole flow and are determined primarily using borehole fluid logs, such as flowmeter and temperature logs; however, other geophysical logs, such as the caliper, formation resistivity, and porosity logs, can provide supporting data.

Because of good confinement above the Upper Floridan aquifer and artesian pressure within it, the top of the Upper Floridan aquifer is marked by artesian flow or a large increase in hydraulic head in the study area. Drilling characteristics, such as a lost-circulation zone or drilling break (a sudden increase in the rate of penetration), also may help to define the top of this hydrogeologic unit. Geophysical log characteristics include a decrease in gamma-ray log activity, increased electrical formation resistivity and porosity, anomalous caliper log readings indicating abrupt borehole enlargements (spikes), or

6 Hydrogeology and Aquifer Storage and Recovery Performance in the Upper Floridan Aquifer, Southern Florida



Figure 3. Section *A-A'* from monitoring wells at the Olga Water Treatment Plant (site 13) in southwestern Florida to System 3 Palm Beach County (site 28) in southeastern Florida showing gamma-ray and caliper logs, geologic units, flow zones, and hydrogeologic units. Line of section shown in figure 1. See appendix 1 for additional borehole geophysical log curves and lithologic data on these two wells.

thin zones of in-gage borehole where well cemented but permeable limestone or dolostone is present. Additionally, a large flow zone commonly marks the top of the Upper Floridan aquifer. Small flow zones can be present above the large flow zone near the top of the aquifer. These may or may not, however, be included in the Upper Floridan aquifer, depending on their head, permeability, and the degree of confinement provided by the unit(s) separating them from the main flow zone.

The hydrogeology of the Upper Floridan aquifer varies between southwestern and southeastern Florida. In southwestern Florida, the Upper Floridan aquifer commonly includes a basal unit of the Hawthorn Group (lower Hawthorn producing zone, fig. 2) and the Suwannee Limestone, which are thick and well developed (fig. 3). Additionally, the aquifer can extend down into the upper part of the Ocala Limestone, which also is thick; however, most of the Ocala Limestone usually has low permeability. As for southeastern Florida, the Upper Floridan aquifer is often interpreted to include only a relatively thin Suwannee Limestone and the upper part of the Avon Park Formation as shown at site 28 in Palm Beach County (fig. 3, Palm Beach County Water Utilities Department, 2003b) and site 4 (app. 1; Montgomery Watson, 1998a). An alternate interpretation is that the Suwannee Limestone is absent in parts of southeastern Florida (Miller, 1986; Reese and Memberg, 2000; Florida Geological Survey, 2004) or equivalent to the lower part of the basal Hawthorn unit (Reese, 2004), and that the Upper Floridan aquifer begins in the basal Hawthorn unit in these areas. The Suwannee Limestone is interpreted to be absent at site 2 in Broward County (app. 1; Florida Geological Survey, 2004). Additionally, in southeastern Florida, the Ocala Limestone is absent in some areas (Miller, 1986) or indistinguishable from the Avon Park Formation (Reese and Memberg, 2000).

In southwestern Florida, the principal flow zones tend to be associated with the lower Hawthorn producing zone and at the top of or within the Suwannee Limestone, whereas in southeastern Florida, an important flow zone is present at or near the top of the Avon Park Formation, or if present, at the top of the Ocala Limestone. Confinement is typically better between flow zones in southwestern Florida than in southeastern Florida, and some zones in southwestern Florida are referred to as separate aquifers or subaquifers; for example, Lower Hawthorn Zones I and II, Suwannee Zones I and II, and Ocala Zones I and II (Water Resources Solutions, Inc., 2000a).

The geologic structure near the top of the Upper Floridan aquifer in southern Florida has recently been described in detail through the mapping of geologic units, specifically, the altitude of the bottom of the basal Hawthorn unit in southwestern Florida (Reese, 2000) and the bottom of the Suwannee Limestone or an equivalent boundary in southeastern Florida (Reese, 1994, 2004; Reese and Memberg, 2000). The depth of these contacts was determined primarily by lithology and gamma-ray geophysical log patterns. The most important flow zone(s) in the upper part of the Upper Floridan aquifer is commonly present near these contacts. The altitude of these contacts varies considerably, ranging from less than 400 ft to greater than 1,200 ft below NGVD 29, and local relief can be as much as several hundred feet, particularly in southwestern Florida. Charlotte and Glades Counties, located within the study area (fig. 1), were not mapped in these earlier studies.

The top of the Upper Floridan aquifer has been interpreted in previous reports as being 200 to 300 ft above the top of the Suwannee Limestone (as defined in this study; app. 1 and table A2) at three sites (18, 19, and 20) in Miami-Dade County in southeastern Florida (CH2M HILL, 2003; 2001a; and 1998b, respectively). In the present (2006) study, however, the top of the aquifer at these sites is interpreted to be at the top of, or within, the Suwannee Limestone (app. 1 and table A3). In the consulting reports, the Upper Floridan aquifer at two of these sites (app. 1 and table A3, sites 18 and 20) was interpreted to include one or two flow zones in the lower part of the Hawthorn Group; however, evidence for a hydrologic connection between these flow zones and the Upper Floridan aquifer was not given. These flow zones are interpreted to lie above the basal Hawthorn unit as previously defined (fig. 2), which is based on gamma-ray log correlations. The uppermost flow zone even overlies the confining lower Hawthorn marker unit above the basal Hawthorn unit.

Some evidence exists for enhanced vertical hydraulic conductivity at the top of the Avon Park Formation and in the Suwannee Limestone in southeastern Florida. An aquifer performance test of the upper part of the Avon Park Formation was conducted in well BF-3 at the C-13 Canal site in northeastern Broward County (fig. 1, between sites 2 and 3) in which large quantities of phosphatic silt and fine quartz sand were produced, causing pump failure (Lukasiewicz, 2003a). This silt and sand production may have been caused by sinkhole development or karstification in the Avon Park Formation (Lukasiewicz, 2003a). Based on sample descriptions, abundant phosphatic sand is present only in an interval from 20 to 55 ft above the top of the production interval, in what is usually interpreted to be the upper part of the Suwannee Limestone or lower part of the Hawthorn Group, and this phosphatic zone (Reese, 1994, fig. 3) appears to have been the source of the sand that caused pump failure. Karstification in the Suwannee Limestone and Avon Park Formations, if present, could be related to regional unconformities present at the top of these formations.

An informally named water-bearing zone, the "middle Floridan aquifer," is contained within the middle confining unit that underlies the Upper Floridan aquifer (figs. 2 and 3), and was first identified in a well located in northeastern Palm Beach County near site 27 (ViroGroup, Inc., 1994). This zone has since been observed at several South Florida Water Management District (SFWMD) test well sites farther south in southeastern Florida (Lukasiewicz and others, 2003a; 2003b). The middle Floridan aquifer typically consists of fractured dolostone and is well developed in part of southeastern Florida (St. Lucie, Martin, and Palm Beach Counties); the aquifer was mapped as being continuous and present in most of central and southern Florida (R.S. Reese, U.S. Geological Survey, and E. Richardson, South Florida Water Management District, written commun., 2005). The zone had previously been identified as the upper part of the Lower Floridan aquifer in Okeechobee, St. Lucie, and Martin Counties (Lukasiewicz, 1992; Miller, 1986) or as the lower part of the Upper Floridan aquifer in Palm Beach, Broward, and Miami-Dade Counties (Reese, 1994; Reese and Memberg, 2000).

Inventory and Compilation of Well and Test Data

Well data were inventoried and compiled for all wells at existing and historical ASR sites in the Floridan aquifer system in southern Florida, and all available cycle test data were also compiled. Consulting reports describing the construction and testing of wells and cycle testing provided much of these data. The consulting reports used to compile these data are listed in the references section and listed by site number in appendix 2. Historical and current ASR sites are listed in table 1 along with the utility or operator of the site, storage zone aquifer, site status, recharge source water type, and number of wells drilled at each site. The number of injection (storage) wells at each site ranges from zero to four, and 22 of the 30 sites have at least one monitoring well completed in the storage zone.

The type of recharge source water used in southern Florida has included treated drinking water, partially treated surface water, raw ground or surface water, and reclaimed water (table 1). Treated drinking water is the most common source-water type and has been used at 10 sites; however, raw ground water also has been used, or is proposed for use, at 9 sites in southeastern Florida. Partially treated surface water is planned for use in the CERP-ASR program. Special permits, obtained through the FDEP Underground Injection Control Program and the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, are required to inject raw surface or ground water because these waters sometimes exceed maximum contaminant levels for primary or secondary drinking-water standards for some constituents.

Construction and Testing Data

Construction and testing data were compiled into three main categories: well-construction data, hydraulic well-test data, and ambient formation water-quality data. The wellconstruction data include well design, identification, and location. Data from two of the five CERP-ASR sites were obtained from Bennett and others (2001; 2004). Data for the other three CERP pilot sites were obtained from weekly drilling reports, permit applications, and responses to requests for information submitted to the FDEP Underground Injection Control Program and the Technical Advisory Committee for this program in southern Florida. The USGS serves as a member on this committee.

Well Identification and Construction Data

Well identification, location, and construction data for all ASR storage and associated monitoring wells are presented in table 2. All wells were assigned a USGS identification number, and data from these wells have been archived in the USGS Ground-Water Site Inventory (GWSI) database. The construction information compiled includes total hole depth, ending date of construction, casing depth and diameter, type of each casing string set in the well, and the completed (constructed) open interval and its diameter. All depths in this report are below land surface. In most instances, the completed interval is open hole, but a gravel-packed screen was installed in a few monitoring wells. At many sites, the first well drilled was plugged back to the selected storage zone after being drilled deeper to test other potential zones or to determine waterquality changes with depth.

The thickness and diameter of the open-hole storage intervals vary (fig. 4 and table 2). The thickness for most intervals typically ranges from about 100 to 200 ft; extremes range from 45 ft at the Marco Lakes facility (site 7, well C-1206) to 452 ft at the West Well Field (site 20). At sites 8 and 18, a test-monitoring well is shown in figure 4 because storage wells have yet to be constructed. The storage zone in future ASR wells at these sites may not be the same as the open interval in the test-monitoring well. Except for sites 8, 18, and 22, the average storage zone thickness for 26 of the sites (fig. 4) is 183 ft. The diameter of the open-hole storage intervals ranges from 5.125 in. at the St. Lucie County facility (site 30) to 29 in. at the Southwest and West Well Fields in Miami-Dade County (sites 19 and 20, respectively). Nine sites have ASR wells with a casing diameter of 20 in. or greater (fig. 4); these large-diameter open intervals were constructed to achieve a high pumping rate (5 Mgal/d or greater) during recharge and recovery. ASR wells with a storage zone diameter ranging from 10 to less than 20 in. have been constructed at 14 sites, and the permitted capacity for these wells typically ranges from 1 to 4 Mgal/d (R. Deuerling, Florida Department of Environmental Protection, written commun., 2003).

Hydraulic Well-Test Data

A wide variety of hydraulic tests have been used to determine the hydraulic properties of storage zones or potential storage zones, and hydraulic test data were compiled for all ASR well systems. The data include the reported results of packer tests conducted during drilling, step-drawdown tests, single-well constant-rate tests, and multiwell constant-rate tests (table 3). Tests of other permeable intervals at a site that are shallower or deeper than the interval selected to be the storage zone also are included in table 3.

Table 1. Historical and current aquifer storage and recovery sites in southern Florida.

operator: BCOES, Broward County Office of Environmental Services; CERP, Central Everglades Restoration Project; USGS, U.S. Geological Survey; LCRWSA, Lee County Regional Water Supply Authority; PBCWUD, Palm Beach County Water Utilities Department. Storage zone aquifer: MFA, middle Floridan aquifer; MHA, mid-Hawthorn aquifer; UFA, Upper Floridan aquifer. Other abbreviations: WTP, water MDWSD, Miami-Dade Water and Sewer Department; FKAA, Florida Keys Aqueduct Authority; SFWMD, South Florida Water Management District; FDEP, Florida Department of Environmental Protection; [No., number; County: B, Broward; CH, Charlotte; CO, Collier; GL, Glades; HE, Hendry; L, Lee; M, Martin; MD, Miami-Dade; MO, Monroe; OK, Okeechobee; PB, Palm Beach; STL. St. Lucie. Utility or treatment plant; WWTP, wastewater treatment plant]

Site no.1	Site name and abbreviation	County	Utility or operator	Storage zone aquifer	Status ²	Source water (permitted or planned)	No. of injection wells	No. of monitoring wells in storage zone
1	Broward County WTP 2A (BC)	В	BCOES	UFA	Operational testing	Raw ground water	1	1
2	Deerfield Beach West WTP (DFB)	В	Deerfield Beach	UFA	Construction complete	Treated drinking water	1	1
б	Fiveash WTP (FA)	В	Fort Lauderdale	UFA	Operational testing	Raw ground water; previously treated drinking water	П	1
4	Springtree WTP (ST)	В	Sunrise	UFA	Operational testing	Treated drinking water	1	0
S	Englewood South Regional WWTP (EW)	СН	Englewood Water District	UFA	Operational testing	Reclaimed water	1	1
9	Shell Creek WTP (SC)	СН	Punta Gorda	UFA	Operational testing: 2 wells; Operating: 1 well	Treated drinking water	4	7
٢	Marco Lakes (ML)	СО	Florida Water Services	UFA	Operational testing: 2 wells; Operating:1 well	Partially treated surface water	ß	0
∞	Pelican Bay Well Field (PBW)	CO	Collier County	UFA (planned)	Construction of exploratory well complete	Reclaimed water	0	1
6	Moore Haven S-77 (MH)	GL	CERP	1	Test well drilled	Partially treated surface water	0	31
10	Caloosahatchee River/Berry Grove (CR)	HE	CERP	UFA	Construction of exploratory well complete ⁴	Partially treated surface water	1	0
11	Lee County WTP (LC)	Г	SDSN	UFA	Experimental and inactive	Raw and partially treated surface water	1	5
12	North Reservoir (NR)	L	Lee County	UFA	Operational testing	Treated drinking water	1	1
13	Olga WTP (OL)	L	Lee County	UFA	Operational testing	Treated drinking water	1	7
14	San Carlos Estates (SCE)	L	Bonita Springs	UFA	Operational testing; UFA zone idle, MHA proposed	Treated drinking water	1	1
15	Winkler Avenue (WA)	Г	Fort Myers	UFA	Operational testing	Treated drinking water	1	1
16	Port Mayaca S-153 (PM)	W	CERP	UFA	Construction of exploratory well complete ⁴	Partially treated surface water	1	1.
17	Hialeah (HI)	MD	NSGS	UFA	Experimental and inactive	Raw ground water	1	1

Table 1. Historical and current aquifer storage and recovery sites in southern Florida.—Continued

Site no.1	Site name and abbreviation	County	Utility or operator	Storage zone aquifer	Status ²	Source water (permitted or planned)	No. of injection wells	No. of monitoring wells in storage zone
18	J.R. Dean WTP (JRD)	MD	FKAA	UFA (planned)	Construction of exploratory well complete	Raw ground water	0	1
19	Southwest Well Field (SWF)	MD	MDWSD	UFA	Construction complete	Raw ground water	2	0
20	West Well Field (WWF)	MD	MDWSD	UFA	Operational testing	Raw ground water	3	-
21	Kissimmee River (KR)	OK	CERP	UFA	Construction of exploratory well complete ⁴	Partially treated surface water	1	31
22	Taylor Creek/Nubbin Slough— Lake Okeechobee (LO)	OK	SFWMD	MFA	Experimental and inactive	Raw surface water	1	-
23	Boynton Beach East WTP (BB)	PB	Boynton Beach	UFA	Operating	Treated drinking water	1	0
24	Delray Beach North Storage Reservoir (DRB)	PB	Delray Beach	UFA	Operational testing	Treated drinking water	1	0
25	Hillsboro Canal, East (HCE)	PB	PBCWUD	UFA	Construction complete	Raw ground water	1	1
26	Hillsboro Canal, West, Site 1 (HCW)	PB	CERP	UFA	Construction complete	Partially treated surface water	1	-
27	Jupiter (JU)	PB	FDEP	UFA	Experimental and inactive	Raw surface water	1	1
28	System 3 Palm Beach County (SY3)	PB	PBCWUD	UFA	Construction complete	Raw ground water	1	1
29	West Palm Beach WTP (WPB)	PB	West Palm Beach	UFA	Operational testing	Partially treated surface water	1	1
30	St. Lucie County (SL)	STL	SFWMD	UFA	Experimental and inactive	Raw ground water	1	2
¹ Site num ² "Constru	bers refer only to this report. Site locatio ction" refers only to wells, although som	ns are shown e sites with "	in figure 1. 'construction complete"	also have surf	ace infrastructure completed, but	have not yet been approved for "ope	rational testing."	

⁴ "Exploratory well" is first large-diameter injection well at site and is intended for aquifer storage and recovery testing.

³ Well is an uncompleted test well.

10 Hydrogeology and Aquifer Storage and Recovery Performance in the Upper Floridan Aquifer, Southern Florida

Table 2. Well identification, location, and construction data for aquifer storage and recovery well systems in southern Florida.

[Depths are in feet below land surface. Completed open intervals are open hole unless noted otherwise. Diameter of open interval for open-hole completions is size of bit used to drill or ream out hole. ddmmss, degrees, minutes, and seconds; LS, land surface; PVC, polyvinyl chlorinated; USGS, U.S. Geological Survey; WTP, water treatment plant; WWTP, wastewater treatment plant; ?, unknown; NR, not reported; ~, approximate]

Site name (and number)	USGS local well number	Other well identifier	Land-net or relative location	Latitude and Longitude (ddmmss)	Altitude of land surface (feet)	Total hole depth (feet)	Date at end of construc- tion	Depth to top and bottom of casing (feet)	Casing diam- eter (inches)	Type of casing	Completed open interval (feet)	Diameter of open interval (inches)
				Bro	ward County							
Broward County	G-2889	ASR-1	SE S12, 48S, 42E	261735 800625	16.6	1,200	12-03-96	0-40 0-397 0-995	36 26 16	Steel Steel Steel	995-1,200	16
WIP 2A (1)	G-2916	MW-1	65 feet north, 275 feet west of ASR-1		17	1,200	09-25-96	0-40 0-400 0-990	24 14 6.63	Steel Steel Steel	990-1,200	Q
Deerfield Beach	G-2887	ASR-1	Same as for MW-1	261857 800726	13.17	1,128	10-1992	0-400 0-960	26 12	Steel PVC	960-1,128	10.63
West WTP (2)	G-2888	MW-1	SENE S2, 48S, 42E; 370 feet north of ASR-1	261901 800726	12	1,128	12-10-92	0-42 0-402 0-960	24 16 6	Steel Steel Steel	960-1,128	5.875
	G-2917	ASR-1		261030 800915	NR	1,300	12-30-97	0-198 0-1,055	26 16	Steel Steel	1,055-1,200	16
Fiveash WTP	G-2918	FMW-1	350 feet south of ASR-1	261030 800914	NR	1,175	03-15-98	0-370 0-1,055	14 6.63	Steel Steel	1,055-1,175	13
	G-2919	SMW-1	56 feet south of ASR-1		NR	210	01-11-98	0-20 0-180 ¹ 180-200	12 2 2	Steel PVC PVC	² 180-200	7
Springtree WTP (4)	G-2914	ASR-1	NW S21,49S,41E	^{3,4} 261033 801540	10	1,345	07-1997	0-170 0-1,110	26 16	Steel Steel	1,110-1,270	16
				Cha	irlotte County							
	СН-318	TPW-1 (ASR-1)	S16, 41S, 20E	265415 821604	9	800	03-30-00	0-37 0-295 0-507	30 24 16	Steel Steel Steel	512-700	15
Englewood South Regional WWTP	CH-319	I-MMZS	400 feet west of TPW-1		NR	700	04-17-00	0-42 0-290 0-510	20 14 6	Steel Steel PVC	510-700	9
(c)	CH-320	IMW-1	2,200 feet northwest of TPW-1		NR	320	04-06-00	0-40 0-280	14 4	Steel PVC	280-320	4
	CH-321	SMW-1	150 ft east of TPW-1		NR	205	03-23-00	0-40 0-170	14 6	Steel PVC	170-205	9

р
Pe
E
÷
5
3
Ť
а.
p
E
<u> </u>
Ξ
e
문
5
2
2
.⊑
s
E
ē
S
∑.
0
ž
2
2
)e
2
ŭ
e
_
P
ar
л. П
ő
a
5
ž
e
÷=
글
ğ
Ľ
0
Ē
Ĕ
39
2
5
·≝
5
Ľ
Ë.
ũ
ō
с
р
ЦE
.0
Ę
<u>e</u> .
at
ö
0
~
2
ĭ
a.
<u>.</u>
÷
ц
Ð
p.
=
e/
3
2
e
9
Га
_

								Danth to				
Site name (and number)	USGS local well number	Other well identifier	Land-net or relative location	Latitude and Longitude (ddmmss)	Altitude of land surface (feet)	Total hole depth (feet)	Date at end of construc- tion	top and bottom of casing (feet)	Casing diam- eter (inches)	Type of casing	Completed open interval (feet)	Diameter of open interval (inches)
				Cha	rlotte County							
	CH-315	ASR-1	S29, 40S, 24E	265831 815607	19.4	1,043	04-1999	0-34 0-700 650-764	24 16 12	Steel Steel Steel	764-933	12.25
	CH-316	ASR-2	600 feet south, 270 feet east of ASR-1		NR	866	12-17-01	0-40 0-120 0-345 0-780	36 32 17.4	Steel Steel PVC	780-998	15
	CH-317	ASR-3	970 feet south, 100 feet west of ASR-1		NR	1,000	01-2002	0-37 0-140 0-350 0-810	36 32 17.4	Steel Steel PVC	810-912	15
Shell Creek WTP (6)	СН-325	ASR-4R	520 feet north, 170 feet east of ASR-1		NR	1,026	03-2002	0-36 0-124 0-350 0-800	36 32 17.4	Steel Steel PVC	800-915	15
	CH-326	SZMW-1R	500 feet north of ASR-1		NR	815	03-2002	0-40 0-350 0-764	24 16 8.62	Steel Steel PVC	764-815	٢
	СН-327	SZMW-2	1310 feet south, 260 feet east of ASR-1		NR	1,000	2-2002	0-40 0-140 0-350 0-785	36 32 17.4	Steel Steel PVC	785-1,000	15
	CH-328	IAMW-1	90 feet south, 70 feet east of ASR-1		NR	400	03-2002	0-40 0-350	16 8.625	Steel PVC	350-400	7
				Co	Ilier County							
	C-1206	ASR-1	NE S3, 51S, 26E	260356 ^{3,4} 814136	NR	790	7-8-96	0-40 0-152 152-745	24 16 12	Steel PVC PVC	745-790	10
	C-1207	DZMW	140 feet south, 320 feet east of ASR-1	260353 $^{4}814133$	NR	817	04-26-96	0-293 0-745	10 6	PVC Steel	293-352 745-817	9.625 9.625
Marco Lakes (7)	C-1208	ASR-2	SE S34, 50S, 26E 500 feet north, 320 feet east of ASR-1	260352 814123	7.5	780	08-26-99	0-27 0-736	26 16	Steel PVC	736-780	12.25
	C-1209	MHZ2MW	S34, 50S, 26E 730 ft south, 270 ft east of ASR-1		7.5	470	09-10-99	0-31 0-440	16 6	PVC	440-470	12.25
	C-1210	ASRZMW	2,000 feet north, 727 feet east of ASR-1		9.25	774	10-01-99	0-38 0-725	16 6	PVC	725-774	12.25

	S JSII			Latitude	Altitude	Total	Nate at	Depth to	Cacing		Completed	Niameter
Site name (and number)	local well number	Other well identifier	Land-net or relative location	and Longitude (ddmmss)	of land surface (feet)	hole depth (feet)	end of construc- tion	top and bottom of casing (feet)	diam- eter (inches)	Type of casing	open interval (feet)	of open interval (inches)
				Collier Co	ounty-Cont	inued						
Marco Lakes (7)—Continued	C-1211	ASR-3	S34, 50S, 26E 820 feet north, 545 feet east ASR-1		7.5	780	11-08-99	0-30 0-736	26 16	Steel PVC	736-780	12.25
Pelican Bay Well Field (8)	C-1242	EW-1	SWNW S19, T48S, R26E	261659 814513.5	NR	1,100	05-16-02	0-35 0-322 0-772	30 16 6.63	Steel Steel Steel	322-432 772-833	11
				Gli	ades County							
Moore Haven S-77 (9)	GL-331	GLF-6 test well		265018.6 4810507.5	NR	2,030	11-23-01	0-82 0-205 0-855	24 18 12	Steel Steel Steel	855-1,700	×
				He	ndry County							
Caloosahatchee River/Berry Grove (10)	HE-1141	EXBRY-1	NWNE S6, 44S, 28E	264118 813327	NR	1,398	7-01-04	0-219 0-634	34 24	Steel Steel	640-900	23
					ee County							
	L-2530	MW-1	NESE S23, 43S, 26E	264308 814049	7.2	614	1977	0-475	4	NR	475-615	2
Lee County WTP	L-2901	Deep test	SE S23, 43S, 26E	264309 814051	8	705	12-05-78	09-0	9	NR	60-705	4
(11)	L-3224	MW-2	NESE S23, 43S, 26E	264309 814057	96.6	622	04-79	0-460	4	NR	460-620	4
	L-3225	ASR-1	NESE S23, 43S, 26E	264309 814052	10.72	602	1980	0-445	10	PVC	445-600	6
North Reservoir	L-5810	ASR-1 LM-6210	SWSW S20, 43S, 25E	264238 815019	12	642	03-02-99	0-40 0-499 0-540	30 24 16	Steel Steel PVC	540-640	12
(12)	L-5811	MW-1 LM-6208	260 ft south of ASR-1		12	086	01-27-99	0-42 0-495 0-537	18 12 6	Steel Steel PVC	537-615	×
	L-5816	ASR-1 LM-6086	NESE S23, 43S, 26E	264312 ^{3,4} 814056	6	920	10-22-99	0-35 0-737 0-859	34 24 16	Steel Steel PVC	859-920	13
Ulga W IF (13)	L-5817	MW-1 LM-6209	470 feet southwest of ASR-1	264309 ^{3,4} 814100	9	1,200	66-80-60	0-30 0-525.5 0-674.5 0-850	18 8 8 4	Steel Steel PVC	850-895	8

Table 2. Well identification, location, and construction data for aquifer storage and recovery well systems in southern Florida.—Continued

	ed
	ā
	_
	ź.
	=
	Ξ.
	벋
	Ξ
	2
•	ٻ
	1
	Ë.
	3
	⊆
	Ē.
	0
ī	I.
	· ·
	<u> </u>
	Ð
	ċ
	₽
	0
	õ
	_
•	_
	S
	F
	5
	e
	5
	2
	6
	0,
	d)
	₹.
	5
	-
	\sim
	ā
	Ψ.
	~
	0
	c
	Ð
	<u> </u>
	_
	2
	σ
	2
	Ξ
	0
	σ
	5
	0
	5
	<u> </u>
	e
	÷
	\neg
	ᆕ
	≌.
	5
	<u>ــ</u>
	0
•	÷
	Ē
	Ĕ
	σ
-	õ
	-
	õ
	Ξ.
	÷.
	5
	n
	truct
	struct
	nstruct
	nstruct
	onstruct
	construct
	d construct
-	nd construct
-	and construct
-	and construct
-	, and construct
-	n, and construct
-	on, and construct
-	tion, and construct
-	ation, and construct
-	ation, and construct;
-	cation, and construct
	ocation, and construct
	location, and construct
	n, location, and construct
- -	in, location, and construct
- -	on, location, and construct
· ·	tion, location, and construct
	ation, location, and construct
	cation, location, and construct
	ication, location, and construct
	ification, location, and construct
	titication, location, and construct
	ntification, location, and construct
	entification, location, and construct
- - -	dentification, location, and construct
	identification, location, and construct
	I identification, location, and construct
	ell identification, location, and construct
	/ell identification, location, and construct
	Nell identification, location, and construct
	Well identification, location, and construct
	Well identification, location, and construct
	Well identification, location, and construct
	3. Well identification, location, and construct
	le Z. Well identification, location, and construct

Site name (and number)	USGS local well number	Other well identifier	Land-net or relative location	Latitude and Longitude (ddmmss)	Altitude of land surface (feet)	Total hole depth (feet)	Date at end of construc- tion	Depth to top and bottom of casing (feet)	Casing diam- eter (inches)	Type of casing	Completed open interval (feet)	Diameter of open interval (inches)
				Lee Co	unty—Contin	ued						
Olga WTP (13)—Continued	L-5818	MW-3 LM-6615	370 feet northwest of ASR-1	264313 ^{3,4} 814100	Q	945	05-13-99	0-35 0-742 0-864	18 12 6	Steel Steel PVC	864-945	×
	L-5812	TPW-1 (ASR-1)	S14, 47S, 25E	262321 ^{3,4} 814625	NR	718	08-03-99	0-93 0-650	20 12	Steel PVC	650-701	11
San Carlos Estates	L-5813	SZMW-1	~200 feet south of ASR-1, abandoned		NR	657	07-26-99	0-19 0-655	16 6	Steel PVC	Abandoned	12
(14)	L-5814	SZMW-1R	~200 feet south of ASR- 1, replacement well	262319 4814625	NR	721	07-29-99	0-19 0-659	16 6	Steel PVC	659-721	5.5
	L-5815	SMW-1	~100 feet east of ASR-1		NR	321	08-02-99	0-19 0-234	16 6	Steel PVC	234-321	5.5
	L-5871	ASR-1	S35, 44S, 24E	263608 815253	NR	647	06-23-99	0-91 0-455	20 12	Steel PVC	455-553	9.625
Winkler Avenue (15)	L-5872	I-MMZS	~220 feet southwest of ASR-1		NR	553	08-05-99	0-16 0-455	16 6	Steel PVC	455-553	5.5
	L-5873	MHMW-1	~80 feet south of ASR-1		NR	200	08-06-99	0-150	9	PVC	150-200	5.5
				Σ	artin County							
Port Mayaca	M-1360	MF-37 test well	NR	265928.8 4803616.5	16	2,046	10-05-01	0-74 0-170 0-765	24 18 12	Steel NR NR	765-1,683	9-7/8
(16)	M-1361	EXPM-1	NW S14 T40S R37E 1320 feet south, 380 feet west of MF-37	265917 4803620	22.2	1,380	11-20-03	0-36 0-155 0-800	4 2 4 2 4 2 4 2 4 2 4 2 4 7 2	Steel Steel Steel	800-1,040	22
				Mian	ni-Dade Coun	ty						
	G-3061	ASR-1	NWSW S18, 53S, 41E	254941 801717	8.4	1,105	12-09-74	0-201 0-955	24 14	Steel Steel	955-1,105	12
Hialeah (17)	G-3062	MW-1	289 feet northwest of ASR-1	254944 801718	5.43	1,064	11-19-74 06-04-80	0-198 0-953 0-862	14 6.63 2.38	Steel Steel Steel	840-844 953-1,060	NR
J.R. Dean WTP (18)	G-3774	EW-1	NR	252636 4803031	See foot- note 5	1,500	11-2003	0-37 0-180 0-880	30 18 8.5	Steel Steel Fiber- glass	880-1,000 1,000-1,350	8
Southwest	G-3768	ASR-1 (ASR-4)		254155 802817.3	NR	1,302	06-08-98	0-180 0-765	42 30	Steel Steel	765-1,169	29
well Field (19)	G-3769	ASR-2	610 feet south, 620 feet	254204.2 802817-5	NR	1,200	05-28-99	0-180 0-760	42 20	Steel Steel	760-1,200	29

ameter open terval iches)		6	6	6	0.0		NR	7	5	×	9		9	4	8.5
Completed Di open ol interval in (feet) (ir		850-1,302 2	845-1,250 2	835-1,210 2	21,370- 21,370- 1,390		565-2,048	562-875 2	1,268-1,710 2	990-1,075	1,275-1,700		804-909 1	2300-320	1,016-1,120 1
Type of casing		Steel Steel	Steel Steel	Steel Steel	Steel Steel PVC PVC		Steel Steel Steel	Steel Steel Steel	Steel 1 Steel Steel	Steel Steel Steel ?	-		Steel Steel Steel	PVC PVC	Steel 1 Steel
Casing diam- eter (inches)		40 30	40 30	40 30	24 12 22		24 18 12	42 34 24	42 34 24	24 12 6 1.50			36 26 16	44	20 14
Depth to top and bottom of casing (feet)		0-170 0-850	0-170 0-845	0-170 0-835	$\begin{array}{c} 0-170\\ 0-855\\ 0-1,370\\ 11,370-1,390\end{array}$		0-80 0-207 0-565	0-35 0-170 0-562	0-65 0-200 0-1,268	0-82 0-200 0-990 0-1,270			0-38 0-399 0-804	0-300 1300-320	0-400 352-1,016
Date at end of construc- tion		12-23-96	02-14-97	03-11-97	01-03-97		09-22-01	03-25-04	06-19-88	07-22-88			04-13-92	05-21-92	08-24-96
Total hole depth (feet)	ontinued	1,302	1,350	1,300	1,643	t۷	2,048	953	1,710	1,800		ty	1,260	435	1,200
Altitude of land surface (feet)	County-Co	NR	NR	NR	NR	hobee Coun	13	18	16	16	16	Beach Coun	18.9	18.9	21.2
Latitude and Longitude (ddmmss)	Miami-Dade	254200 802830		254213.5 802818.2		Okeec	270917.4 4805216.5	270845 4805215	271420 804709	271420.7 4804707.5	271420.7 ⁴ 804707.5	Palm [263050 ³ 800346		262800 800600
Land-net or relative location			975 ft north of ASR-1	1,955 feet north of ASR-1	270 feet northwest of ASR-1		SW/4, Sec 8 T38S R35E	Sec 19 T38S R35E 1,510 feet south, 1,200 feet east of OKF-100	S24, 37S, 35E	560 feet north of ASR-1	560 feet north of ASR-1		NE S33, 45S, 43E	~50 feet south of ASR-1	S17, 46S, 43E
Other well identifier		ASR-1	ASR-2	ASR-3	MW-1 Test 711		OKF-100 test well	EXKR-1	ASR-1	I-WM	Deep monitor- ing tube in MW-1		ASR-1	MW-1	ASR-1
USGS local well number		G-3706	G-3707	G-3708	G-3709		OK-100	OK-101	OK-9000	OK-9001	OK-9002		PB-1194	PB-1195	PB-1702
Site name (and number)				West Well Field (20)	× ,		Kissimmee River	(21)		Taylor Creek/ Nubbin Slough— Lake Okeechobee (22)			Boynton Beach East WTP	(23)	Delray Beach North Storage Reservoir (24)

Table 2. Well identification, location, and construction data for aquifer storage and recovery well systems in southern Florida.—Continued

ed
nu
Duti
ပို
- -
Ľ.
문
Ľ
the
nos
.⊑
ns
ster
sys
ell
~
/er
СO
ē
nd
e
rag
sto
er
linf
r ac
a fo
late
p u
ctio
tru
nsi
5
bnε
'n,
atio
000
'n, ľ
ntio
fica
ntii
lde
ell
≥
в 2 .
lde
Ĕ

Site name (and number)	USGS local well number	Other well identifier	Land-net or relative location	Latitude and Longitude (ddmmss)	Altitude of land surface (feet)	Total hole depth (feet)	Date at end of construc- tion	Depth to top and bottom of casing (feet)	Casing diam- eter (inches)	Type of casing	Completed open interval (feet)	Diameter of open interval (inches)
				Palm Beach	County-Co	ontinued						
Hillsboro Canal, East	PB-1775	FAMW		262030 801323	16.33	1,650	02-06-02	0-35 0-220 0-1,005 0-1,007	34 24 14 6.63	Steel Steel Steel Fiber- glass	1,007-1,225	12.25
(25)	PB-1776	ASR-1	758 W ft from FAMW	262003 801320	7.98	1,225	06-2003	0-35 0-235 0-1,010	48 24 24	Steel Steel Steel	1,010-1,225	22.5
	PB-1765	EXW-1 (ASR-1)	NR	262119 ^{3,4} 801743	NR	1,225	03-31-00	0-55 0-205 0-1,015	42 36 24	Steel Steel Steel	1,015-1,225	24
Hillsboro Canal West, Site 1 (26)	PB-1766	PBF-12 test well	330 feet northwest of EXW-1	262120 ^{3,4} 801746	12.5	2,370	¢.	0-375 0-1,000 0-1,505 0-2,130	24 18 2.38	Steel Steel Steel ?	1,505-1,670 2,130-2,260	12
	PB-1767	PBF-10R ⁶	330 feet northwest of EXW-1	262120 ^{3,4} 801746	NR	1,225	08-00	0-1,015	б	NR	1,015-1,225	×
Jupiter	PB-747	PBF-14 (ASR-1)	S3, 41S, 42E	265606.5 4800824.5	13	1,280	06-74	0-400 0-990	20 12	Steel Steel	990-1,280	NR
(27)	PB-1145	FAMW-1	500 feet from ASR-1	265608 800823	13	1,270	1975	0-400 0-990	12 5	NR NR	995-1,270	NR
System 3 Palm Beach County	PB-1763	ASR-1	S?, 46S, 42E	262859 800811	NR	1,155	66-10	0-60 0-365 0-223 215-1,065	36 24 18 16	Steel PVC Steel PVC	1,065-1,155	14
(28)	PB-1764	FAMW		262900 800810	NR	1,500	01-98	0-155 0-1,050 0-1,052	16 10.75 5	Steel Steel PVC	1,052-1,270	10
West Palm Beach	PB-1692	ASR-1	~100 feet east of MW-1	264259 ^{3,4} 800349	19.13	1,200	01-29-97	0-56 0-389 0-985	42 36 24	Steel Steel Steel	985-1,200	22
W1P (29)	PB-1693	MW-1	NW S21, 43S, 43E	264257 ^{3,4} 800350	18.97	1,410	11-13-96	0-65 0-379 0-975	30 24 12.75	Steel Steel Steel	975-1,191	12

Diameter of open interval (inches)		5.125	5.125	NR
Completed open interval (feet)		600-775	600-775	560-893
Type of casing		PVC PVC	PVC PVC	NR
Casing diam- eter (inches)		12 6	12 6	NR
Depth to top and bottom of casing (feet)		0-130 0-600	0-130 0-600	0-560
Date at end of construc- tion		02-82	02-82	ż
Total hole depth (feet)		1,000	775	893
Altitude of land surface (feet)	Lucie County	31.75	25.56	25.09
Latitude and Longitude (ddmmss)	St.	272017 802953	272019 802053	272020 802954
Land-net or relative location		SE S14, 36S, 39E	148 feet northeast of ASR-1	420 feet northwest of ASR-1
Other well identifier		ASR-1 SLF-50	MW-1 SLF-51	MW-2 SLF-49
USGS local well number		STL-356	STL-357	STL-355
Site name (and number)			St. Lucie County (30)	

¹Top and bottom depth of screen.

²Screened interval.

Latitude-longitude determined in the field using a hand-held global positioning system accurate to ±0.2 seconds. The location for most of the other wells came from Florida Department of Environmental Datum is NAD 83; all other datums for location are NAD 27. Protection construction permits

⁵Depths referenced to 4 feet above land surface. ⁶Replacement well to PBF-12, upper zone.

The hydraulic properties given in table 3 include transmissivity, storativity, leakance, and specific capacity; they are reported estimates and were not independently verified in this study. Transmissivity is a measure of the volume of water per unit of time that can be transmitted horizontally through a unit width and the full saturated thickness of the aquifer under a unit hydraulic gradient. Transmissivity also is equal to the thickness of the aquifer times its horizontal hydraulic conductivity. Hydraulic conductivity, which can be derived from transmissivity and aquifer thickness, is a measure of permeability and is defined as the volume of water per unit of time that will move through a unit area of an aquifer under a unit hydraulic gradient. Storativity, or the storage coefficient, is the volume of water that an aquifer releases from or takes into storage per unit surface area of the aquifer per unit change in head. Leakance is a measure of the degree of aquifer confinement and is defined as the vertical hydraulic conductivity of either a confining unit above or below an aquifer or both, divided by the thickness of the confining unit(s). Specific capacity is the yield (pumping or flowing rate) of a well divided by the drawdown in the well and can be used to estimate transmissivity (Brown, 1963; Heath, 1989). This property also can be used to make relative comparisons of the permeability of intervals tested, provided the thickness of the tested interval, length of the pumping period, pumping rate, storativity, and effective radius of the well are similar.

Packer tests are tests of open-hole intervals conducted during drilling using inflatable packers set on a string of drill pipe for the purpose of isolating the interval to be tested. Often, only specific capacity data are reported for packer tests (table 3). Transmissivity can be estimated either from packer test specific capacity results or from analysis of water-level recovery after a period of constant rate pumping during a packer test. This latter method, known as the Theis (1935) residual drawdown or recovery analysis, gives a more reliable estimate than the specific capacity method. Packer test results, however, can be unreliable because of partial penetration, a low pumping rate, a short pumping period, or incomplete isolation of the interval tested (leaky packers).

Many of the tests reported in table 3 are single-well stepdrawdown tests, which are run under variable discharge rate conditions; they are used to: (1) determine the specific capacity of a well; (2) provide insight into the productive capacity and permeability of the interval tested in a well; and (3) determine the size and depth of the pump to be used in the well for a multiwell test or for long-term operation. At some sites, the transmissivity of a storage zone was estimated from a step-drawdown test (table 3). Transmissivity of a confined aquifer can be estimated from a step-drawdown test using the Eden-Hazel's method (Kruseman and de Ridder, 1990). Only the initial and final pumping rates (first and last steps of the test) are given in table 3 together with the corresponding specific capacity values. Specific capacity determined from step-drawdown tests of storage zones in the Upper Floridan aquifer range from 7.0 (gal/min)/ft of drawdown at the North Reservoir (site 12) to 390 (gal/min)/ft at the West Palm Beach WTP (site 29), as noted in

18 Hydrogeology and Aquifer Storage and Recovery Performance in the Upper Floridan Aquifer, Southern Florida



Figure 4. Thickness and diameter of open-hole interval in storage wells at aquifer storage and recovery sites in southern Florida. All wells shown are the first storage well at each site, except for site 8 and 18 (see table 2).

table 3. Specific capacity is reported to be 1,600 (gal/min)/ft on the basis of a multiwell test at Taylor Creek/Nubbin Slough— Lake Okeechobee (site 22) site in the middle Floridan aquifer. Generally, specific capacity increases as the diameter of the open-hole interval increases and after well acidization because of dissolution of the rock matrix.

Hydraulic properties (transmissivity, storativity, and leakance) determined from a multiwell, constant rate (aquifer) test are considered the most reliable and representative data presented in table 3. Analytical solutions commonly used to analyze water-level data from this type of test include Theis (1935) and Cooper and Jacob (1946) for confined aquifers and Hantush and Jacob (1955) and Walton (1962) for semiconfined, leaky aquifers. Single-well constant rate tests provide only an estimate of transmissivity; usually only recovery water-level data from these tests are analyzed using the Theis (1935) solution for residual drawdown and the Cooper and Jacob (1946) solution.

[Depths are in feet below land surface. Test type: M, multiwell constant rate; P, Packer test; R, single-well constant rate; S, step drawdown. Method of analysis: SC, specific capacity or step-drawdown test analysis; Theis, Theis (1935) confined aquifer; Theis Rec, Theis (1935) residual drawdown recovery; C-J, Cooper and Jacob (1946) confined aquifer; J-L, Jacob and Lohman (1952); H-J, Hantush and Jacob (1955) leaky aquifer; Hantush, Hantush (1960) leaky aquifer; Moench, Moench (1985) leaky aquifer; Walton, Walton (1962) leaky aquifer; avg., average; WTP, water treatment plant; WWTP, wastewater treatment plant; DD, drawdown; --, not applicable; NR, not reported; 1/day, per day]

multiwell test, but give no information on ity i whether corrections meth were made. NR Perf NR Thir NR AThir NR ASF NR ASF NR ASF NR ASF
242.6-32.0 242.6-32.0 4.7 is Rec 4.7 5 2.3.8-3.6 2.5.5-17.7 is Rec -17.5 22.75 is Rec 22.75
3, Fiveash WTP
Theis Rec 4.7 - Theis Rec 5 4.6 4.6
t, Springtree WTP ² 18.4-16.5 Theis Rec 22.75 NR
² 18.4-16.5 Ac Ac Theis Rec 22.75 NR after con con factor Theis Rec 22.75 TR Action factor

Continu
In Florida.—
n southern
systems ir
covery well
age and re
aquifer stor
data from a
Iraulic test
Table 3. Hyo

Test date	Produc- tion well identifier	Open interval tested (feet)	Test type	Moni- toring well	Pumping rate (gallons per minute)	Length of pumping period (hours)	Transmis- sivity (square feet per day)	Stora- tivity (unitless)	Leakance (1/day)	Method of analysis	Specific capacity (gallons per minute per foot)	Background measurements	Problems and comments
						Charlo	tte County - Si	te 6, Shell (Creek WTP				
1 05 07	1 4 4 4	220 000			100 550	Ę					210 5 1		
16-00-11	ASK-1	CC/-00/	v, v	1	500-005	AN C	ł	1	1	1	25 2 4 6		Iransmissivity and leak-
16-/1-11	ASK-1	100-704	2	1	/ 60-167	17	1	ł	1	1	0.4-2.6-	:	ance values measured
11-18-97	ASR-1	700-765	Ч	1	546	54	1,300	ł	ł	SC	4.4	NR	during drawdown.
06-28-99	ASR-1	1764-933	S	1	610-600	8	ł	1	ł	ł	10.6		
02-02-02	ASR-2	1780-998	S	1	400-700	10	ł	ł	ł	ł	$^{2}10.0-9.0$		
01-31-02	ASR-3	810-1,000	S	1	500-800	11.25	ł	ł	ł	1	213.0-11.3		
02-13-02	ASR-4R	800-1,026	S	1	400-700	9.8	1	ł	ł	1	$^{2}8.5-8.0$		
02-28-02	ASR-3	810-1,000	Μ	ASR-2,	760	120	5,977	2.8×10^{-4}	5x10 ⁻³	H-J	NR	NR	
	ACD 3	810.1.000	М	SZMW-2	760	120	2033	1 6~10-4	°1×10-3	П	div	dIN	
70-27-70	C-XCA	\$10-1,000	M		/00/	170	0,021	1.0X1U	2.11X10	Г-Н	NK	NK	
						Col	lier County - S	ite 7, Marc	o Lakes				
NR	DZMW	296-399	S	1	220-600	NR	67,000	ł	1	Walton	2220-170		Estimated transmissivity
NR	DZMW	296-399	R	1	600	б	42,400	ł	ł	Theis Rec	NR	NR	in lower Hawthorn zone
NR	DZMW	550-622	P,R	1	5	4	47	ł	ł	Theis Rec	NR	NR	I (550-622 feet) too low
NR	DZMW	1745-811	R	1	187	4.5	8,200	ł	ł	Theis Rec	NR	NR	for consideration as an
NR	ASR-1	1745-790	М	ASR-1	463	8.3	16,300	ł	ł	Theis Rec	NR	NR	ASR storage interval. No
NR	ASR-1	1745-790	М	DZMW	463	8.3	9,100	6.5×10^{5}	$7x10^{-4}$	H-J	:	NR	dates were reported for
NR	ASR-1	1745-790	Σ	DZMW	463	8.3	12,000	ł	ł	Theis Rec	:	NR	any tests. Good agreement
NR	ASR-2	1736-780	S	ASR-1	400-650	NR	ł	ł	ł	1	225-24		between tests.
NR	ASR-3	1736-780	S,M	ASR-2,	400-820	NR	8,000-8,100	ł	ł	C-J	² 17.4-15	NR	
				ASRZMW									
						Collier C	county - Site 8,	Pelican Ba	ay Well Field				
NR	EW-1	322-500	R	;	335	4	8,400	1	;	Theis Rec	NR	NR	
NR	EW-1	322-566	R	1	325	4	9,600	ł	ł	Theis Rec	NR	NR	
NR	EW-1	320-833	R	ł	490	4	24,700	ł	ł	Theis Rec	NR	NR	Pump test after well was
													plugged back to 833 feet.
						Glades	s County - Site	9, Moore H	laven S-77				
11-15-01	GLF-6	1,440-1,490	Ч	1	25	NR	1	I	1	ı	0.3		
11-19-01	GLF-6	1.135-1,185	Ь	1	б	7	ł	ł	ł	1	0.00		
11-20-01	GLF-6	930-980	Р	I	100	NR	ł	ł	1	1	1.3		

Test date	Produc- tion well identifier	Open interval tested (feet)	Test type	Moni- toring well	Pumping rate (gallons per minute)	Length of pumping period (hours)	Transmis- sivity (square feet per day)	Stora- tivity (unitless)	Leakance (1/day)	Method of analysis	Specific capacity (gallons per minute per foot)	Background measurements	Problems and comments
					T	endry County	- Site 10, Calo	osahatchee	e River/Berr	y Grove			
12-04-03	EXBRY-1	620-752	SC	1	103.2	NR	1	ł	ł	1	4.4		Measurements conducted
02-16-04	EXBRY-1	640-661	SC	1	1,153	NR	ł	1	1	ł	16.1		during reverse-air circula-
02-17-04	EXBRY-1	640-661	SC	1	617	NR	ł	1	1	1	15.1		tion drilling through
02-18-04	EXBRY-1	640-704	SC	ł	615	NR	ł	I	I	ł	17.0		6-inch casing.
02-19-04	EXBRY-1	640-725	SC	1	615	NR	ł	ł	ł	ł	19.1)
02-19-04	EXBRY-1	640-740	SC	ł	635	NR	ł	ł	ł	ł	17.7		
03-09-04	EXBRY-1	640-757	SC	ł	645	NR	ł	ł	ł	ł	19.9		
03-09-04	EXBRY-1	640-788	SC	1	609	NR	ł	ł	ł	ł	19.4		
03-09-04	EXBRY-1	640-819	SC	1	632	NR	ł	ł	1	1	20.1		
03-10-04	EXBRY-1	640-851	SC	ł	588	NR	ł	ł	ł	ł	18.4		
03-10-04	EXBRY-1	640-883	SC	1	612	NR	;	ł	ł	1	18.8		
03-10-04	EXBRY-1	$^{1}640-900$	SC	ł	698	NR	;	ł	ł	1	23.3		
03-25-04	EXBRY-1	1640-900	S	;	880-2.450	4.2	1	1	;	1	$^{2}30.1-23.8$		
10.07.00	1-11/17/27	007-010	2		000112 0000	<u>1</u>					1.00		Suhmareihla taet numn eat
05-18-04	EXBRY-1	$^{1}640-900$	X	;	1.200-4.000	52	;	1	1	:	² 31-38		Submersione test pump set in well.
			l										Submersible test pump set
													in well.
						Lee	County - Site	11, Lee Cou	nty WTP				
NR	ASR-1	1445-600	M	NR	350	48	800	1.00x10 ⁴	1.0x10 ⁻²	H-J	NR	NR	Storage zone in ASR-1 is located in the lower Hawthorn producing zone of the Upper Floridan aquifer as defined by
													Keese (2000).
						Lee	County – Site	12, North R	eservoir				
12-18-98	MW-1	480-518	S	ł	92-430	NR	14,400	I	I	SC	$^{2}44.4-41.3$		
03-03-99	MW-1	1529-619	P,S	ł	73-295	NR	5,200	ł	!	SC	29.7-3.5		
03-08-99	MW-1	640-703	P,S	ł	79-281	NR	2,040	ł	ł	SC	$^{2}6.6-2.8$		
03-08-99	MW-1	808-890	P,S	ł	55-190	NR	680	ł	ł	SC	22.8-1.8		
03-08-99	MW-1	904-977	P,S	1	85-322	NR	9,590	1	ł	SC	$^{2}10.5-3.1$		
03-03-99	ASR-1	1540-642	S	1	162-590	4	2,220	1	1	SC	28.65-7.00		
03-08-99	ASR-1	1540-642	М	MW-1	379	72	8,290	3.27x10 ⁴	7.33x10 ⁻⁴	H-J	ł	Data collected for	Fit of line to ASR-1
03-08-99	ASR-1	1540-642	М	MW-1	379	72	8,740	4.64×10^{-4}	ł	C-J (recov)	ł	3 days prior to the	recovery data for multi-
03-08-99	ASR-1	1540-642	Μ	ASR-1	379	72	8,570	ł	ł	C-J (recov)	NR	multiwell test.	well test is poor.

Problems and comments		II I countro for multimall	test agree better with	single well and packer	test than C-J results. A	second multiwell constant	rate test was run, but is	not reported here. Storage	zone is about 1500 feet	below top of Suwannee	Limestone.							High enacific canacity in	TILGII SPECILIC CAPACITY III TDXV 1 due true capacity III	LF W-1 due two puot hologin onon informal	Dumning rate for test on	F uniping rate for test on 11/10/00 22/005 2011220	per minute was natural	flow. C-J solution for	drawdown in SZMW-1R	very late time only, and	back-ground changes due	to prior recutation may have affected response.		· Pumping rate for multi-	well test was 1,540 gal-	lons per minute for first	6.5 hours, then changed to	1,400 gallons per minute.	No attempt was made to	analyze multiwell test	data for storage coef- ficient or leakance.
Background measurements		Manual for	multiwell test. but	unknown if used to	correct drawdown.													Thermonia for	UIINIUWII 101 multimoll toot Toot	fallound 10 days of	racharga at 1 055	recharge at 1,210	ganons per minute and then 6-day static	period.						Ninety hours collect-	ed prior to multiwell	test, but apparently	not used to correct	drawdown data.			
Specific capacity (gallons per minute	•	đN	NR	NR.	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	² 14.9-8.5	1	1	ł	ł		2750 130	215 0.0	20 0 6 5	0.9-6.0	1	:							59.7	86.3	NR	NR	NR	ł	ł	I
Method of analysis		C o	sc SC	SC	SC	SC	SC	SC	\mathbf{SC}	SC	Theis Rec	SC	H-J	C-J	H-J	C-J			l	ł		Theie Dec	I liels kec							ł	ł	C-J (recov)	C-J (recov)	C-J	C-J (recov)	C-J	C-J (recov)
Leakance (1/day)	WTP			I	ł	ł	1	I	ł	ł	I	1	5.2×10^{-3}	ł	6.0×10^{-2}	ł	is Estates		I	l		I	l						Avenue	ł	ł	ł	1	1	ł	NR	ł
Stora- tivity (unitless)	te 13, Olga			1	ł	ł	ł	ł	ł	ł	I	1	5.10x10 ⁻⁵	4.10x10 ⁻⁵	5.50x10 ⁻⁵	4.20x10 ⁻⁴	l, San Carlo		1	ł	 1 00v104	01700.1	1						15, Winkler	ł	ł	ł	ł	ł	ł	NR	1
Transmis- sivity (square feet per day)	ee County – Si	005 0	1.300	7.600	7,600	7,600	33	1,900	9,000	6,400	8,700	5,000	7,200	12,000	9,400	11,000	ounty - Site 14	1	ł	ł	30,000	000,65	/0/00						County – Site	ł	1	29,100	26,600	24,700	25,400	27,400	29,000
Length of pumping period (hours)		đŅ	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	2	60	60	60	60	Lee C	×	0 0	0 0	0 0	0 0	o						Lee	15 min	15 min	70 min	18 min	27	27	27	27
Pumping rate (gallons per minute)		110 400	70-200	70-355	70-350	70-350	6-15	78-480	80-340	75-350	300	112-545	500	500	500	500		710-1-480	170 350	000-071	085	200	006							135	160	479	483	1,540-1,400	1,540-1,400	1,540-1,400	1,540-1,400
Moni- toring well				1	I	ł	1	ł	ł	1	I	ł	MW-1	MW-1	MW-3	MW-3		;	I	l	 SZMMV-1D	AT-WIMZS	311-WINDC							1	ł	ł	ł	ASR-1	ASR-1	SZMW-1	SZMW-1
Test type		υ	<u>,</u>	. d	Ч	Р	Р	S	Ч	Ч	R	S	Σ	Σ	Σ	М		U	סמ	סמ	0 Z	M	М							s	S	Ч	Р	Μ	М	Μ	Μ
Open interval tested (feet)		515 605	612-689	1835-935	710-935	1835-935	945-1,101	740-820	1830-945	1854-945	1857-945	1859-920	1859-920	1859-920	1859-920	1859-920		1650 701	107-000	121-200	172-7221	107-000	10/-000.							1455-554	455-647	1455-574	1455-575	1455-553	1455-553	1455-553	1455-553
Produc- tion well identifier		MW 1	MW-1	MW-1	MW-1	MW-1	MW-1	MW-3	MW-3	MW-3	MW-3	ASR-1	ASR-1	ASR-1	ASR-1	ASR-1		TDW 1	1-W JI	VIT-M MIZC	T-WINC	T-W-I	1FW-1							ASR-1	ASR-1	ASR-1	ASR-1	ASR-1	ASR-1	ASR-1	ASR-1
Test date		01 05 00	01-07-99	02-03-99	02-04-99	02-04-99	02-08-99	03-17-99	03-25-99	03-25-99	03-26-99	11-01-99	11-03-99	11-03-99	11-03-99	11-03-99		06 07 00	66-10-00 00 00 L0	00 00 00	11 10 00	11 10 00	66-01-11							NR	NR	06-16-99	06-17-99	10-23-99	10-23-99	10-23-99	10-23-99

22 Hydrogeology and Aquifer Storage and Recovery Performance in the Upper Floridan Aquifer, Southern Florida

Problems and comments											Post-acidization with	4,200 gallons of 18- Baume hvdrochloric acid.				Transmissivity estimate from Meyer (1989b). Storage coefficient esti- mated by model simula- tion of pumping test.											Pumping rate was reduced because of increasing
Background measurements													Collected for 3	days following test (11/7/03 to 11/11/03).		NR		NR	NR	NR	NR	NR					NR
Specific capacity (gallons per minute per foot)		C LC	111	/.10	106.3	9.1	2.2	11.5	225.5-17.7	230.05-24.15	266.14-47.75		ł			1		4	9	23	34	40	4	12	33	2	² 16-15
Method of analysis			1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1		Theis Rec			J-L		NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	1	NR	NR	Theis Rec
Leakance (1/day)	yaca S-153		I	I	1	ł	ł	ł	ł	1	ł		ł		Hialeah	1	. Dean WTF	ł	ł	1	ł	ł	ł	ł	ł	ł	I
Stora- tivity (unitless)	16, Port Ma		I	I	1	ł	ł	ł	ł	1	ł		ł		ty - Site 17,	8.4x10 ⁻⁵	Site 18, J.R	ł	ł	ł	ł	ł	ł	ł	ł	ł	I
Transmis- sivity (square feet per day)	County - Site		ł	ł	ł	1	ł	ł	1	ł	1		12,700		mi-Dade Count	11,000)ade County –	866	1,276	36,629	82,803	37,000	29	Not calc.	2,200	492	10,790
Length of pumping period (hours)	Martin	ç	1 6	n ţ	NR	7	7	2.3	NR	NR	NR		24		Miar	1.66	Miami-C	2	2	1	0.5	0.5	4	2	7	2	72
Pumping rate (gallons per minute)		155	001	147	170	123	107	210	980-2.150	1,600-2,900	1,700-4,400		3,250			250		45	450	650	006	950	25	85	82	60	280-750
Moni- toring well			1	1	ł	ł	ł	ł	ł	1	ł		I			ASR-1		ł	ł	ł	ł	ł	1	1	ł	ł	I
Test type		٩	_ D	ц¢	д,	Ч	Ь	Р	S	S	S		R			M		В	Я	Я	К	R	Р	Ь	Р	Р	Я
Open interval tested (feet)		1 007-7 046	1,722-2,040	1,/02-1,030	1,496-1,543	1,610-1,660	1,241-1,288	765-900	800-900	$^{1}800-1,040$	1800-1,040		$^{1}800-1,040$			1953-1,060		880-1,090	880-1,190	880-1,290	880-1,405	880-1,504	1,050-1,150	1,220-1,283	1,150-1,213	880-1,040	880-1,350
Produc- tion well identifier		ME-37	NIE 37	10-JIN	MF-37	MF-37	MF-37	MF-37	EXPM-1	EXPM-1	EXPM-1		EXPM-1			MW-1		EW-1	EW-1	EW-1	EW-1	EW-1	EW-1	EW-1	EW-1	EW-1	EW-1
Test date		10-16-01	10-10-01	10-62-01	10-26-01	10-30-01	11-01-01	10-26-01	10-07-03	10-15-03	11-03-03		11-05-03			02-10-75		05-14-03	05-23-03	05-30-03	06-04-03	06-09-03	07-02-03	07-09-03	07-10-03	07-22-03	10-08-03

salinity during test.

-Continuec
-Continue
-Continu
-Contin
-Conti
Coni
ß
õ
Ļ
÷
<u></u>
0
· 드
0
<u> </u>
ш.
_
-
d)
7
Ŧ
0
õ
Ц
S
F
5
e.
5
~
6
=
Ð
s
>
>
\sim
ā
_
_
2
ŝ
COV
ecov
recov
d recov
nd recov
and recov
and recov
e and recov
ge and recov
age and recov
age and recov
orage and recov
torage and recov
storage and recov
r storage and recov
er storage and recov
fer storage and recov
iifer storage and recov
uifer storage and recov
quifer storage and recov
aquifer storage and recov
ı aquifer storage and recov
m aquifer storage and recov
om aquifer storage and recov
rom aquifer storage and recov
from aquifer storage and recov
a from aquifer storage and recov
ta from aquifer storage and recov
ata from aquifer storage and recov
data from aquifer storage and recov
t data from aquifer storage and recov
st data from aquifer storage and recov
est data from aquifer storage and recov
test data from aquifer storage and recov
: test data from aquifer storage and recov
ic test data from aquifer storage and recov
llic test data from aquifer storage and recov
ulic test data from aquifer storage and recov
aulic test data from aquifer storage and recov
Iraulic test data from aquifer storage and recov
draulic test data from aquifer storage and recov
ydraulic test data from aquifer storage and recov
Hydraulic test data from aquifer storage and recov
. Hydraulic test data from aquifer storage and recov
Hydraulic test data from aquifer storage and recov
3. Hydraulic test data from aquifer storage and recov
e 3. Hydraulic test data from aquifer storage and recov

Problems and comments		Post acidization Post acidization Post acidization Leak- ance reported as 1.3 x 10 ⁻³ centimeters per second.		All three aquifer storage	and recovery wells were heavily acidized nrior to	all tests. Late time draw-	down data problematic	occause or purity going down several times.						Post acidization	r ust acturzation		Leakance derived by extrapolation; longer	pumping period required for more accurate value.				Second step test is with	permanent equipment installed in well. Average of estimates for transmis- sivity was 9,400 square feet per day.
Background measurements		For 1 day prior to test.		Measured for multi-	well test. Correction not done due to	negligibility.											Water-level data tak- en for 5 days prior	to multiwell test; correc-tions made	using a long-term	increasing trend.			
Specific capacity (gallons per minute per foot)		² 66.1-70.53 ² 65.2-57.75 		2269-52.1	$^{2}126.6-51.1$	NR	1	1 1	1		0.4	0.08	125	39	ł	ee	NR NR	1.600	1,600	1,600		² 18-28	² 29-27
Method of analysis	ield	 Walton	q	1	: :	C-J	Walton	U-J Walton	C-J	er	ł	ł	ł	 	Theis Rec.	Lake Okeechob	C-J Recovery	analysis C-J (recov)	H-J	C-J (recov)	t WTP	C-J	C-J
Leakance (1/day)	vest Well F	 ment	st Well Fiel	ł		N/A	1.6x10 ⁻³	3.9x10 ⁻⁵	N/A	immee Rive	ł	ł	ł		I	Slough—I	1 1	N/A	.01001	N/A	Beach Eas	ł	ł
Stora- tivity (unitless)	e 19, Southv	 6.05x10 ⁴	Site 20, We:	1	1 1	N/A	3.90x10 ⁻⁴	4.40x10 ⁻⁴	3.30x10 ⁴	Site 21, Kiss	ł	ł	ł	1	l	eek/Nubbin	NR :	N/A	1,25x10 ⁻³	1.90x10 ⁴	3, Boynton	NR	I
Transmis- sivity (square feet per day)	e County – Site		ade County – S	;	: :	10,300	15,400	15,400	19,700	bee County – S	ł	ł	ł		40,000	e 22, Taylor Cr	706 2,940	620,000	586,000	765,000	County - Site 2	6,800-	13,000 Not calc.
Length of pumping period (hours)	Miami-Dad	6 12	Miami-D	8	∞ ∞	72	72	72	72	Okeecho	NR	NR	NR	NR 2	† 1	e County – Sit	6.4 6.4	24	24	24	Palm Beach (NR	NR
Pumping rate (gallons per minute)		1,500-3,350 1,500-3,500 3,500		1,400-4,000	1,500-3,800	3,500	3,500 2 £00	3,500	3,500		25	S	205	1,356 3 500	000.0	Okeechobe	10 10	6.500	6,500	6,500		320-2,100	798-1,723
Moni- toring well		 ASR-1		1	1 1	ASR-1	ASR-2	ASR-2 ASR-3	ASR-3		ł	ł	ł	1	1			ASR-1	MW-1	MW-1		ł	ł
Test type		s s Z		s	s s	Σ	Z Z	M M	М		Ь	Р	Ч	s c	4		P P,R	М	М	M		S	S
Open interval tested (feet)		1765-1,169 1760-1,200 1760-1,200		1850-1,302	$^{1}845-1,250$ $^{1}835-1,210$	1850-1,302	1850-1,302	¹ 850-1,302	1850-1,302		1,955-2,030	1,790-1,850	1,640-1,700	1562-875 1562-875	C10-70C		1,175-1,227 1,175-1,227	1.268-1.710	1,268-1,710	1,268-1,710		1804-900	1804-909
Produc- tion well identifier		ASR-1 ASR-2 ASR-2		ASR-1	ASR-2 ASR-3	ASR-1	ASR-1	ASR-1 ASR-1	ASR-1		OKF-100	OKF-100	OKF-100	EXDR-1 EXDP-1	I-MUAT		MW-1 MW-1	ASR-1	ASR-1	ASR-1		ASR-1	ASR-1
Test date		05-28-98 05-20-99 05-28-99		02-26-97	02-25-97 04-08-97	12-09-97	12-09-97 12-00-07	12-09-97	12-09-97		12-06-01	12-14-01	12-17-01	03-25-04	+0-+0-00		04-20-98 04-20-98	08-02-98	08-02-98	08-02-98		04-09-92	10-15-92

Problems and comments		Second step test per-	formed after well acidiza-	tion. For the second step	test, pump malfunctioned	after about 10 minutes of	pumping during the last step at 2,550 gallons per minute.									Preacidization	Post acidization. Pumping	rate at 3,400 gallons per minute was for 22 hours.			Acidized EXW-1 with	4,30 gallons of 36 percent	HCI on June 2, 2000.	Conducted after well	acidization.				Transmissivity of ASR zone was estimated using recovery data. Post- acidization.
Background measurements															NR		NR	NR								Collected for 7 days after recovery period.			
Specific capacity (gallons per minute per foot)		0.37	06.0	2.40	2.00	210.8-7.8	² 17.2-15.7		2.73	171	6 76	0./0	18.9	² 17.1-11.9	11.85	235-24.1	278.3-63	ł			22.6	10.9	231.1-26.6	$^{2}65.4-41.68$		NR			² 47.8-25.2
Method of analysis	ge Reservoir	1	ł	ł	ł	ł	ł	BCWUD)	;	1		ł	1	ł	Theis Rec	ł	Theis	Moench	(case 1)	(CERP)	ł	ł	ł	I		Hantush	County		1
Leakance (1/day)	Jorth Stora	;	ł	ł	ł	ł	1	nal, East (P	ł	1		ł	1	ł	ł	ł	ł	2.3x10 ⁻⁴		anal, West	1	ł	ł	1		1	alm Beach		1
Stora- tivity (unitless)	ay Beach N	;	1	ł	ł	ł	I	lillsboro Ca	I	1		1	ł	1	1.568	1	1.8x10 ⁻⁴	2.3x10 ⁻⁴		Hillsboro (;	ł	ł	1		9.7x10 ⁻⁵	System 3 F		1
Transmis- sivity (square feet per day)	- Site 24, Delr	;	ł	1	ł	ł	ł	nty - Site 25, H	ı	1		1	1	1	9,965	1	19,000	19,200		ounty – Site 26,	1	1	ł	ł		8,100	unty – Site 28,		8,800
Length of pumping period (hours)	Beach County	NR	NR	NR	NR	24	13.2	lm Beach Cou	4	4		+ +	4	4	12	4	24	24		'alm Beach Co	NR	NR	NR	NR		90	alm Beach Co		×0
Pumping rate (gallons per minute)	Palm	49	83	90	98	575-1,100	76-2,550	Pa	99.5	92.0	011	0.17	97.0	308-956	958	1,400-3,130	1,800-3,400	1,800-3,400		<u> </u>	95	105	1,000-3,000	2.000-5.200		3,050	4		530-2,100
Moni- toring well		;	ł	ł	ł	!	1		ł	1		1	1	-	FAMW	1	ASR-1	FAMW			1	ł	ł	1		PBF-10R			1
Test type		Ч	Ь	Ь	Р	s	s		Ч	д		ц р	2,	S	R	S	R,S	М			Ь	Ь	S	ŝ	I	M		,	S
Open interval tested (feet)		849-899	900-952	974-1.020	1,020-1,100	$^{1}1,020-1,200$	1,020-1,200		1,597-1,627	1 310-1 340	11 005 1 109	1,002,1,041	1,005-1,041	11,007-1,232	11,007-1,232	$^{1}1,010-1,225$	11,010-1,225	11,010-1,225			1.160-1.225	1,015-1,150	1,015-1,225	1.015-1.255		¹ 1,015-1,255			1,065-1,155
Produc- tion well identifier		ASR-1	ASR-1	ASR-1	ASR-1	ASR-1	ASR-1		FAMW	FAMW	EAMW	FAIM W	FAMW	FAMW	FAMW	ASR-1	ASR-1	ASR-1			EXW-1	EXW-1	EXW-1	EXW-1		EXW-1			ASR-1
Test date		06-05-96	06-11-96	06-14-96	06-18-96	09-20-96	02-24-98		09-06-01	09-12-01	00 35 01	10-02-60	10-82-60	12-14-01	12-18-01	04-24-02	04-29-02	04-29-04			04-02-00	04-10-00	05-25-00	06-16-00		11-15-00			02-25-99

ő
۳
.⊑.
ц
8
Ť
١.
da
÷Ξ
<u>.</u>
<u> </u>
Ľ
Ę
Ľ
00
č
.=
ĩ
e
st
ŝ
=
Š
2
ŝ
Š
8
ē
5
Ĕ
g
ge
гa
5
Ś
e
÷
Ъ
l a
E
Ē
a
at
σ
st
te
<u>.</u>
п
Гa
b/
Ŧ
с.
e,
q
Ta

Problems and comments		Recovery was allowed	following step test of	ASR-1 before multiwell	test begun.					Large deviation from	Theis curve during late	time on multiwell test, but leaky aquifer solution not used.		Also conducted four pump tests of ASR-1 during drilling with total depth ranging from 617 to 1,000 feet and casing at 600 feet. Transmissivity was calculated from these tests based on recovery data from ASR-1.	
Background measurements										NR	NR			NR NR	
Specific capacity (gallons per minute per foot)		² 194-86	2220-110	275-58	² 110-101	² 116-105	² 116-99	² 62-42	2390-306	ł	1			1 1	
Method of analysis	WTP	:	ł	1	1	1	1	ł	ł	C-J	Theis			(DD) H-1 (DD) (DD) (DD) (DD) (DD) (DD) (DD) (DD	
Leakance (1/day)	alm Beach	1	ł	ł	ł	ł	ł	ł	ł	ł	ł		cie County	4.3x10 ⁻² 4.7x10 ⁻²	
Stora- tivity (unitless)	29, West P	;	ł	ł	ł	ł	ł	ł	ł	1.00×10^{-4}	8.00×10^{-4}		te 30, St. Lu	1.64x10 ⁴ 2.67x10 ⁴	
Transmis- sivity (square feet per day)	r County – Site	1	ł	1	ł	1	1	ł	ł	138,000	108,000		cie County – Si	5,910 6,430	
Length of pumping period (hours)	Palm Beach	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	24	24	24		St. Luo	72 72	
Pumping rate (gallons per minute)		64-142	55-110	300-584	300-584	550-740	550-740	550-732	508-704	700	700			388 388 388 388 388	
Moni- toring well		:	ł	1	1	ł	1	ł	ł	FAMW	FAMW			ASR-1 ASR-1 ASR-1	on larring
Test type		P,S	P,S	S	S	S	S	S	S	М	Σ			M M hout the	
Open interval tested (feet)		975-1,091	1,304-1,384	975-1,090	1975-1,190	975-1,290	975-1,384	1975-1,191	1985-1,200	1985-1,200	1985-1,200			1600-775 1600-775	Anno Anno
Produc- tion well identifier		FAMW	FAMW	FAMW	FAMW	FAMW	FAMW	FAMW	ASR-1	ASR-1	ASR-1			MW-1 MW-1 MW-1	
Test date		08-22-96	09-14-96	08-29-96	09-01-96	09-04-96	96-90-60	11-19-96	01-30-97	02-01-97	02-01-97			08-24-82 08-24-82 08-24-82	- Land

²Specific capacity values are listed in same order as corresponding pumping rate under pumping rate column. Only initial and final pumping rate values are given.

Drawdown data for aquifer tests should be corrected for background factors including tides, barometric pressure, and regional pumping. Corrections are made by collecting pre-pumping background water-level data and determining if there are any trends, such as tidal fluctuations. If present, these trends are removed from the drawdown data of the test so that the change in water level analyzed for the aquifer test is caused only by the withdrawal from the on-site production well. Background measurements were made for tests at nine sites in table 3; however, corrections made using these data were reported to have been done for only the test at site 22.

Because of increased permeability in the rock formation around the borehole, constant-rate test transmissivity results are probably affected by pretest borehole acidization methods designed to increase specific capacity. Acidization of ASR wells prior to multiwell, constant rate tests, were performed at the: Springtree WTP (site 4) by Montgomery Watson (1998a), Southwest Well Field (site 19) by CH2M HILL (2001a), West Well Field (site 20) by CH2M HILL (1998b), Hillsboro Canal, east (site 25) by the Palm Beach County Water Utilities Department (2003a); and Hillsboro Canal west (site 26) by Bennett and others (2001).

The transmissivity and hydraulic conductivity of an aquifer are commonly incorrectly estimated because of partially penetrating wells or inclusion of nonproductive zones of the aquifer in the estimate of transmissivity. Hydraulic properties determined from tests of storage zones may apply only to the storage zone or to a thicker interval, if the aquifer containing the storage zone is thicker than the storage zone. Of 28 sites with the storage zone in the Upper Floridan aquifer, the base of the aquifer was as least 50 ft below the base of the storage zone at 14 sites, at least 100 ft at 11 sites, and at least 340 ft at one site (site 23) as noted in appendix 1. If the aquifer is thicker than the storage zone, the hydraulic conductivity of a storage zone will be less than that obtained by dividing the transmissivity determined from a test by the thickness of the storage zone. In the Upper Floridan aquifer, however, most of the response for partial penetration tests may come from the interval tested because of thick zones of relatively low permeability that separate flow zones. Thus, the value of transmissivity obtained is less than the total transmissivity of the entire aquifer (Wedderburn and Knapp, 1983). Corrections can be made for partial penetration, assuming that horizontal and vertical hydraulic conductivity in the aquifer are uniform (Kruseman and de Ridder, 1990). Corrections for partial penetration were not made for any of the tests in table 3.

Storage zone transmissivity estimates were selected and plotted on a map of southern Florida (fig. 5), with most values being derived from drawdown analysis of multiwell aquifer tests. If performed, the leaky aquifer solution for these multiwell tests was used. The values for some sites were obtained from single-well constant rate and step-drawdown tests, as shown in figure 5. The storage zone is in the Upper Floridan aquifer in all instances, except at the J.R. Dean WTP (site 18), West Well Field (site 20), and Taylor Creek/Nubbin SloughLake Okeechobee (site 22). At site 22, the storage zone is in the middle Floridan aquifer. At sites 18 and 20 in Miami-Dade County, the storage zone (or in the case of site 18, the openhole interval in the test-monitoring well) is interpreted, as discussed previously, to include the upper part of the Upper Floridan aquifer and some flow zones well above the aquifer in the lower part of the Hawthorn Group.

The highest storage zone transmissivity in the Upper Floridan aquifer is 110,000 ft²/d at the West Palm Beach WTP (fig. 5, site 29), and the lowest transmissivity is 800 ft²/d at the Lee County WTP (fig. 5, site 11). Transmissivity at most sites ranges from about 5,000 to 30,000 ft²/d. The low transmissivity at site 11 is due to the placement of its open interval, which includes only the lower Hawthorn producing zone of the basal Hawthorn unit (app. 1, site 13; Reese, 2000). The Olga WTP (site 13) was later constructed at the same location as the Lee County WTP; its storage zone is deeper in the Upper Floridan aquifer and is contained within the lower part of the Suwannee Limestone (app. 1, site 13). The estimated transmissivity for the Olga storage zone is 9,400 ft²/d (fig. 5, site 13). The transmissivity value shown in figure 5 for the Shell Creek WTP (site 6, 6,000 ft²/d) was determined from a multiwell test using ASR-3 as the production well. The open interval for ASR-3 extended from a depth of 810 to 1,000 ft; however, this well was back plugged to a depth of 912 ft after the test was completed (table 2).

Storativity values determined from storage zones test in the Upper Floridan aquifer at 14 sites ranged from 1.33×10^{-6} at site 2 to 8.00×10^{-4} at site 29 (table 3). The value for site 14 was higher than this range but was not included in this analysis because, as noted in table 3, the solution giving this value is suspect. Storativity ranged from 5×10^{-5} to 5×10^{-4} at 11 of the 14 sites.

Leakance was estimated at nine sites with Upper Floridan aquifer storage zones by multiwell aquifer tests, and values are somewhat higher than expected (table 3). Two of these sites (sites 11 and 13) are at approximately the same location, but the storage zones are in different parts of the aquifer. Leakance determined from an aquifer test applies to both the upper and lower confining units of the aquifer, unless one of the confining units is known to be nonleaky. Reported leakance estimates ranged from as low as 3.9×10⁻⁵ 1/d at the West Well Field (site 20) to as much as 6.3×10^{-2} 1/d at the Deerfield Beach West WTP (site 2). Leakance estimates less than 1×10^{-3} 1/d were used to indicate confining conditions within the surficial aquifer system in southern Florida (Reese and Cunningham, 2000). Of the nine sites where leakance values were reported (table 3), five had values that exceeded this confining threshold of 1×10^{-3} 1/d. These higher leakance estimates at Upper Floridan aquifer storage zones are probably best attributed to leakage from below the tested interval rather than from above, because of the good confinement that exists above the aquifer in southern Florida (Bush and Johnston, 1988). This upward leakage probably either originated from intervals deeper in the Upper Floridan aquifer or from the middle confining unit of the Floridan aquifer system.



Base from U.S. Geological Survey digital data Universal Transverse Mercator projection, Zone 17, Datum NAD 27

Figure 5. Transmissivity determined for storage zones in the Floridan aquifer system at aquifer storage and recovery sites in southern Florida. Values are rounded to two siginificant figures. The storage zone is in the Upper Floridan aquifer at all sites, except site 22, which is in the middle Floridan aquifer.

Quality of Ambient Ground Water

Ambient ground-water samples were collected from storage and monitoring wells at the ASR sites in the study area to design and implement ASR operations and satisfy FDEP regulatory requirements. Selected analyses of these samples were inventoried and are presented in table 4. Data in this table include the sampled interval, sample date, specific conductance, dissolved chloride concentration, dissolved-solids concentration, temperature, and dissolved sulfate concentration. The type of interval sampled and method of data collection used are listed in order of increasing reliability as follows: (1) sample collected during reverse-air rotary drilling with top of interval being the base of casing; (2) packer test interval; (3) pump-out test of open interval below casing during drilling; and (4) constructed (completed) open interval (table 4). The intervals sampled include the storage zone, intervals deeper or shallower than the storage zone, or both. In addition to samples from the Upper Floridan aquifer, at ASR sites in southwestern Florida samples usually were collected from shallow permeable zones of the intermediate aquifer system.

The chloride concentration of the ambient water in ASR storage zones in the Floridan aquifer system generally indicates salinity is greatest in wells in southeastern Florida (fig. 6). The samples selected were based on the most reliable sampling method available. Storage zone chloride concentrations ranged from as low as 500 mg/L at the Lee County WTP (site 11) to as high as 11,000 mg/L at the Englewood South Regional Wastewater Treatment Plant (WWTP) (site 5). Table 4. Ambient water-quality data collected from aquifer storage and recovery well systems in southern Florida.

[Type of interval sampled: C, constructed (completed) open interval; O, pump out test of open interval below casing during drilling; P, packer test interval; R, sample collected during reverse-air rotary drilling with top of interval being the base of casing. USGS, U.S. Geological Survey; WTP, water treatment plant; WWTP, wastewater treatment plant; PD, post development; --, not determined or not reported]

Site number and name	Other identifier	USGS local number	Interval sampled (feet below land surface)	Type of interval sampled	Date sampled	Specific conductance (microsiemens per centimeter)	Dissolved chloride (milligrams per liter)	Dissolved solids (milligrams per liter)	Temper- ature (degrees Celsius)	Dissolved sulfate (milligrams per liter)
				Broward Cou	inty					
(1) December Connect W/TD 2.4	ASR-1	G-2889	1995-1,200	С	12-03-96	1	1,900	3,200	;	380
(1) Broward County W 1F 2A	MW-1	G-2916	1990-1,200	C	03-12-97	ł	1,900	2,600	:	250
			1960-1,120	C	09-03-92	5,430	1,850	3,800	22.7	:
			1960-1,128	C	09-09-92	6,000	1,600	3,400	:	400
(Z) Deerneid Beach west w IP	ASK-1	C-200/	1960-1,128	C	09-30-92	5,400	2,000	3,800	25.0	400
			1960-1,128	C	12-11-92	1	1,800	3,700	1	ł
	ASR-1	G-2917	1,055-1,300	Я	1	7,800	4,000	1	:	1
(3) Fiveash WTP	FMW-1	G-2918	11,055-1,175	C	03-17-98	9,345	3,524	7,880	:	725
	SMW-1	G-2919	180-200	C	01-15-98	ł	24	279	:	21
			1,110-1,340	R	:	4,300	2,200	-	:	:
(4) Springtree WTP	ASR-1	G-2914	1,110-1,270	C	07-31-97	7,310	2,449	4,520	31.0	644
			1,110-1,270	C	01-13-98	9,300	3,600	6,030	28.0	774
				Charlotte Cou	inty					
			295-808	0	03-02-00	16,800	5,200	10,267	:	664
	TDW	CH 210	563-583	Ρ	02-26-00	31,600	12,000	21,100	;	881
	ILW	CH-518	630-808	Ρ	03-06-00	50,100	17,500	31,133	;	;
(5) Englewood South Regional WWTP			1507-700	С	03-31-00	27,000	11,600	19,350	24.2	1,279
	SZMW-1	CH-319	1510-700	C	04-20-00	21,600	10,997	22,100	21.0	1,106
	IMW-1	CH-320	280-320	C	04-18-00	11,780	4,458	8,040	21.0	535
	SMW-1	CH-321	170-205	С	04-18-00	8,410	2,875	6,000	21.0	204
			700-1,040	R	1	3,540	:	2,020	:	1
		211 215	700-755	Р	11-05-97	1	837	2,090	:	1
	I-NCA	CIC-UO	700-764	C	11-18-97	ł	850	1,918	;	1
			1764-933	С	08-07-99	-	006	1,900	:	380
(A) Shall Court WITD	ASR-2	CH-316	1780-998	C	03-19-02	4050	746	2,020	;	344
	ASR-3	CH-317	$^{1}810-1,000$	C	03-19-02	3,400	745	1,860	1	339
	ASR-4R	CH-325	1800-1,026	C	03-19-02	2,800	585	1,640	1	293
	SZMW-1R	CH-326	764-815	C	03-21-02	1,830	ł	760	1	ł
	SZMW-2	CH-327	1785-1,000	C	03-19-02	3,180	694	1,860	ł	303
	IAMW-1	CH-328	350-400	С	03-19-02	3,880	687	1,730	1	298

Table 4. Ambient water-quality data collected from aquifer storage and recovery well systems in southern Florida.—Continued

Site number and name	Other identifier	USGS local number	Interval sampled (feet below Iand surface)	Type of interval sampled	Date sampled	Specific conductance (microsiemens per centimeter)	Dissolved chloride (milligrams per liter)	Dissolved solids (milligrams per liter)	Temper- ature (degrees Celsius)	Dissolved sulfate (milligrams per liter)
				Collier Coun	ty					
	ASR-1	C-1206	1745-790	C	:	6,000	2,520	6,620	:	:
	ASR-1	C-1206	1745-790	C	06-24-97	;	3,740	5,500	;	744
	DZMW	C-1207	293-352	C	07-01-97	;	3,260	6,180	;	800
	DZMW	C-1207	1745-817	C	07-01-97	;	2,590	5,620	;	718
(7) Marco Lakes	ASR-2	C-1208	1735-780	C	PD	8,500	2,480	;	;	1
	ASR-2	C-1208	1735-780	C	09-20-99	6,860	2,449	4,280	;	663
	MHZ2MW	C-1209	440-470	C	09-20-99	8,700	2,999	5,665	25.8	758
	ASRZMW	C-1210	1725-774	C	10-01-99	9,120	2,958	5,816	29.8	669
	ASR-3	C-1211	1735-780	С	11-24-99	8,860	2,774	3,920	26.3	686
			322-435	0	1	8,630	2,430	1	:	1
			322-566	0	1	8,460	2,520	;	;	ł
			322-844	0	1	8,630	2,520	1	;	ł
(8) Pelican Bay Wellfield	EW-1	C-1242	624-770	Р	1	7,550	2,100	;	:	1
			1777-860	Р	1	8,790	2,600	;	:	1
			322-432	C	1	8,410	2,480	1	;	1
			1772-833	С	05-28-02	6,840	2,068	4,900	30.1	866
				Glades Coun	Ity					
			1,587-2,030	Ρ	10-22-01	10,207	23,000	² 6,328	30.9	:
			1,587-1,884	Ь	11-2-01	11,842	23,500	27,342	31.04	1
			1,587-1,745	Р	11-9-01	14,692	$^{2}4,400$	29,109	30.22	ł
(9) Moore Haven S-77	GLF-6	GL-331	1,440-1,490	Р	11-15-01	4,289	$^{2}1,200$	22,660	29.62	1
			855-1,135	Р	11-19-01	6,758	$^{2}1,900$	1	28.14	1
			930-980	Р	11-20-01	6,607	$^{2}1,900$	² 4,096	27.98	ł
			855-930	Ρ	11-20-01	7,352	22,100	;	27.65	1
				Hendry Coun	ıty					
(10) Caloosahatchee River/Berry Grove	EVDDV 1	IIE 1141	640-752	R	12-04-03	2,763	820	1	28.3	ł
Site	EADN1-1	nc-1141	1640-900	С	03-26-04	3,680	900-940	2,040-2,150	28.9	1
				Lee County	,					
(11) Lee County WTP	MW-1	L-2530	1475-615	C	09-25-79	2,500	500	1,520	26.5	270
	σ									
----	---------------------									
	Ð									
	₽									
	0									
۰.	د:									
	÷.									
	g									
	0									
•										
	0									
ī	T.									
	-									
	5									
	B									
	5									
	Ξ.									
	≓									
	3									
	••									
•										
	ŝ									
	Ε									
	ā									
,	ī									
	Ś									
	2									
	S									
2	_									
	œ									
	ž									
	>									
	>									
	Ċ.,									
	Ð									
	>									
	0									
	c									
	Ð									
	<u>ـ</u>									
-										
	-									
	a									
	-									
	Ð									
	D									
	σ									
	5									
	2									
	2									
	<u> </u>									
	≚									
•	=									
	≓									
	Ξ.									
	.0									
	5									
	2									
•	-									
	σ									
	ō									
,	Ę,									
	٢									
	Ð									
	-									
	0									
	c									
	'n									
,	ĭ									
	σ									
	σ									
	>									
,	F									
-	=									
	σ									
	σ									
	Ŀ									
	æ									
	ē									
	_									
	ίΩ.									
	Š									
	Ň									
	nt wa									
	ent wa									
	lent wa									
	blent wa									
-	nbient wa									
	Ambient wa									
	Amblent wa									
	. Ambient wa									
	4. Ambient Wa									
	e 4. Ambient W8									
	JIC 4. Ambient W3									
	able 4. Ambient Wa									
	lable 4. Ambient Wa									

Site number and name	Other identifier	USGS local number	Interval sampled (feet below Iand surface)	Type of interval sampled	Date sampled	Specific conductance (microsiemens per centimeter)	Dissolved chloride (milligrams per liter)	Dissolved solids (milligrams per liter)	Temper- ature (degrees Celsius)	Dissolved sulfate (milligrams per liter)
			L	ee County—Co	ntinued					
			1540-642	C	03-02-99	2,400	700	:	;	ł
	ASR-1 IM-6210	L-5810	1540-642	C	03-04-99	2,450	740	;	ł	1
	D120-101		1540-642	C	03-10-99	2,450	750	:	1	ł
			480-518	Р	12-07-98	3,230	890	:	;	1
(12) North Reservoir	MW-1		1529-619	Р	12-09-98	2,640	700	;	;	1
	LM-6208	L-5811	640-703	Р	12-11-98	2,710	740	1	;	ł
			808-890	Р	12-16-98	2,450	720	1	;	ł
			904-977	Р	12-18-98	3,244	1,000	1	;	1
	ASR-1	T 2016	1859-920	C	10-21-99	2,677	1,000	-	:	1
	LM-6086	010C-7	1859-920	C	11-09-99	2,690	1,000	1	;	1
			520-610	Ρ	01-05-99	1,988	540	:	:	1
			617-694	Р	01-06-99	1,427	260	1	:	1
	MW-1	L 2017	1840-940	Р	02-30-99	3,420	1,000	;	;	1
TI W BBIO (CI)	LM-6209	/190-7	1840-940	Р	02-04-99	3,461	1,140	;	;	1
			715-940	Р	02-04-99	2,928	006	1	:	1
			950-1,106	Р	02-08-99	2,793	850	:	:	1
	MW-3	T £010	826-945	Р	03-25-99	2,350	790	1	:	1
	LM-6615	0100-71	1857-945	Р	03-25-99	2,948	970	;	:	1
			¹ 650-687	R	:	4,660	1,100	2,800	31.5	560
	ASR-1	L-5812	1650-718	R	ł	4,680	1,110	2,900	32.2	560
			1650-701	С	06-02-90	4,700	1,100	3,000	:	520
(14) San Carlos Estates	GT MMZ3	I 5014	1659-721	R	1	4,590	1,100	3,000	31.2	520
		L-J014	1659-721	С	07-29-99	4,570	1,100	2,800	:	580
	CANN 1	T 2015	234-321	R	ł	1,681	370	920	28.5	83
	1-W MC	C10C-7	234-321	С	08-02-99	1,694	340	950	:	77
			1455-574	Р	06-16-99	3,860	972	!	28.5	1
	ASR-1		1455-575	Р	06-17-99	3,240	770	;	28.5	1
(15) Winkler Avenue			1455-553	С	11-01-99	1	1,240	1,770	:	354
	SZMW-1		1455-553	С	09-16-99	I	1,282	2,998	1	414
	MHMW-1		150-200	С	11-01-99	I	1,540	2,410	:	323

Table 4. Ambient water-quality data collected from aquifer storage and recovery well systems in southern Florida.—Continued

						:	.			.
Site number and name	Other identifier	USGS local number	Interval sampled (feet below land surface)	Type of interval sampled	Date sampled	Specific conductance (microsiemens per centimeter)	Dissolved chloride (milligrams per liter)	Dissolved solids (milligrams per liter)	Temper- ature (degrees Celsius)	Dissolved sulfate (milligrams per liter)
				Martin Cour	ıty					
			1,992-2,046	Ч	10-16-01	49,941	215,300	231,000	30.0	1
			1,782-1,850	Р	10-23-01	33,067	$^{2}10,100$	² 20,500	29.7	ł
	74E 37	0201.04	1,496-1,543	Р	10-26-01	6,434	² 1,820	23,990	28.0	1
	MF-3/	M-1360	1,610-1,657	Р	10-30-01	10,161	22,970	² 6,300	28.7	ł
			1,241-1,288	Р	11-01-01	1,140	2180	2707	27.7	1
(16) Port Mayaca			765-900	Р	11-13-01	2,973	2750	² 1,840	27.0	1
I			800-840	Р	10-07-03	2,700	700	1,755	26.75	260
		1701 14	800-900	Р	10-07-03	2,858	702	1,680	26.8	271
	EXPM-1	M-1301	1800-1040	Р	10-15-03	3,180	640	1,640	27.25	246
			1800-1040	С	11-05-03	3,138	726	1,820	26.9	242
				Miami-Dade Co	ounty					
	ASR-1	G-3061	1955-1,105	C	12-04-74	4,750	1,200	2,920	1	500
(17) Hialeah	1 1111	G-3062	840-844	C	07-24-75	6,600	1,900	:	1	1
	I-W W	G-3062	1953-1,060	С	11-20-74	4,200	1,200	2,830	1	480
			880-1,090	0	05-14-03	3,420	670	2,560	:	ł
			880-1,190	0	05-23-03	4,470	1,550	3,116	:	I
			880-1,290	0	05-30-03	7,620	2,233	4,700	:	1
			880-1,405	0	06-04-03	8,210	2,254	5,110	:	ł
	1 (1) 1		880-1,504	0	06-09-03	9,220	3,927	7,310	:	1
(10) J.K. Dean WIF	I-XCA	6-27/4	880-1,040	Р	07-22-03	12,970	4,789	10,800	:	ł
			1,050-1,150	Р	07-02-03	5,900	1,990	4,700	:	ł
			1,150-1,213	Ρ	07-10-03	6,000	2,700	8,000	;	1
			1,220-1,283	Р	01-09-03	8,020	3,400	6,800	1	ł
			880-1,350	С	10-10-03		2,185	4,550	:	485
(10) Comburget Moll Earld	ASR-1	G-3768	1765-1,169	С	06-10-98	6,400	1550	3640	27.1	480
	ASR-2	G-3769	1760-1,200	С	07-16-01	-	1690	3750	27.0	565
	ASR-1	G-3706	1850-1,302	С	01-26-97	8,980	2,000	5,980	25.0	238
	ASR-2	G-3707	1845-1,250	С	02-25-97	6,650	2,449	4,390	23.0	615
(20) West Well Field	ASR-3	G-3708	1835-1,210	С	04-09-97	6,750	2,349	4,040	:	595
	ATTA 1	0010 1	855-1,010	С	02-06-97	6,520	2,499	4,300	25.0	662
	T - AA TAT	K0/C-D	1,370-1,390	С	02-06-97	10,590	4,649	7,220	25.0	466

tinued
on
ပု
orida.–
Ē
thern
sout
.⊑.
tem
SVS
=
y we
/er
õ
Гē
pu
e e
ag
for
S S
uife
aqı
E
f
ed
ect
⊜
с в
, dati
Ē
bua
Ľ.
/ate
≥ L
ien
hb
Ā
4.
ble
Та

Site number and name	Other identifier	USGS local number	Interval sampled (feet below land surface)	Type of interval sampled	Date sampled	Specific conductance (microsiemens per centimeter)	Dissolved chloride (milligrams per liter)	Dissolved solids (milligrams per liter)	Temper- ature (degrees Celsius)	Dissolved sulfate (milligrams per liter)
				Okeechobee C	ounty					
			1,955-2,030	Ь	12-06-01	23,100	26,970	² 14,300	29.3	:
(11) Viccimuno Direct	OKF-100	OK-100	1,790-1,850	Ρ	12-14-01	16,696	24,990	² 10,400	33.1	;
			1,640-1,700	Ρ	12-17-01	20,590	$^{2}6,200$	² 12,800	29.2	:
	EXKR-1	OK-101	1562-875	С	03-25-04	-	600	-	-	
	A CD 1		11,268-1,710	С	11-04-89	9,270	2,910	5,730	:	1
	I-XCA	UN-9000	1,268-1,710	С	04-17-91	-	3,100	7,180	35.0	:
I			1,175-1,227	Р	04-20-88	800	131	656	28.5	210
			1,288-1,354	Р	04-25-88	4,800	1,680	4,000	28.0	570
(22) Taylor Creek/ Nubbin Slough— I ake Okeechohee		OV 0001	1,347-1,370	Р	04-25-88	4,800	1,900	4,230	30.0	630
	1 - W IVI	1006-NO	1,358-1,508	Р	04-24-88	7,500	2,510	5,740	29.0	160
			1,540-1,662	Р	04-23-88	7,500	2,920	6,710	28.0	930
			990-1,075	С	04-17-91	-	210	820	27.5	-
I	MW-1	OK-9002	11,275-1,700	С	04-17-91	1	2,200	5,230	27.0	-
				Palm Beach C	ounty					
	ASR-1	PB-1194	1804-909	С	05-21-92	6,670	1,920	3,910	25.0	436
(23) Boynton Beach East W I F	MW-1	PB-1195	300-320	С	05-21-92	33,100	12,100	21,900	:	617
			849-899	Р	06-05-96	9,160	2,630	5,670	1	ł
			900-952	Р	06-11-96	8,480	2,669	5,529	:	1
			974-1,020	Ρ	06-14-96	7,440	2,143	4,363	:	1
(24) Delray Beach North Storage Reservoir	ASR-1	PB-1702	1,020-1,100	Р	06-18-96	6,800	2,057	4,255	:	1
			1,020-1,120	0	07-26-96	6,930	2,069	4,752	ł	ł
			1,020-1,200	0	96-90-60	6,810	2,556	4,234	1	1
			1,016-1,200	С	09-20-96	1	2,300	8,000	:	430
			1,596-1,626	Р	09-06-01	8,300	2,400	4,600	1	870
			1,310-1,340	Р	09-12-01	7,300	2,100	4,100	:	660
	EAMW	DD 1775	$^{3}1, 310-1, 340$	Р	09-18-01	6,800	2,300	4,200	1	660
(25) Hillshore Canal East (DBCW/HD)		C//1-01	11,005-1,198	Р	09-25-01	6,800	2,200	4,300	1	830
			1,005-1,041	Ρ	09-28-01	7,300	2,200	4,200	1	830
			11,007-1,225	С	12-18-01	8,200	2,300	4,400	:	1,000
	A CD 1	771 DD	11,007-1,225	С	04-30-02	8,300	2,100	4,400	1	470
	1-NCA	LD-1//0	11,010-1,225	С	06-23-03	5,800	1,900	4,100	24.0	440

Table 4. Ambient water-quality data collected from aquifer storage and recovery well systems in southern Florida.—Continued

Site number and name	Other identifier	USGS local number	Interval sampled (feet below land surface)	Type of interval sampled	Date sampled	Specific conductance (microsiemens per centimeter)	Dissolved chloride (milligrams per liter)	Dissolved solids (milligrams per liter)	Temper- ature (degrees Celsius)	Dissolved sulfate (milligrams per liter)
			Palm B	3each County-	Continued					
			1,160-1,225	Ч	04-05-00	4,600	1,287	2,932	23.9	397.9
	EXW-1	PB-1765	1,015-1,150	Р	04-10-00	8,223	2,336	5,110	23.8	734
			1,015-1,225	С	11-16-00	6,587	1,812	4,064	23.78	560.6
(20) HIIISDOTO CANAI, WEST (CERP)	PBF-10R	PB-1767	11,015-1,225	C	09-03-03	9,881	2,460	5,830	23.91	813.0
	PBF-11	PB-1766	1,500-1,670	С	09-03-03	3,962	1,230	2,830	23.08	314.0
	PBF-12	PB-1766	2,135-2,260	С	09-03-03	47,761	16,400	30,300	22.56	1,690.0
(27) Jupiter	ASR-1	PB-747	1990-1,280	C	06-19-74	6,400	1,800	4,060	:	400
	ASR-1	PB-1763	11,065-1,155	C	01-28-99	7,820	2,100	4,080	23.7	467
(28) System 3 Paim Beach County	FAMW	PB-1764	1,052-1,270	С	01-08-01	ł	2,007	3,560	;	467
	ASR-1	PB-1692	1985-1,200	С	07-17-97	7,600	2,800	5,056	:	1
1			975-1,091	Р	08-22-96	7,700	2,600	3,800	:	1
			975-1,090	0	08-29-96	7,700	2,600	3,800	:	1
dTM More Bolin B cont W/TD			1975-1,190	0	09-01-96	8,290	2,750	4,150	:	1
(29) West Faim Beach W 1F	MW-1	PB-1693	975-1,290	0	09-04-96	7,970	2,300	4,270	:	1
			975-1,384	0	96-90-60	7,120	2,520	3,830	:	1
			1,304-1,384	Р	09-14-96	6,860	2,060	3,650	:	1
			1975-1,191	С	11-16-96	7,350	2,381	3,550	:	-
				St. Lucie Coı	unty					
			1600-766	Ρ	03-11-82	3,400	888	2,058	27.8	1
(20) 64 T maio Cometer	ASR-1	STL-356	770-1,000	Р	03-12-82	3,200	1,015	1,888	27.8	1
(30) St. Lucie County			1600-775	С	03-12-82	3,325	955	2,379	27.8	1
	MW-1	STL-357	1600-775	С	03-12-82	3,500	1,022	2,143	27.8	-
¹ Interval sampled is the same (or about the ² Calculated using specific conductance. Fo. ³ Second packet test of same interval follow	same) as the stor r chloride conce ed a 250 gallon	orage zone. ontration, relation acid stimulation	n from Reese (200⊿ n.	t, fig. 20) is us	sed. For dissol	ved-solids concentra	tion, calculated v	alue is from weel	kly drilling repo	ts.

34 Hydrogeology and Aquifer Storage and Recovery Performance in the Upper Floridan Aquifer, Southern Florida



Figure 6. Ambient water salinity, expressed as chloride concentration, of storage zones in the Floridan aquifer system at aquifer storage and recovery sites in southern Florida. Values are rounded to two significant figures.

The highest value found in southeastern Florida was 3,600 mg/L at the Springtree WTP (site 4). At most sites, however, the chloride concentration ranged from about 1,000 to 3,000 mg/L.

The vertical distribution of ambient salinity at each site is indicated on the lithologic and geophysical log plots in appendix 1 by chloride concentration values of water samples from known intervals and resistivity geophysical logs that approximate formation resistivity. These data indicate that ambient salinity increases with depth below the storage zone at some of the sites (app. 1), which include site 3 (Fiveash WTP), site 5 (Englewood South Regional WWTP), site 8 (Pelican Bay Well Field), site 18 (J.R. Dean WTP), site 19 (Southwest Well Field), and site 20 (West Well Field, see sample from lower monitoring zone in MW-1). Salinity may increase below storage zones at other sites, such as site 7 (Marco Lakes); however, data from greater depths were not collected because of the limited penetration of the wells drilled.

Cycle Test Data

ASR cycle test information was obtained from consulting reports, published reports, monthly operating reports (required by the FDEP as part of the permitting process during operational testing), and in several instances, daily records provided by a WTP (table 5). Cycle testing has been conducted at only 20 of the 30 ASR sites listed in table 1. Eight of the remaining 10 sites (including sites 2, 8, 9, 10, 16, 18, 21, and 26) require additional wells or infrastructure, and the final two (sites 25 and 28) have had testing delayed by regulatory issues or mechanical problems such as well pump failure. Seven of the ten sites with wells constructed during the 1990s

sultant or other published reports given in selected references. SDIW, see dates for individual wells; SVIW, see values for individual wells; mg/L, milligrams per liter; Mgal, million gallons; NA, not applicable; NRC, not reached; NRP, not reported; recov, recovery; WTP, Water Treatment Plant; WWTP, Wastewater Treatment Plant; >, greater than; <, equal to or less than; ~, approximately] [Test data at all sites, except for Shell Creek WTP, Marco Lakes, Southwest Well Field, and West Well Field, are only for one storage well at the site (ASR-1). Cycle test data, except where noted, are from con-

	Cycle		Recharge, storage,	Recharge	Recovery	Chic	oride ntration	Recovery efficiency	Potabl (chlo concei limit of 3	e water oride ntration 250 mg/L)	
Cycle number	Beginning date	End date	recovery periods (days) ¹	volume (Mgal)	volume (Mgal)	Recharge water (mg/L)	Recovered water at end of cycle (mg/L)	at end of cycle (percent)	Recovery volume (Mgal)	Recovery efficiency (percent)	Comments
				Brov	vard County –	- Site 1, Brow	ard County W ⁻	TP 2A			
1	86-60-70	07-21-98	11, 0, 2	22.13	1.5	30	168	6.8	NRC	>6.8	Ambient chloride concentration is
0 N	07-27-98 11-13-98	11-12-98 03-11-99	91, 0, 17 87, 9, 22	195.84 181.94	36.65 56.63	35 35	240 227	18.7 31.1	NRC NRC	>18.7 >31.1	~1,900 mg/L.
					Broward Co	unty - Site 3,	Fiveash WTP				
² 1	10-12-99	10-23-99	10, 0, 1	11.0	1.2	60	225	10.9	NRC	>10.9	Ambient chloride concentration is
² 2	10-25-99	12-06-99	39, 1, 2	70.3	4.4	59	225	6.23	NRC	>6.3	~2,000 mg/L.
1	10-12-99	10-23-99	11, 0, 1	19.5	1.0	60	212	5.3	NRC	>5.3	
7	10-25-99	12-06-99	40, 0, 3	75.0	4.7	55	160	6.2	NRC	>6.2	
3a	12-07-99	06-05-01	114, 433, 0	224.4	0.0	55	NA	NA	NA	NA	
3b	06-06-01	03-21-02	216, 0, 48	413.5	54.2	55	244	13.1	NRC	>13.1	
3(a+b)	12-07-99	03-21-02	343, 433, 48	638.0	54.2	55	244	8.5	NRC	>8.5	
4	06-19-02	10-02-02	30, 0, 75	56.1	34.3	60	260	61.1	~34.3	~61.1	
S	10-04-02	01-02-03	30, 0, 58	61.8	37.2	54	268	60.2	35.6	57.6	
; e	05-28-03	12-29-03	120, 0, 9	240.1	50.0	58	252	20.8	50.0	20.8	
Le	01-20-04	08-02-04	121, 3, 70	193.1	67.9	63	240	35.2	~67.9	~35.0	
					Broward Cou	nty – Site 4, S	pringtree WTI	с.			
1	07-29-99	08-21-99	20, 0, 4	20	4	70	61	20	NRC	~30	Except for cycle 7, recovery efficiencies
7	08-22-99	10-12-99	40, 1, 11	40	11	65	213	28	NRC	~30	at chloride concentration of 250 mg/L are
ю	10-13-99	12-09-99	42(39), 0, 15	41	15	60	220	37	NRC	~41	estimated by extrapolation of recovery
4	12-10-99	03-27-00	62(39), 31, 15	40	15	60	222	37.5	NRC	~42	curve. Ambient chloride concentration is
5	03-28-00	11-23-00	178(119), 29, 31	121	32	65	218	26.4	NRC	~31	~3,600 mg/L.
9	11-24-00	10-31-01	188, 131, 23	187	23	65	171	12.3	NRC	~19	
² 7	02-01-03	08-26-03	129, 0, 79	120.3	74.3	69	224	61.75	NRC	>61.75	
² 8	09-03-03	In prog-	151, NA, NA	140.54	NRP	65					Well in storage, no recovery reported.
		ress									

Mile Intersection Intersection Intersection IntersectionRetrony Intersection Intersection IntersectionRetrony Intersection Intersection IntersectionRetrony Intersection IntersectionRetrony Intersection IntersectionMile Intersection Intersection IntersectionRetrony IntersectionRetrony IntersectionRetrony IntersectionRetrony Intersection IntersectionRetrony IntersectionRetrony IntersectionMile Intersection IntersectionRetrony IntersectionRetrony IntersectionRetrony IntersectionRetrony IntersectionRetrony IntersectionRetrony IntersectionMile Intersection IntersectionIntersection IntersectionIntersection IntersectionIntersection IntersectionIntersection IntersectionMile IntersectionIntersection IntersectionIntersection IntersectionIntersection IntersectionIntersection IntersectionMile IntersectionIntersection IntersectionIntersection IntersectionIntersection IntersectionIntersection IntersectionMile IntersectionIntersection IntersectionIntersection IntersectionIntersection IntersectionIntersection IntersectionMile IntersectionIntersection IntersectionIntersection IntersectionIntersection IntersectionIntersection IntersectionMile IntersectionIntersection IntersectionIntersection IntersectionIntersection IntersectionIntersection IntersectionM						Chi	oride		Potabl (chl	e water oride	
Multiple multiple multipleMultiple multipleMultiple multipleMultiple multipleMultiple multipleMultiple 			Recharge, storage,	Recharge	Recovery	conce	ntration	Recovery efficiency	conce limit of	ntration 250 mg/L)	
Image: County - Site 5, Finglewood South Regional WWTP 8/0 01-17-02 2 (recov) 37 2 -170 6/60 5.4 NA NA The Englewood TPW-1 well has remained 7/2 66-55-02 2 (recov) 31 1 1 0.5 -170 6/60 5.4 NA NA The Englewood TPW-1 well has remained 7/2 66-55-02 2 (recov) 162 3.1 -170 160 1.9 NA NA NA Final Agewood TPW-1 well has remained 6-03 05-57-03 2 2 (recov) 162 3.1 -170 160 1.9 NA NA NA Final Agewood TPW-1 well has remained 6-03 05-57-03 2 (recov) 162 3.1 -170 170 29 NA NA Final Agewood TPW-1 well has remained 6-00 05-57-03 2 (recov) 162 170 170 29 NA NA Final Agewood TPW-1 well has remained 6 06-10-01 170 250 29	te ni.	g End date	recovery periods (days) ¹	volume (Mgal)	volume (Mgal)	Recharge water (mg/L)	Recovered water at end of cycle (mg/L)	at end of cycle (percent)	Recovery volume (Mgal)	Recovery efficiency (percent)	Comments
801 01-17-02 2 (recov) 37 2 -170 660 54 NA NA The Englewood TPW1 well has remained metaling media metaling media metaling media metaling media metaling media metaling metaling so 05-28-03 2 (recov) 31 1 (2) -170 165 24 NA NA The Englewood TPW1 well has remained metaling metaling metaling so 05-29.0 30 6-27-03 23 (recov) 163 170 160 19 NA NA Na Na Na Na Na metaling metal				Charlotte	County – Site	5, Englewoo	d South Regio	nal WWTP			
702 $66.25 \cdot 0.2$ 22 (recov) 51 12 -170 165 24 NANAin rethurge mode since cycle testing began 503 $05.27 \cdot 0.3$ 22 (recov) 162 31 -170 160 19 NANAin rethurge mode since cycle testing began 503 $05.27 \cdot 0.3$ 22 (recov) 162 31 -170 160 19 NANAeents with no storage periods have been 8.03 $05.27 \cdot 0.3$ 22 (recov) 33 9.5 -170 170 29 NANAeents with no storage periods have been 8.01 22 (recov) 162 31 -170 170 29 NANAeents with no storage periods have been 8.02 $9.60 \cdot 99$ 17.0 9.7 -170 170 29 -147 100 250 9 9.00 $02.08.99$ $21.0.9$ 4.9 1.47 100 250 30 1.47 30 Ambient choride 6.00 $02.08.99$ $24.1.3$ 203 1.8 180.230 250 30 1.47 30 200 mg/st 0.00 $02.08.99$ $24.1.3$ 203 1.8 1.80 33 30 314 30 0.00 170 80 1.8 1.80 73 303 312 90 914 0.00 170 80 1.8 1.80 23 31 30 200 914 0.00 128 1.8 <td>/8/0</td> <td>1 01-17-02</td> <td>2 (recov)</td> <td>37</td> <td>2</td> <td>~170</td> <td>4660</td> <td>5.4</td> <td>NA</td> <td>ΝA</td> <td>The Englewood TPW-1 well has remained</td>	/8/0	1 01-17-02	2 (recov)	37	2	~170	4660	5.4	NA	ΝA	The Englewood TPW-1 well has remained
5.02 0.2.38.03 25 (recov) 162 3.1 -170 100 19 NA NA in August 2001. Only four short recovery conducted because of low demand for ranks 8.03 16.2.71-03 22 (recov) 33 9.5 -170 170 70	7-0	2 06-25-02	22 (recov)	51	12	~170	165	24	NA	NA	in recharge mode since cycle testing began
3-0.0 $0.2 \cdot L/0.0$ $2.2 (\text{recov})$ 3.3 9.3 $-1/0$ $1/0$ 2.9 NAVertise with ostorage periods have element 1.100 1.100 1.100 1.100 1.100 1.100 1.100 1.100 1.100 1.100 1.100 1.100 1.100 2.50 3.0 1.147 100 2.50 3.0 1.147 100 1.100 $0.068-99$ $1.1,00$ 1.10 2.50 3.0 1.147 100 2.50 3.7 2.000 0.00 $0.208-99$ $1.7,0.8$ 1.16 1.16 1.16 1.147 100 2.50 3.7 2.000 0.00 $0.208-99$ $1.1,0$ 2.1 3.9 7.7 3.9 3.7 2.000 0.00 $0.208-99$ $1.7,0.8$ 1.16 1.18 $1.80-2.30$ 3.7 3.03 1.147 100 2.50 3.7 0.00 $0.208-99$ $1.7,0.8$ 1.16 1.18 $1.80-2.30$ 3.7 3.03 1.12 3.7 0.00 $0.208-99$ $1.17,0.8$ 1.16 0.17 3.81 0.17 3.112 3.000 0.01 NRP NRP NRP NRP NRP NRP NRP 3.12 0.02 $0.16-0.3$ $1.86(1.54), .64.7(0)$ 3.03 3.12 3.72 3.12 0.01 0.100 3.03 $3.15, .50$ 3.7 3.12 3.00 1.100 $1.16-03$ $1.86(1.54), .50, .23.2(28)$ </td <td>25-0.</td> <td>2 02-28-03</td> <td>25 (recov)</td> <td>162</td> <td>3.1</td> <td>~170</td> <td>160</td> <td>1.9</td> <td>NA</td> <td>NA</td> <td>in August 2001. Only four short recovery</td>	25-0.	2 02-28-03	25 (recov)	162	3.1	~170	160	1.9	NA	NA	in August 2001. Only four short recovery
Charlotte County – Site 6, Shell Creek WTP 1-9 08-07-99 21, 0, 9 4.9 1.47 100 250 30 1.47 30 Ambient choride concentration is 6-99 09-08-99 17, 0, 8 1.6 .59 75 250 30 1.47 30 Ambient choride concentration is 0-00 NRP NRP 1.6 .59 75 250 37 .59 37 -900 mg/L. 0-01 NRP NRP NRP NRP NRP NRP 90 1.8 90 90 1.2 90 90 91 1.8 91 90 91 90 91 91 90 91 90 91 91 90 91 91 91 91 90 91	0-82	s 0.27-03	22 (recov)		C.9	~1/0	1/0	67	NA	Υ Α Υ	events with no storage periods have been conducted because of low demand for reuse water. Total recharge as of end of August 2004 was 534 Mgal. Ambient chloride concentration is 11,000 mg/L.
1-9008-07-9021,0,94.91.47100250301.4730Ambient chloride concentration is6-9009-08-9917,0,81.6.5975250375937-900 mg/L.0-0002-08-9924,1,320.31.8180-23025091.89-900 mg/L.0-00NRPNRPNRPNRPNRPNRPNRPNRP375.91.20-01NRPNRPNRPNRPNRPNRPNRP4.31.20-020-16-03186(154), 26, 47(40)158.0623.73107>2501523.414.820020+16-0373(52), 29, 46(26)30.315.6694>25551.715.551.251.20-020+02-0374(56), 29, 32(28)3321.459424264.821.464.80.020+16-0373(52), 29, 46(26)30.315.6694>25551.715.551.20-020+02-0374(56), 29, 32(28)3321.459424264.821.464.80.100-102-0374(56), 29, 32(28)3321.459427.560.327.20.110, 166, (59)100.7343.0557.954.957.954.2855.90.110, 166, 97.397.354.927.042.764.857.20.120-15.041125(110), 166, 97.397.354.9270 </td <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>Charlotte Cou</td> <td>nty – Site 6, S</td> <td>shell Creek WT</td> <td>بد</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>					Charlotte Cou	nty – Site 6, S	shell Creek WT	بد			
6-99 09-08-99 17, 0, 8 1.6 .59 75 250 37 .50 mg/L. 0-00 02-08-99 24, 1, 3 20.3 1.8 180-230 250 9 1.8 9 0-0 NRP NRP NRP 23 NRP NRP NRP 23 10 0.1 NRP NRP 36.18 NRP NRP NRP 1.8 180-230 250 9 1.8 9 0.0 NRP NRP NRP NRP NRP NRP 23 10 2002 NRP NRP NRP NRP NRP NRP 43 1.2 2002 04-16-03 36(154), 26, 47(40) 158.06 23.73 107 >250 15 23.4 14.8 9-02 04-16-03 74(56), 29, 32(28) 30.3 21.4 64.8 21.4 64.8 0.02 04-02-03 74(56), 29, 32(28) 33 21.4 54.8 21.4 </td <td>01-9</td> <td>908-07-99 ¢</td> <td>21, 0, 9</td> <td>4.9</td> <td>1.47</td> <td>100</td> <td>250</td> <td>30</td> <td>1.47</td> <td>30</td> <td>Ambient chloride concentration is</td>	01-9	908-07-99 ¢	21, 0, 9	4.9	1.47	100	250	30	1.47	30	Ambient chloride concentration is
0-00 02-08-99 24, 1, 3 20.3 1.8 180-230 250 9 1.8 9 00 NRP NRP NRP NRP NRP NRP NRP 23 10 01 NRP NRP NRP NRP NRP NRP 36.18 NRP NRP 1.2 2002 NRP NRP NRP NRP NRP NRP 4.3 1.2 2002 NRP NRP NRP NRP NRP NRP 4.3 1.2 2002 04-16-03 73(52), 29, 46(26) 30.3 15.66 94 >2550 15 23.4 14.8 9-02 04-16-03 73(52), 29, 46(26) 30.3 21.45 94 >2550 15 23.4 14.8 9-02 04-16-03 73(52), 29, 46(26) 30.3 21.45 94 >275 51.7 15.5 51.2 9-02 04-16-03 73(52), 29, 46(26) 30.3 51.4	16-9	66-80-60 6	17, 0, 8	1.6	.59	75	250	37	.59	37	~900 mg/L.
00 NRP NRP 23 NRP NRP 23 10 01 NRP NRP NRP NRP NRP NRP 43 12 2002 NRP NRP NRP NRP NRP NRP 10 2002 NRP NRP NRP NRP NRP NRP 12 2002 NRP NRP NRP NRP NRP NRP 12 2002 NRP NRP NRP NRP NRP 164 5.3 9-02 04-16-03 73(52), 29, 46(26) 30.3 15.66 94 >2552 51.7 15.5 51.2 9-02 04-16-03 73(52), 29, 46(26) 30.3 21.45 94 >275 51.4 64.8 9-02 04-16-03 73(52), 29, 46(26) 30.3 51.4 55.5 51.7 15.5 51.2 1W SDIW SVIW SVIW SVIW 27.5 60.3 27.2 <td>10-0</td> <td>02-08-99</td> <td>24, 1, 3</td> <td>20.3</td> <td>1.8</td> <td>180-230</td> <td>250</td> <td>6</td> <td>1.8</td> <td>6</td> <td></td>	10-0	02-08-99	24, 1, 3	20.3	1.8	180-230	250	6	1.8	6	
01 NRP NRP NRP NRP 43 12 2002 NRP NRP NRP NRP NRP 1046 5.3 2002 NRP NRP NRP NRP NRP 1046 5.3 9-02 04-16-03 136(154), 26, 47(40) 158.06 23.73 107 >250 15 21.4 51.2 9-02 04-16-03 73(52), 29, 46(26) 30.3 15.66 94 >252 51.7 15.5 51.2 0-02 04-02-03 74(56), 29, 32(28) 33 21.45 94 >242 64.8 21.4 64.8 1W SDIW SVIW SVIW SVIW 27.5 60.3 27.2 6-03 06-16-04 125(110), 166, (59) 100.73 43.05 94.9 ~270 42.7 39.09 38.8 6-03 06-23-04 125(110), 166, (59) 100.73 43.05 94.9 ~270 42.7 39.09 38.8	000	NRP	NRP	23	NRP	NRP	NRP	NRP	2.3	10	
2002 NRP NRP NRP 10.46 5.3 1-02 04-16-03 186(154), 26, 47(40) 158.06 23.73 107 >2500 15 23.4 14.8 9-02 04-16-03 73(52), 29, 46(26) 30.3 15.66 94 >252 51.7 15.5 51.2 0-02 04-02-03 74(56), 29, 32(28) 33 21.45 94 >242 64.8 21.4 64.8 0-02 04-02-03 74(56), 29, 32(28) 33 21.45 94 242 64.8 21.4 64.8 0.02 04-02-04 125(110), 166, (59) 100.73 43.05 94.9 ~270 42.7 50.9 38.8 603 06-16-04 125(110), 166, (59) 100.73 43.05 94.9 ~270 42.7 39.09 38.8 603 06-23-04 125(110), 166, (59) 100.73 43.05 94.9 ~270 42.7 39.09 38.8 603 06-23-04 125(110), 166, (59) <td>001</td> <td>NRP</td> <td>NRP</td> <td>36.18</td> <td>NRP</td> <td>NRP</td> <td>NRP</td> <td>NRP</td> <td>.43</td> <td>1.2</td> <td></td>	001	NRP	NRP	36.18	NRP	NRP	NRP	NRP	.43	1.2	
1-02 04-16-03 186(154), 26, 47(40) 158.06 23.73 107 >250 15 23.4 14.8 9-02 04-16-03 73(52), 29, 46(26) 30.3 15.66 94 >252 51.7 15.5 51.2 0-02 04-02-03 74(56), 29, 32(28) 33 21.45 94 242 64.8 21.4 64.8 0-02 04-02-03 74(56), 29, 32(28) 33 21.45 94 242 64.8 21.4 64.8 0-03 04-02-04 125(110), 166, (59) 100.73 43.05 94.9 ~270 42.7 39.09 38.8 6-03 06-16-04 125(110), 166, (59) 100.73 43.05 94.9 ~270 42.7 39.09 38.8 6-03 06-23-04 125(110), 166, (59) 100.73 43.05 54.9 ~270 42.7 39.09 38.8 6-03 06-23-04 125(110), 166, (59) 100.73 43.05 55.9 54.28 55.9 54.28 55.9 61 05.72) OVIW 197.3 SVIW SVIW <td< td=""><td>y 200</td><td>2 NRP</td><td>NRP</td><td>198.97</td><td>NRP</td><td>NRP</td><td>NRP</td><td>NRP</td><td>10.46</td><td>5.3</td><td></td></td<>	y 200	2 NRP	NRP	198.97	NRP	NRP	NRP	NRP	10.46	5.3	
9-02 04-16-03 73(52), 29, 46(26) 30.3 15.66 94 >252 51.7 15.5 51.2 0-02 04-02-03 74(56), 29, 32(28) 33 21.45 94 242 64.8 21.4 64.8 1W SDIW SVIW 271.4 64.8 21.4 64.8 603 04-16-04 125(110), 166, (59) 100.73 43.05 94.9 ~270 42.7 39.09 38.8 603 06-16-04 125(110), 166, (59) 100.73 43.05 94.9 ~270 42.7 39.09 38.8 603 06-23-04 125(110), 166, 97.2 54.28 94.1 ~250 55.9 54.28 55.9 61W SDIW 82(72) SVIW 197.93 97.33 SVIW SVIW 49.2 93.37 47.2	31-0.	2 04-16-03	186(154), 26, 47(40)	158.06	23.73	107	>250	15	23.4	14.8	
0-02 04-02-03 74(56), 29, 32(28) 33 21.45 94 242 64.8 21.4 64.8 IW SDIW SVIW 221.36 60.83 SVIW SVIW 27.5 60.3 27.2 603 06-16-04 125(110), 166, (59) 100.73 43.05 94.9 ~270 42.7 39.09 38.8 603 06-23-04 125(110), 166, 97.2 54.28 94.1 ~250 55.9 54.28 55.9 IW SDIW 82(72) SVIW 197.93 97.33 SVIW SVIW 49.2 93.37 47.2	19-0	2 04-16-03	73(52), 29, 46(26)	30.3	15.66	94	>252	51.7	15.5	51.2	
IW SDIW SVIW 221.36 60.83 SVIW SVIW 27.5 60.3 27.2 6-03 06-16-04 125(110), 166, (59) 100.73 43.05 94.9 ~270 42.7 39.09 38.8 6-03 06-23-04 125(110), 166, 97.2 54.28 94.1 ~250 55.9 54.28 55.9 IW SDIW 82(72) SVIW 197.93 97.33 SVIW SVIW 49.2 93.37 47.2	20-0	2 04-02-03	74(56), 29, 32(28)	33	21.45	94	242	64.8	21.4	64.8	
6-03 06-16-04 125(110), 166, (59) 100.73 43.05 94.9 ~270 42.7 39.09 38.8 6-03 06-23-04 125(110), 166, 97.2 54.28 94.1 ~250 55.9 54.28 55.9 iW SDIW 82(72) SVIW 197.93 97.33 SVIW SVIW 49.2 93.37 47.2	DIW	SDIW	SVIW	221.36	60.83	SVIW	SVIW	27.5	60.3	27.2	
6-03 06-23-04 125(110), 166, 97.2 54.28 94.1 ~250 55.9 54.28 55.9 IW SDIW 82(72) SVIW 197.93 97.33 SVIW SVIW 49.2 93.37 47.2	16-0.	3 06-16-04	125(110), 166, (59)	100.73	43.05	94.9	~270	42.7	39.09	38.8	
	.16-0. DIW	3 06-23-04 SDIW	125(110), 166, 82(72) SVIW	97.2 197.93	54.28 97.33	94.1 SVIW	~250 SVIW	55.9 49.2	54.28 93.37	55.9 47.2	
					Collier Cou	inty – Site 7, I	Marco Lakes				
Collier County – Site 7, Marco Lakes	26-9	7 08-19-97	39, 3, 12	19.4	9	97.6	384	30.9	4.3	22.26	Ambient chloride concentration is
Collier County – Site 7, Marco Lakes 6-97 08-19-97 39, 3, 12 19.4 6 97.6 384 30.9 4.3 22.26 Ambient chloride concentration is	21-9	7 02-25-98	86, 63, 39	86.7	31.7	115	398	36.6	3.5	4	~2,600 mg/L.
Collier County – Site 7, Marco Lakes 6-97 08-19-97 39, 3, 12 19.4 6 97.6 384 30.9 4.3 22.26 Ambient chloride concentration is 1.97 02-25-98 86, 63, 39 86.7 31.7 115 398 36.6 3.5 4 ~2,600 mg/L.	-02-9	3 04-29-98	26, 2, 27	21.05	17.24	130	370	81.9	7.0	33.2	
Collier County – Site 7, Marco Lakes (6-97 39, 3, 12 19.4 6 97.6 38.4 30.9 4.3 22.26 Ambient chloride concentration is 11-97 02-25-98 86, 63, 39 86.7 31.7 115 398 36.6 3.5 4 ~2,600 mg/L. 15-98 04-29-98 26, 27 21.05 17.24 130 370 81.9 7.0 33.2	01-9	3 06-30-99	134(103), 85, 83(74)	112.5	65.2	130	420	58.0	38.8	34.5	
Collier County – Site 7, Marco Lakes (6-97 39, 3, 12 19,4 6 97.6 384 30.9 4.3 22.26 Ambient chloride concentration is 11-97 02-25-98 86, 63, 39 86.7 31.7 115 398 36.6 3.5 4 ~2,600 mg/L. 15-98 06-30-99 134(103), 85, 83(74) 112.5 65.2 130 420 58.0 38.8 34.5	19-9	9 07-02-00	132(111), 108, 77	132.3	75	118	395	56.7	47.1	35.6	
Collier County – Site 7, Marco Lakes (6-97 08-19-97 39, 3, 12 19.4 6 97.6 384 30.9 4.3 22.26 Ambient chloride concentration is 11-97 02-25-98 86, 63, 39 86, 7 31.7 115 398 36.6 3.5 4 ~2,600 mg/L. 15-98 04-29-98 26, 2, 27 21.05 17.24 130 370 81.9 7.0 33.2 19-98 06-30-99 134(103), 85, 83(74) 112.5 65.2 130 420 58.0 38.8 34.5 9-99 07-02-00 132(111), 108, 77 132.3 75 118 395 56.7 47.1 35.6	-19-0	06-14-01	106(92), 125, 98(96)	125	80.4	136	360	64.3	55.0	44	
Collier County – Site 7, Marco Lakes 6-97 08-19-97 39, 3, 12 19.4 6 97.6 384 30.9 4.3 22.26 Ambient chloride concentration is 1-97 02-25-98 86, 63, 39 86.7 31.7 115 398 36.6 3.5 4 ~2.600 mg/L. 15-98 04-29-98 26, 2.7 21.05 17.24 130 370 81.9 7.0 33.2 9-99 07-02-00 132(111), 108, 77 132.3 75 118 395 56.7 47.1 35.6 9-00 06-14-01 106(92), 125, 98(96) 125 80.4 136 64.3 55.0 44	-04-0	1 06-24-02	68(65), 112, 83	100.4	55.5	105	250	55.3	55.5	55	
Collier County – Site 7, Marco Lakes $(6-97)$ $39, 3, 12$ 19.4 6 97.6 384 30.9 4.3 22.26 Ambient chloride concentration is $(1-97)$ $02-25-98$ $86, 63, 39$ 86.7 31.7 115 398 36.6 3.5 4 \sim 2,600 mg/L. $5-98$ $04-29-98$ $26, 2, 27$ 21.05 17.24 130 370 81.9 7.0 33.2 $9-99$ $07-02-00$ $132(111), 108, 77$ 112.5 65.2 130 420 58.0 38.8 34.5 $9-90$ $06-14-01$ $106(92), 125, 98(96)$ 125 80.4 136 64.3 55.0 44 $9-10$ $06-14-01$ $106(92), 112, 83$ 100.4 55.5 105 55.3 55.3 55.5 55	-01-0	1 06-24-02	101(95), 112, 83	130.4	50.5	105	350	38.7	38.3	29	

	Comments		Ambient chloride concentration is ~2.600 ms/L.	0										Ambient chloride concentration is	~500 mg/L.)		Plugging of ASR well during cycle 2	recovery reduced performance. Ambient	chloride concentration is ~750 mg/L.			For cycle 2, recovery efficiency at chloride	concentration of 250 mg/L was estimated	by extrapolation of recovery curve. Ambi-	ent chloride concentration is ~1,000 mg/L.		For cycle 2, recharge rate was reduced to	100 to 200 gallons per minute in early Dec.	2000 until end of recharge period. Ambient chloride concentration is ~1100 mo/1.
e water oride ntration 250 mg/L)	Recovery efficiency (percent)		31 37.8		>21.9	>18.9	>21.9		>66.2	>66.9	>70.9	>67.8		36.7	9.7	30.4		9.8	11	~19	17.12		~23.7	~39	>74.1			2	3.3	2.8
Potabl (chl conce limit of 3	Recovery volume (Mgal)		29.3 123.1		NRC	NBC	NRC		NRC	NRC	NRC	NRC		.22	99.	8.82		.61	6.6	NRC	17.84		~18.9	NRC	NRC			9.	4.6	4.5
Recovery efficiency	at end of cycle (percent)	panu	40.4 44.3		21.9	18.9 76.2	20.2 21.9		66.2	6.99	70.9	67.8		28.7	9.7	30.4		9.8	11	19	17.12		23.7	27.1	74.1			25	9.4	6.1
ride tration	Recovered water at end of cycle (mg/L)	-akes-Contir	310 SVIW		120	110	NIVS		130	150	200	SVIW	County WTP	250	250	250	th Reservoir	250	250	240	254	Olga WTP	260	200	204		Carlos Estates	600	466	>340
Chlo concen	Recharge water (mg/L)	Site 7, Marco I	105 105		88.4	88.4	88.4		56	56	56	56	- Site 11, Lee	60	150-350	60-100	– Site 12, Nor	155	65	80	73.1	11 - Site 13, 1	85	83	LL		Site 14, San (06	06	91.5
Recovery	volume (Mgal)	ier County – S	38.5 144.5		52.3	48.9	+2.4 146.6		57.2	58.3	51.4	166.9	Lee County	.22	99.	8.82	Lee County	.61	6.6	23.7	17.84	Lee Cour	18.9	35	42.22		Lee County –	L	13	9.7
Recharge	volume (Mgal)	Coll	95.2 326		239	258.6 7777	670.3		86.4	87.2	72.5	246.1		0.6	6.83	29.03		6.179	60.4	126.8	104.21		7.67	129	56.94			28	138	159.5
Recharge, storage,	recovery periods (days) ¹		101(95), 112, 76 SVIW		162, 121, 104	162, 121, 104 162, 121, 104	102, 121, 10 1 162, 121, 104		68, 181(179), 51	68, 181(179), 51	68, 181(179), 51	68, 181(179), 51		1.7. 0. 1.4	16, 47, 2.8	79, 98, 40.8		13, 7, 1	123, 168, 16	246, 50, 93	150, 128, 70(59)		163, 123, 44	218, 99, 82	83, 191, 123(104)			10, 6, 5	175, 0, 36	221, 0, 17(12)
	End date		06-18-02 SDIW		08-13-03	08-13-03	08-13-03		07-14-04	07-14-04	07-14-04	07-14-04		NRP	NRP	NRP		03-18-00	05-15-02	07-31-03	07-20-04		06-12-02	07-28-03	09-16-04			11-15-99	06-28-00	05-09-01
ycle	Beginning date		09-01-01 SDIW		07-22-02	07-22-02	07-22-02		09-18-03	09-18-03	09-18-03	09-18-03		10-14-80	03-26-81	08-18-81		02-26-00	07-11-01	06-24-02	08-01-03		07-17-01	06-24-02	08-19-03			10-25-99	11-30-99	09-14-00
0	Cycle number		1E (ASR-3) 1E (ASR-1. 2. & 3	combined)	2E (ASR-1)	2E (ASR-2) 2E (ASD 2	2E (ASR-1, 2, & 3 2E (ASR-1, 2, & 3	combined)	3E (ASR-1)	3E (ASR-2)	3E (ASR-3)	3E (ASR-1, 2, & 3 combined			6	3		Test^2	1	2	² 3		1	2	² 3			Test	1	7

	Comments		Ambient chloride concentration is ~1,300 mg/L.		Recovery continued past reported recovery volume for all cycles, at which chloride concentration was 250 mg/L. Ambient chloride concentration is \sim 1,200 mg/L.		Recovery continued until background water quality was reached plus an additional 33 percent. Recovery began at a chloride concentration of 1,300 mg/L in ASR-1 and 910 mg/L in ASR-2. Ambient chloride concentration is ~1,600 mg/L.		Ambient chloride concentration is ~2,400 mg/L.			Cycle 4 conducted by CH2M Hill, and cycles 1, 2, and 3 conducted by the U.S. Geological Survey. A specific conductance value of 5,000 microsiemens per centimeter was used to terminate recovery for all cycles, which equals 1,385 mg/L chloride concentration. Ambient chloride concentration is \sim 3,000 mg/L.
e water oride ntration 250 mg/L)	Recovery efficiency (percent)		.451		32.9 47.8 38.5		000		>7.7 >25.1 >22.3 >23.6	57.4 54.2 NA 40.5		NRP 3.1 7.2 7.2
Potabl (chl conce limit of	Recovery volume (Mgal)		<i>i</i>		13.8 40.7 80.1		000		NRC NRC NRC NRC	194.3 95.0 NA 289.3	chobee	NRP 5.6 9.2 25.6
Recovery efficiency	at end of cycle (percent)		10.0		NRP NRP NRP	l Field	6.7 107.0 64.5	eld	7.7 25.1 22.3 23.6	106.1 254.7 NA 112.8	-Lake Okeec	24 15 36
oride ntration	Recovered water at end of cycle (mg/L)	nkler Avenue	390	te 17, Hialeah	NRP NRP NRP	outhwest Wel	1,300 1,260 SVIW), West Well Fi	164 80 212 SVIW	500 1,150 No recov SVIW	ubbin Slough-	1,385 1,385 1,385 1,385
Chl	Recharge water (mg/L)	– Site 15, Wi	164	e County – Si	65 65 65	ty – Site 19, S	NRP NRP NRP	unty – Site 20	48 43 43	41 41 41 41	ıylor Creek-N	NRP 150 ≤100 ≤70
Recovery	volume (Mgal)	Lee County	4.55	Miami-Dade	13.8 40.7 80.1	ni-Dade Coun	6.48 140.69 147.17	iami-Dade Co	27.8 53.3 61.7 115.0	359.37 446.56 No recov 805.93	.y – Site 22, Ta	NRP 28.06 342.10 128
Recharge	volume (Mgal)		45.73		41.9 85 208	Mian	96.61 131.54 228.15	Σ	359.7 212.2 276.1 488.3	338.56 175.3 200.47 714.33	chobee Count	90.94 181.35 342.10 355
Recharge, storage,	recovery periods (days) ¹		63, 12, 7		53, 2, 98 65, 54, 79 179, 181, 926		26, 359, 1 26, 360, 28 SVIW		146, 0, 7 187, 0, 12 153, 0, 12 SVIW	299, 18, 85 153, 123, 85 Recharge = 299 SVIW	Okee	20, 0, 40 35, 0, 7 63, 8, 17 65, 5, 0
	End date		02-04-01		12-17-75 07-21-76 01-30-80		02-19-03 03-19-03 SDIW		07-21-99 02-15-00 02-15-00 02-15-00	03-23-01 03-23-01 03-23-01 03-23-01		11-04-89 05-29-91 09-20-91 12-02-91
ycle	Beginning date		11-15-00		07-17-75 01-05-76 07-23-76		01-30-02 01-30-02 01-30-02		02-18-99 07-31-99 09-03-99 SDIW	02-15-00 03-27-00 02-15-00 SDIW		09-05-89 04-17-91 06-24-91 09-23-91
5	Cycle number		1		- 0 v		1 (ASR-1) 1 (ASR-2) 1 (ASR-1 & 2 combined)		²³ 1 (ASR-1) ²³ 2 (ASR-1) ²³ 2 (ASR-2) ²³ 2 (ASR-1 & 2 combined)	 ^{2,3} (ASR-1) ^{2,3} (ASR-2) ^{2,3} (ASR-3) ^{2,3} (ASR-1, 2, & 3 ^{2,3} (ASR-1, 2, & 3 combined) 		4 – 0 v

Continued
n Florida
in souther
ery wells
and recov
storage a
m aquifeı
st data fro
. Cycle te
ble 5

	Comments		Ambient chloride concentration is	~1,900 mg/L. For cycle 17, recovery	volume and recovery efficiency at chloride	concentration of 250 mg/L were estimated	by interpolation of recovery curve. During	the storage period for cycle 21 ending	on February 29, 2004, 4.83 Mgal were	recharged during 9 days.															Recovery pump failed at the end of the	recharge period for cycle 1. Cycle /	incomplete due to pump failure. Ambient	chloride concentration is ~2,300 mg/L.					Injection rate for all cycles was	2.000 gallons per minute, and recovery rate	
e water oride ntration 250 mg/L)	Recovery efficiency (percent)		47	30	47	49	90	53.7	64	26.7	40	63	75	70 70	00 20	81	>33.9	84.5	~96	61.45	63.16	81.0 76 5	C.07		>16.0	94.0	>79.2	>52.9	>75.4	>78.4	>28.4		0	4.7	
Potabl (chlo concei limit of 2	Recovery volume (Mgal)		5.9	17.2	27.4	26.6	16.1	32.3	39.2	16.0	17.2	25.3	31.3	0.00 26.8	29.7	27.0	NRC	76.1	~37.3	47.2	127.1	83.95	11.16	. _	NRC	47	NRC	NRC	NRC	NRC	NRD		0	4.7	
Recovery efficiency	at end of cycle (percent)	st WTP	76.5	45.5	55.3	59.0	96.5	65.3	<i>9.17</i>	33.4	48.0	79.1	83.4 00 £	0.0%	87.2	287.0	33.9	98.5	120.6	73.7	73.8	105.0	C.UC1	age Reservoi	16.0	94.0	79.2	52.9	75.4	78.4	28.2		0	4.7	
ride tration	Recovered water at end of cycle (mg/L)	nton Beach Ea	760	420	NRP	300	274	300	306.5	302	320.5	301	307	307	317.5	1,004	146	310	348	319	308	337 500	000	ich North Stor	225	720	230	185	180	225	62	e 27, Jupiter	250	250	
Chlo concen	Recharge water (mg/L)	- Site 23, Boyı	09	50	50	47	51	46	47	48	52	52	48	41	+ 4 8	62	46	NRP	NRP	NRP	NRP	NA	- VI	14, Delray Bea	40	40	40	40	40	NRP	NRP	ו County – Sit	65	65	
Recovery	volume (Mgal)	each County -	9.58	26.1	32.24	32.04	17.24	39.30	47.71	20.05	20.60	31.70	34.84	20.70 30.05	37.06	95.84	37.56	88.67	46.88	56.58	148.60	155.64	40°CC1	ounty – Site 2	50	47	38	54	52	55.36	20.632	Palm Beach	0	4.7	
Recharge	volume (Mgal)	Palm B	12.52	57.32	58.34	54.31	17.87	60.16	61.24	60.06	42.91	40.09	41.76	41.22	42.50	33.36	110.83	89.98	38.86	76.80	201.26	110.25	67.611	² alm Beach C	313	00	48	102	69	70.57	73.065		20.5	100	
Recharge, storage,	recovery periods (days) ¹		14, 0, 8	43, 0, 31	43, 5, 25	41, 8, 22	16, 8, 14	55, 98, 34	55, 57, 39	44, 124, 35	46, 2, 26	33, 22, 29	46, 52, 27 24 140 27	24, 149, 27 47 81 41	35, 174, 40	45, 1, 131	83, 57, 62	156(118), 4, 68	57, NRP, (55)	(120), 8, 138(89)	(186), 86, 158(107)	(98), 56, 81(76)	(66)041 (011 (011)		114, 118, 17	18, 4, 18	19, 1, 14	41, 0, 21	35, 0, 22	26, 2, 22	34, 0, 11		Storage = 15	Storage = 30	
	End date		11-10-92	01-22-93	04-06-93	04-06-93	05-28-93	12-06-93	07-02-94	02-13-95	07-03-95	12-20-95	05-22-96	06-16-21 06-16-21	02-23-98	08-20-98	06-03-99	01-28-00	07-13-00	04-08-01	08-26-02	05-23-03	+0-07-10		01-29-01	03-11-01	04 - 16 - 01	06-19-01	08-15-01	10-15-01	11-30-01		NRP	NRP	
Cycle	Beginning date		10-21-92	11-10-92	01-25-93	01-25-93	04-20-93	06-02-93	02-24-94	07-25-94	04-20-95	09-27-95	01-18-96 06-04-06	00-04-90	06-19-97	02-24-98	11-13-98	06-15-99	02-17-00	07-12-00	06-01-01	09-10-02 05 73 03	CD-CZ-CD		05-23-00	10-02-10	03-13-01	04-18-01	06-19-01	08-22-01	10-16-01		NRP	NRP	
	Cycle number		1	2	3	33	34	35 2	9_{ε}	Lε	8	6 [°]	510 311	317	³ 12	314	³ 15	³ 16	317	318	319	³ 20	17			7	ю	4	5	91	٢		1	7	1

		Ambient chloride concentration is	~2,800 mg/L.					Ambient chloride concentration is	~1,000 mg/L.		
e water oride tration 50 mg/L)	Recovery efficiency (percent)		>3.5	3.0	6.5	6.0	3.0		6	⁵ 33	
Potable (chlo concen limit of 2	Recovery volume (Mgal)		NRC	4.0	7.2	6.2	4.4		NRP	5.0 ⁵	
Recovery efficiency	at end of cycle (percent)	th WTP	3.5	27.2	41.6	56.5	50.3	ţ	NRP	NRP	orage period.
ride tration	Recovered water at end of cycle (mg/L)	est Palm Beac	133	766	850	820	790	it. Lucie Coun	NRP	NRP	covery during st
Chio concer	Recharge water (mg/L)	r – Site 29, W€	65	54	50	42	80	ıty – Site 30, S	200	220 250	ttra days are rec
Recovery	volume (Mgal)	3each County	4	36	46	58	73.82	it. Lucie Coun	3.41	NA	orage period, ex
Recharge	volume (Mgal)	Palm F	114.1	132.3	110.7	102.6	145.8	0,	1.5	1.5	periods. For sto ment of Environ
Recharge, storage,	charge, storage, F icovery periods (days) ¹		43, 0, 1	45, 3, 17	40, 1, 22	37 3, 28	53, 3, 36		3, 38, 67	3, 38, 67	e, storage, and recovery
-	End date		11-15-97	01-22-98	03-27-98	06-08-98	11-10-98		02-04-83	02-04-83	lays for recharge
Cycle	Beginning date		10-03-97	11-18-97	01-23-98	04-01-98	08-10-98		10-19-82	10-19-82	sis are actual (net) of monthly operation
	Cycle number		1	2	3	4	5		1	1	¹ Values in parenthe: ² Data extracted from

Data extracted from monthly operating reports provided to the Florida Depa

³Data extracted from daily reports provided by the water-treatment plant.

⁴Recovery began at 430 mg/L chloride concentration (site 5, cycle 1).

⁵Recovery efficiency estimated using a hypothetical value for recharge chloride concentration (Wedderburn and Knapp, 1983).

have conducted only three or fewer cycles. Sites with wells constructed during the 1990s experiencing delays are listed in the following table.

Site number and name	Year of well construction	Number of cycles completed
(1) Broward County 2A	1996	3 (none since 1999)
(2) Deerfield Bch W WTP	1992	No cycle testing
(12) North Reservoir	early 1999	4 (cycle testing began in 2000)
(13) Olga WTP	early 1999	3 (cycle testing began in 2001)
(15) Winkler Ave	1999	1
(19) Southwest Well Field	1999	1
(20) West Well Field	1997	3 (none since 2000)
(24) Delray Bch No. Stor Res	1996	7 (none prior to 2000; none after 2001)
(28) System 3 Palm Bch Co.	1999	No cycle testing
(29) West Palm Beh WTP	1997	5 test cycles (none since 1998)

Besides regulatory issues and mechanical problems, delays in cycle testing have been caused by an insufficient supply of source water; for example, cycle testing was delayed by 1 to 2 years at sites 12 and 13 because of reduced WTPdrinking water production. In contrast, 21 cycles have been conducted at the Boynton Beach East WTP (site 23) since the well was constructed in 1992.

Cycle testing has been conducted using more than one ASR well at some sites in southern Florida. Multiwell sites include Shell Creek WTP (site 6) with three wells, Marco Lakes (site 7) with three wells, Southwest Well Field (site 19) with two wells, and West Well Field (site 20) with three wells. For multiwell cycles, which are conducted using the wells simultaneously or nearly so, data are reported in table 5 for each well used in the cycle and for all wells combined.

For this study, two types of recovery efficiency performance measures were determined on a per-cycle basis (table 5). The first measure is total recovery efficiency per cycle, which is the percent recovery at the end of a cycle. The chloride concentration of the recovered water at the end of the cycle also is given in table 5 and typically ranges from 250 to 400 mg/L, depending on operational considerations. The second measure is the potable water recovery efficiency per cycle, which is the percent recovery when the chloride concentration of the recovered water during a cycle reaches 250 mg/L. In several instances, however, the chloride concentration at the completion of a withdrawal period is less than 250 mg/L, and the potable recovery efficiency is reported in table 5 as being greater than the total recovery efficiency. In a few of these cases, the potable water recovery efficiency is estimated by extrapolating the cycle recovery curve on a plot of chloride concentration against percent recovery (for example, site 4, cycles 1-6, table 5). At some sites, such as Fiveash WTP and Springtree WTP (sites 3 and 4), a regulatory limit for chloride concentration in recovered water of 225 mg/L has been in place for some or all of the cycles. The reported or estimated volume of recovered water when recovered water chloride concentration reaches 250 mg/L also is given in table 5. Finally, cumulative recharge volume, cumulative potable water recovery volume, and cumulative recovery efficiencies for

each cycle were calculated, and the results are presented in table 6. Both the per-cycle and cumulative potable recovery efficiency numbers were used to compare ASR sites.

Total recovery efficiency can be substantially higher than potable water recovery efficiency (table 5), and it is the performance measure commonly used in the operation of WTPs. The recovery period is extended past the potable water salinity limit. The additional recovered water is blended with low salinity water at the WTP without substantially increasing the salinity of the finished product.

Potable recovery efficiency numbers could not be determined at two sites because of operational procedures (table 5). At the Englewood South Regional WWTP (site 5) only four short recovery events were conducted during a long and ongoing recharge period. Recovery was discontinued prior to reaching a salinity limit because of low demand for reclaimed water (CH2M HILL, 2004a). At the Southwest Well Field (site 19), 228 Mgal were used to recharge two ASR wells starting in January and February 2002. Recovery was not initiated until about 1 year later (February 2003). At the beginning of the recovery period, chloride concentration was well above the potable water limit (1,300 mg/L in well ASR-1 and 910 mg/L in well ASR-2, Miami-Dade Water and Sewer Department, 2003). The source water for the recharge at site 19 was the Biscayne aquifer.

As will be discussed later, the number of cycles completed or in progress at a site is important in determining site performance (table 5). The number of cycles completed or in progress at the 20 sites that have conducted cycle testing (including test cycles) are listed in the following table.

Site number and name	Number of cycles completed or in progress
(1) Broward County 2A	3
(3) Fiveash WTP	7 (seventh cycle in progress)
(4) Springtree WTP	8
(5) Englewood South Regional WTP	4 (short recovery periods with ongoing recharge)
(6) Shell Creek WTP	8 (includes 2 multiwell cycles)
(7) Marco Lakes	9 (includes 3 multiwell cycles)
(11) Lee County WTP	3
(12) North Reservoir	4 (includes 1 test cycle)
(13) Olga WTP	3
(14) San Carlos Estates	3 (includes 1 test cycle)
(15) Winkler Ave.	1
(17) Hialeah	3
(19) Southwest Well Field	1
(20) West Well Field	3 (includes 2 multiwell cycles)
(22) Taylor Creek/Nubbin Slough	7
(23) Boynton Beach East WTP	21
(24) Delray Beach No. Storage Res	7
(27) Jupiter	4
(29) West Palm Beach WTP	5 (test cycles)
(30) St. Lucie County	1

Table 6. Calculated cumulative volumes and cumulative potable water recovery efficiencies at selected aquifer storage and recovery sites.

[Based on data from table 5. no., number; Mgal, million gallons; mg/L, milligrams per liter; NR, not reported; WTP, water treatment plant]

	Cycle		Cumulative recharge	Potable (chle concent 250 mg/l	e water oride tration of L or less)
Cycle no.	Begin- Er Cycle no. ning da date		volume (Mgal)	Cumulative recovery volume (Mgal)	Cumulative recovery efficiency (percent)
	Broward C	ounty – Site 1,	Broward County	WTP 2A	
1	07-09-98	07-21-98	22.13	1.5	6.8
2	07-27-98	11-12-99	217.97	38.15	17.5
3	11-13-98	03-11-99	399.91	94.78	23.7
	Brow	/ard County – S	Site 3, Fiveash W	ТР	
1	10-12-99	10-23-99	19.5	1	5.1
2	10-25-99	12-06-99	94.5	5.7	6.0
3(a+b)	12-07-99	03-21-02	732.5	59.9	8.2
4	06-19-02	10-02-02	788.6	94.2	11.9
5	10-04-02	01-02-03	850.4	129.8	15.3
6	05-28-03	12-29-03	1,090.5	179.8	16.5
.7	01-20-04	08-02-04	1,283.6	247.7	19.3
	Browa	rd County – Si	te 4, Springtree V	NTP	
1	07-29-99	08-21-99	20	4	20.0
2	08-22-99	10-12-99	60	15	25.0
3	10-13-99	12-09-99	101	30	29.7
4	12-10-99	03-27-00	141	45	31.9
5	03-28-00	11-23-00	262	77	29.4
6	11-24-00	10-31-01	449	100	22.3
7	02-01-03	08-26-03	569.3	174.3	30.6
8	09-03-03	In progress	709.84		
	Browa	rd County – Sit	e 6, Shell Creek	WTP	
1	07-01-99	08-07-99	4.9	1.47	30.0
2	08-16-99	09-08-99	6.5	2.06	31.7
3	01-10-00	02-08-00	26.8	3.86	14.4
OP-1 (ASR-1)	2000	NR	49.8.	6.16	12.4
OP-2 (ASR-1)	2001	NR	85.98	6.59	7.7
OP-3 (ASR-1)	05-01-02	NR	284.95	17.05	6.0
0P-4 (ASR-1, 3, & 4R combined)	07-31-02	04-16-03	506.31	11.35	15.3
OP-5 (ASR-3 & 4 combined)	06-16-03	06-23-04	704.24	167.75	23.8
	Coll	ier County – Si	te 7, Marco Lake	s	
1	06-26-97	08-19-97	19.4	6	30.9
2	08-21-97	02-25-98	106.1	9.5	9.0
3	03-05-98	04-29-98	127.15	16.5	13.0
4	09-01-98	06-30-99	239.65	55.3	23.1
5	08-19-99	07-02-00	371.95	102.4	27.5
6	07-19-00	06-14-01	496.95	157.4	31.7
1E (ASR-1, 2, & 3 combined)	09-01-01	06-24-02	822.95	280.5	34.1
2E (ASR-1, 2, & 3 combined)	07-22-02	08-13-03	1,493.25	427.1	28.6
3E (ASR-1, 2, & 3 combined)	09-18-03	07-14-04	1,739.35	594	34.2

Table 6. Calculated cumulative volumes and cumulative potable water recovery

 efficiencies at selected aquifer storage and recovery sites.—Continued

	Cycle		Cumulative recharge	Potable water (chloride concentration of 250 mg/L or less)		
Cycle no.	Begin- ning date	End date	volume (Mgal)	Cumulative recovery volume (Mgal)	Cumulative recovery efficiency (percent)	

Lee County, Site 11, Lee County WTP										
1	10-14-80	NR	0.6	0.22	36.7					
2	03-26-81	NR	7.43	.88	11.8					
3	08-18-81	NR	36.46	9.7	26.6					
Lee County, Site 12, North Reservoir										
Test	02-26-00	03-18-00	6.179	0.61	9.9					
1	07-11-01	05-15-02	66.579	7.21	10.8					
2	06-24-02	07-31-03	193.379	30.91	16.0					
3	08-01-03	07-20-04	297.589	48.75	16.4					
Lee County, Site 13, Olga WTP										
1	07-17-01	06-12-02	79.7	18.9	23.7					
2	06-24-02	07-28-03	208.7	53.9	25.8					
3	08-19-03	09-16-04	265.64	96.12	36.2					
	Lee Co	ounty, Site 14,	San Carlos Estate	es						
Test	10-25-99	11-15-99	28	0.6	2.1					
1	11-30-99	06-28-00	166	5.2	3.1					
2	09-14-00	05-09-01	325.5	9.7	3.0					
	Miam	i-Dade County	/ – Site 17. Hialea	h						
1	07 17 75	10 17 75	41.0	12.0	22.0					
1	01-17-75	12-17-75	41.9	13.8	32.9					
2	01-03-70	07-21-70	334.0	134.5	42.9					
5	Mianai Da		35 - .)	[]-1.0	40.2					
Miami-Dade County – Site 20, West Well Field										
1 (ASR-1)	02-18-99	07-21-99	359.7	27.8	7.7					
2 (ASR-1 & 2	07-31-99	02-15-00	848	142.8	16.8					
combined)	02 15 00	02 22 01	1.5(0.00	122.1	07.7					
S(ASK-1, 2, & S)	02-15-00	03-23-01	1,302.33	432.1	21.1					
Okasahahaa	County Site	22 Taylor Cr	ock/Nubbin Cloud		hahaa					
Okeechobee					nobee					
1	04-17-91	05-29-91	181.35	5.6	3.1					
2	06-24-91	09-20-91	523.45	14.8	2.8					
3	09-23-91	12-02-91	878.45	40.4	4.6					
Р	alm Beach Co	ounty – Site 23	3, Boynton Beach	East WTP						
1	10-21-92	11-10-92	12.52	5.9	47.1					
2	11-10-92	01-22-93	69.84	23.1	33.1					
3	01-25-93	04-06-93	124.15	49.7	40.0					
4	04-20-93	05-28-93	142.02	65.8	46.3					
5	06-02-93	12-06-93	202.18	98.1	48.5					
6	02-24-94	07-25-94	263.42	137.3	52.1					
7	07-25-94	02-13-95	323.48	153.3	47.4					
8	04-20-95	07-03-95	366.39	170.5	46.5					
9	09-27-95	12-20-95	406.48	195.8	48.2					
10	01-18-96	05-22-96	448.24	227.1	50.7					
11	06-04-96	12-31-96	489.46	260.9	53.3					
12	01-03-97	06-16-97	530.05	287.7	54.3					
13	06-19-97	02-23-98	572.55	317.4	55.4					
14	02-24-98	08-20-98	605.91	344.4	56.8					
15	11-13-98	06-03-99	/16./4	381.96	53.3					
16	06-15-99	01-28-00	806.72	458.06	56.8					

Table 6. Calculated cumulative volumes and cumulative potable water recovery efficiencies at selected aquifer storage and recovery sites.—Continued

	Cycle		Cumulative _ recharge	Potable water (chloride concentration of 250 mg/L or less)						
Cycle no.	Begin- ning date	End date	volume (Mgal)	Cumulative recovery volume (Mgal)	Cumulative recovery efficiency (percent)					
Palm Beach County – Site 23, Boynton Beach East WTP—Continued										
17 18 19	02-17-00 07-12-00 06-01-01	07-13-00 04-08-01 08-26-02	845.58 922.38 1,123.64	495.36 542.56 669.66	58.6 58.8 59.6					
20 21	09-10-02 05-22-03	05-23-03 07-28-04	1,227.33 1,346.58	753.61 844.78	61.4 62.7					
Palm	Beach County -	– Site 24, Deli	ay Beach North	Storage Reservo	bir					
1	05-23-00	01-29-01	313	50	16.0					
2 3 4	01-30-01 03-13-01	03-11-01 04-16-01 06-10-01	363 411 513	135	26.7 32.8 36.8					
4	04-18-01	08-15-01	582	241	30.8 41.4					
6	08-22-01	10-15-01	652.57	296.36	45.4					
/	10-10-01 Bolm	Peech Cours	723.033	510.992	43.7					
	Fain	Deach Court	ty – Site 27, Jupit	er	0.0					
1	NR NR	NR NR	20.5 120.5	0.0 4.7	0.0 3.9					
3	NR	NR	426.5	60.2	14.1					
4	NR	NR	528.5	96.3	18.2					
	Palm Beach	County – Site	29, West Palm B	each WTP						
1	10-03-97	11-15-97	114.1	4	3.5					
2	11-18-97	01-22-98	246.4	8	3.2					
3	01-23-98	03-27-98	357.1	15.2	4.3					
4	04-01-98	06-08-98	459.7	21.4	4.7					
5	08-10-98	11-10-98	605.5	25.8	4.3					

Aquifer Storage and Recovery Performance in the Upper Floridan Aquifer

Many factors affect the performance and freshwater recovery at ASR sites in southern Florida and can be grouped into three categories: hydrogeologic, design, and management factors. Following a discussion of these factors is a detailed analysis of cycle testing for the seven ASR sites in southern Florida having the greatest number of cycles completed or attempted. The relative performance of all sites with cycle test recovery efficiency data is then determined, and finally, recovery performance for each site is compared with four hydrogeologic and design factors to determine their importance.

Factors Affecting Freshwater Recovery

Recovery of stored freshwater in the brackish- to salinewater carbonate Floridan aquifer system of southern Florida is controlled by a wide variety of casual factors that pertain to hydrogeology, well or well-field design, and operational management. Hydrogeologic factors of a storage zone that can affect recoverability include: (1) ambient ground-water salinity, (2) magnitude of permeability and its distribution, (3) aquifer thickness, (4) confinement, (5) ambient hydraulic gradient, and (6) structural setting. Important design and management factors to consider are: (1) thickness and location of the storage zone within the aquifer, (2) volume of water injected for a cycle, (3) rate of recharge and recovery, (4) cycle frequency and time between cycles, (5) storage period length, (6) borehole performance problems such as plugging, and (7) multiple-well configurations. A detailed discussion of most of these factors is provided in Reese (2002). The four factors that have been identified as being important, or potentially important, in southern Florida (Reese, 2002) are storage zone salinity, the distribution and magnitude of permeability, and the thickness and position of the storage zone within the aquifer.

During freshwater recharge in an ASR well, a radial or spherical mixing zone forms around the well in the aquifer. This zone, referred to as the transition zone (Merritt, 1985), separates ambient ground water from an inner flushed zone mostly containing injected water (fig. 7). The flushed zone is commonly described as a freshwater "bubble" or buffer zone, but its shape can be irregular. The degree of mixing between injected and native water and the width of the transition zone are primarily controlled by hydrodynamic dispersion (or dispersive mixing), which refers to the effects of molecular diffusion and mechanical dispersion. Mechanical dispersion results from uneven flow through porous media, and is predominant over diffusion at flow velocities that typically occur during ASR recharge and recovery.

Hydrogeologic Factors

The ambient salinity of ground water in the storage zone is a primary factor controlling the recovery of injected freshwater because of mixing between these waters during an ASR cycle and because of potential buoyancy stratification. Buoyancy stratification occurs during ASR in aquifers when the ambient salinity and the vertical hydraulic conductivity of the aquifer are both high (Merritt, 1985). Because of a substantial density contrast, the injected freshwater can move upward in the aquifer and flow out over the native saline ground water (fig. 7). During the recovery period, such stratification increases mixing. Buoyancy stratification is possible when the ambient dissolved-solids concentration of ground water is greater than 5,000 mg/L (Pyne, 1995), which equates to about 2,500 mg/L chloride concentration in the Floridan aquifer system of southern Florida (Reese, 1994).

The magnitude and distribution (heterogeneity) of permeability (or hydraulic conductivity) in the storage zone can greatly affect recovery efficiency because of its effect on mechanical dispersion. Increased permeability in a limestone aquifer typically translates to greater dispersive mixing, which



Figure 7. Aquifer storage and recovery well in a confined, brackish-to salinewater aquifer depicting idealized flushed and transition zones created by recharge. tends to decrease recovery efficiency. Recovery efficiency in a sand aquifer of uniform permeability is good because dispersion results primarily from flow through intergranular pore spaces. In contrast, recovery efficiency in a limestone aquifer that has both conduit and diffuse flow components can be poor because dispersion results from preferential flow through a few thin horizontal zones of high permeability (flow zones) that are interlayered with thick zones having relatively low permeability. High transmissivity in a limestone aquifer commonly results from the high permeability associated with zones of secondary porosity development or karstification, including fracturing and dissolution along fractures or bedding planes. Because of localized development of high vertical hydraulic conductivity encountered by injected water as it flows outward along flow zones in carbonate aquifers of Florida, greater vertical mixing can occur, and bodies of injected freshwater can become isolated and "essentially nonrecoverable" (Missimer and others, 2002). For a storage zone in the Upper Floridan aquifer, a transmissivity of 30,000 ft²/d has been identified as an approximate minimum level at which this factor could affect recovery efficiency (Reese, 2002). In another study, a maximum acceptable transmissivity in carbonate aquifers of Florida of about 47,000 ft²/d was identified for a maximum well capacity of 5 Mgal/d (Missimer and others, 2002).

Design and Management Factors

Recovery efficiency is typically greater in a thin storage zone compared to a thick one because of the lower vertical extent of the transition zone along which mixing occurs. Minimizing the thickness of the storage zone within a thick aquifer when designing the construction of an ASR well can be beneficial, but this depends on the distribution of horizontal and vertical hydraulic conductivity within the aquifer and the desired rate of recharge and recovery.

The thickness and position of a storage zone within an aquifer can affect recovery efficiency. Merritt (1985) simulated hypothetical recovery efficiency where the open interval extended only over the lower part of the actual storage zone and an important flow zone near the top of the Upper Floridan aquifer at the Hialeah facility (site 17). Recovery efficiency is virtually unaffected when compared to a well open to the full thickness of the flow and storage zone. The low ambient salinity (1,200 to 1,300 mg/L chloride concentration) and the low to moderate vertical hydraulic conductivity values (0.01 to 40 ft/d) used in the simulation, however, may have prevented the occurrence of any appreciable buoyancy effects that could increase vertical flow and mixing. Placement of a storage zone below the top of an aquifer could have a negative effect, depending on the vertical hydraulic conductivity and ambient salinity. The buoyancy of the injected freshwater could cause part of the bubble to migrate above the level of the open-hole interval (base of casing), where it may be more difficult to recover.

The final casing depth, which is the top of the storage zone, is commonly set well below the interpreted top of the Upper Floridan aquifer. This practice is common in eastern Broward and Palm Beach Counties, with 10 of 11 sites in this area having the casing set below the top of the aquifer, and 8 of these 10 sites having a casing depth of 50 ft or more below the top of the aquifer (app. 1). The storage zones at Shell Creek WTP (site 6) and Olga WTP (site 13) on the west coast of Florida are located in the lower part of the Suwannee Limestone at 160 and 344 ft below the top of the aquifer, respectively (app. 1). A step-drawdown test of the upper part of the Suwannee in MW-3 at the Olga site indicated relatively low transmissivity; the upper part of the Suwannee Limestone was not used for storage at this site because this zone was considered to be too thick and hydraulically heterogeneous and to have a potential sand inflow problem (Water Resources Solutions, Inc., 2000a).

The practice of placing the final casing below the top of the Upper Floridan aquifer is often the result of two concerns. The first concern is having rock of adequate competency for a good cement seal (or "casing seat") between the casing and borehole wall at the bottom of the casing. Limestone in the upper Suwannee Limestone and lower Hawthorn Group can have high silt and sand content and be soft, friable, and poorly cemented. The second concern is the release, or potential for release, of water-quality constituents of concern into the stored water, such as arsenic, gross alpha radioactivity, and radium isotope activity ($Ra^{226} + Ra^{228}$) caused by the interaction between injected freshwater and the aquifer matrix (Mirecki, 2004). Minerals that release these water-quality constituents can be more common in the lower Hawthorn Group and Suwannee Limestone (Mirecki, 2004) and tend to be associated with the phosphate sand present in these geologic units.

The bottom of the final casing was set at a depth of about 300 ft (from 270 to 310 ft) above the top of the Upper Floridan aquifer, as interpreted in this study (previously discussed), at three sites in Miami-Dade County (app. 1, sites 18, 19, and 20). The purpose of setting the casing much higher in the section at these sites was to include several flow zones in the lower part of the Hawthorn Group in the storage zone (CH2M HILL, 1998b, 2001a, 2003).

The volume of water recharged per cycle and the rate of injection or recovery also may affect recovery efficiency. Recharge volumes per cycle varied widely, ranging from as low as 0.6 Mgal in the first cycle at the Lee County WTP (site 11) to as much as 714 Mgal in multiwell cycle 3 at the West Well Field (site 20). On a per-cycle basis, simulated recovery efficiency generally increases as the total volume of injected water increases (Merritt, 1985). High volumes recharged because of a high injection rate, however, may not improve recovery efficiency because injected water in a flow zone can travel faster and farther away from the well and create a greater potential for vertical mixing in the aquifer (Missimer and others, 2002).

A high pumping rate during recovery may lower recovery efficiency because it results in high water velocities and mixing within the borehole and can cause the upconing of more saline native water (Hazen and Sawyer, P.C., 2003). The reduction in recovery efficiency caused by upconing depends on the vertical hydraulic conductivity in the storage zone and the ambient ground-water salinity and confinement below the storage zone.

Recovery efficiency increases with repeated cycles (Merritt, 1985) because part of the water that was recharged from a previous cycle remains in the aquifer, and during the next cycle, recharged water mixes with aquifer water of salinity lower than ambient water. To improve recovery efficiency during repeated cycles, Pyne (1995) has recommended initially recharging a large volume of water to flush out ambient ground water near a well and to create a buffer zone. With this approach, a target storage volume (TSV) is recharged prior to beginning cycle testing. The TSV is defined by CH2M HILL (2002a) as:

"The sum of the stored water volume required to meet a predetermined recovery volume goal, plus the volume of water in a freshwater buffer zone surrounding the stored water volume. At such time as this TSV may be achieved in each well, it should be possible to achieve 100 percent recovery efficiency for all subsequent water stored and recovered in that well to meet the targeted recovery volume."

Accordingly, recovery efficiency should be greater for a cycle with a low recharge volume immediately preceded by a cycle with a large recharge volume, than for the second cycle when the two cycles have equal recharge volumes. In the present (2006) study, a large initial volume designated as a TSV is included with the recharge volume for the following cycle to calculate recovery efficiency, and the TSV approach or a similar practice is referred to as "water banking."

The length of time between cycles is a factor because water left in the aquifer from previous cycles tends to disperse and migrate downgradient with the ambient ground-water flow, or migrate upward or updip depending on buoyancy, confinement, and local geologic structure. The storage period duration within a cycle also can affect recovery efficiency. A bubble tends to disperse or may migrate upward or laterally during storage. A 4- to 6-month storage period (about 120 to 180 days) may be optimal under the ideal wet-season/dry season strategy for an ASR cycle in southern Florida. The longest planned storage period was 191 days for cycle 3 at the Olga WTP (site 13, table 5). During long storage periods (4 months or greater), loss of recharge water as a result of buoyancy and vertical mixing can occur if vertical zones of high hydraulic conductivity are encountered as recharge water travels outward through flow zones (Missimer and others, 2002).

Well plugging can occur during recharge in the Upper Floridan aquifer and reduce the recharge rate and freshwater recovery. This plugging occurs at the wellbore face or in the aquifer and is usually caused by: (1) deposition of particulate matter present in the injected water, or (2) by the formation of precipitates or sludge through geochemical reactions between the injected water, aquifer water, and aquifer matrix. Well plugging may preferentially affect one flow zone in an open-hole interval more than another, reducing overall recovery. During recovery, the less-affected zone contributes more of the flow, and the salinity of water from this zone can exceed the limiting salinity level before all the recoverable water from the plugged zone is obtained.

To optimize recovery efficiency, it is necessary to use recharge water with low salinity. The chloride concentration of recharged water used for most sites ranged from 40 to 100 mg/L (table 5). Recharge water with higher chloride concentration (greater than 100 mg/L) can adversely affect recovery efficiency; cycles with higher recharge chloride concentration are mostly on the west coast of Florida and are listed in the following table:

Site number and name	Cycle number	Chloride concentration of recharged water (milligrams per liter)
(5) Engelwood So RegWTP	1-4	about 170
(6) Shell Crk WTP	3	180-230
	OP-4	107
(7) Marco Lakes	2-6	115-136
(7) Marco Lakes	1E	105
(11) Lee County WTP	2	150-350
(12) North Reservoir	initial test	155
	cycle	
(15) Winkler Avenue	1	164
(22) Taylor Crk/Nubbin Slough	1	150
(30) St. Lucie County	1	200

Analysis of Cycle Test Data at Selected Sites

Well-construction histories and results of cycle tests at the seven ASR sites with the greatest number of cycles are discussed in the subsequent sections. For each site, recharge and recovery volumes and recovery efficiencies for each cycle are plotted and compared. Storage period length and the chloride concentration at the end of each recovery period also are considered.

Fiveash Water Treatment Plant (Site 3)

Three wells were constructed at the Fiveash WTP in eastcentral Broward County (site 3) by March 1998 (table 2), and seven test cycles were conducted between October 1999 and August 2004 (fig. 8). Storage period lengths were short (0 to 3 days) for all cycles except subcycle 3a, which had an unintended 433-day storage period because of well pump failure (table 7). Potable water recovery efficiency per cycle ranged from about 5 to 61 percent for the seven cycles, with an average value of 28 percent. Cumulative recovery efficiency was about 19 percent.



Table 7. Cycle test data from the Fiveash Water Treatment Plant (site 3).

[Potable water chloride concentration limit of 250 mg/L (milligrams per liter). Cumulative recovery efficiency extracted from table 6; all other data extracted from table 5. Values have been rounded off. Mgal, million gallons; >, greater than; --, no data]

				Chloride c	Chloride concentration		Potable water		Cumulative
Cycle	Storage period (days)	Recharge volume (Mgal)	Recovery volume (Mgal)	Recharge water (mg/L)	Recovered water (mg/L)	efficiency at end of cycle (percent)	Recovery volume (Mgal)	Recovery efficiency (percent)	recovery efficiency (percent)
1	0	20	1	60	212	5		>5	5
2	0	75	5	55	160	6		>6	6
3 (a+b)	433	638	54	55	244	9		>9	8
4	0	56	34	60	260	61	34	61	12
5	0	62	37	54	268	60	36	58	15
6	0	240	50	58	252	21	50	21	17
7	0	193	68	63	240	35	68	35	19

Relatively small volumes were recharged during cycles 1 and 2 (fig. 8 and table 7). Large volumes were recharged during subcycles 3a and 3b (totaling 638 Mgal); however, because the pump failed during subcycle 3a, recovery was not attempted until subcycle 3b. Recovery efficiency at the end of the entire third cycle was about 9 percent (table 7), and for subcycle 3b it was only about 13 percent. Shortly after cycle 3 (with its large recharge volume), however, in what appears to be a water-banking approach, smaller volumes were recharged for cycles 4 and 5, and recovery efficiency increased to about 60 percent.

For cycles 4 and 5, the recovery rate was reduced to 0.45 and 0.63 Mgal/d, respectively, as opposed to the greater than 1-Mgal/d rate used previously (Hazen and Sawyer P.C., 2003), and the increased recovery efficiency for these cycles may be due, in part, to reduced velocity of water entering the well and mixing within the borehole. "This allowed the stored water to remain more intact and minimized upconing of native water during recovery" (Hazen and Sawyer, P.C., 2003). Ambient water salinity is indicated to increase with depth below the storage zone at this site based on water samples collected from known intervals (app. 1). An alternate explanation for the improvement in cycles 4 and 5 is the flushing of ambient ground water caused by the very large recharge volume in cycle 3. Although the lower recovery rate was used with a much larger recharge volume in cycle 6 (240 Mgal compared to about 60 Mgal for each of the two previous cycles), recovery efficiency fell to about 21 percent (table 7). This reduction in recovery efficiency may have been caused by the almost 5-month period of inactivity between cycles 5 and 6, and the total time (14 months) between cycle 3 with its large recharge volume and cycle 6. Recovery efficiency for cycle 7 increased

to about 35 percent, even with an increase in the recovery rate to almost 1 Mgal/d. The decrease in the volume recharged from cycle 6 to 7 and short intercycle and storage period times could have accounted for this increase in recovery efficiency.

Springtree Water Treatment Plant (Site 4)

Construction of well ASR-1 at the Springtree WTP in east-central Broward County was completed by July 1997, and seven cycles were conducted between July 1999 and August 2003 (fig. 9). Cycle 8 began on October 1, 2003, but the recovery phase has not yet been conducted. Storage period lengths for the seven cycles ranged from 0 to 131 days (table 8). Potable water recovery efficiency per cycle ranged from about 19 to 62 percent, with an average value of 36 percent. Cumulative recovery efficiency was about 31 percent.

Recharge volume for cycles 1 to 4 ranged from 20 to 41 Mgal, and was increased to 121 and 187 Mgal, respectively, for cycles 5 and 6 (table 8). Recovery efficiency decreased from about 40 percent for cycles 3 and 4, to about 31 and 19 percent for cycles 5 and 6, respectively. The decreased recovery efficiency for cycle 6 may partly be due to its lengthy storage period (131 days) when compared to previous cycles (about 30 days or less). The per-cycle recovery efficiency increased to over 62 percent for cycle 7; however, this cycle did not have a storage period, and the large volume recharged in cycle 6 may have flushed out some of the ambient ground water near the well. Cycle 8 began in September 2003 and recharge ended in February 2004; however, by the end of 2004, recovery for this cycle had not yet begun.





Table 8. Cycle test data from the Springtree Water Treatment Plant (site 4).

[Potable water chloride concentration limit of 250 mg/L (milligrams per liter). Cumulative recovery efficiency extracted from table 6; all other data extracted from table 5. Values have been rounded off. Mgal, million gallons; >, greater than; --, no data]

				Chloride concentration		Recovery	Potabl	Cumulative	
Cycle	Storage period (days)	Recharge volume (Mgal)	Recovery volume (Mgal)	Recharge water (mg/L)	Recovered water (mg/L)	efficiency at end of cycle (percent)	Recovery volume (Mgal)	Recovery efficiency (percent)	recovery efficiency (percent)
1	0	20	4	70	61	20		30	20
2	1	40	11	65	213	28		30	25
3	0	41	15	60	220	37		41	30
4	31	40	15	60	222	38		42	32
5	29	121	32	65	218	26		31	29
6	131	187	23	65	171	12		19	22
7	0	120	74	69	224	62		>62	31
8		141		65					

Shell Creek Water Treatment Plant (Site 6)

Well ASR-1 was constructed at the Shell Creek WTP in northeastern Charlotte County in 1997, and was originally completed in the upper part of the Suwannee Limestone. However, results from a single-well constant-rate pump test (table 3) and subsequent cycle testing indicated that the transmissivity was unacceptably low in this zone for ASR operational considerations. The well was recompleted in April 1999 to its deeper, present open interval (764 to 933 ft below land surface) in the lower part of the Suwannee Limestone (app. 1; Montgomery Watson, 2000a). Three additional ASR wells (wells ASR-2, ASR-3, and ASR-4R) were constructed in late 2001 and early 2002. Later in 2002 (prior to their initial use), ASR-3 and ASR-4R were back plugged to depths of 912 and 915 ft below land surface, respectively, to improve recovery efficiency potential by "reducing the dispersivity in the open-hole section of the wells" (Water Resources Solutions, Inc., 2002e; 2003d). The storage zone thickness in both wells was reduced from about 200 to 100 ft (table 2). Well ASR-2 (app. 1, CH-316) was not modified and has not been used because of unconsolidated sand entering the well bore during production (Water Resources Solutions, Inc., 2003d).

Reported transmissivity (6,000 ft²/d) for the Shell Creek WTP (fig. 5) was determined from a multiwell test that used ASR-3 as the production well prior to being back plugged (table 3). The open interval for ASR-3 during this test extended from a depth of 810 to 1,000 ft.

Three test cycles were performed at the site between July 1999 and February 2000, and five operational cycles were completed between some time in 2000 and June 2004 (fig. 10). OnlyASR-1 was utilized during the first six cycles; the last two cycles were multiwell cycles. The first multiwell cycle (OP-4) used wells ASR-1, ASR-3, and ASR-4R, and the second cycle (OP-5) used ASR-3 and ASR-4R. Storage period lengths ranged from 0 to 166 days for cycles 1, 2, 3, OP-4, and OP-5, with no storage period for cycles 1 and 2 (table 9). Potable water recovery efficiency per cycle ranged from greater than 1 to about 47 percent, with an average value of about 21 percent. Cumulative recovery efficiency was about 24 percent.

Potable water recovery efficiency generally was low for the first six cycles (greater than 1 to about 37 percent), even though a large recharge volume of 199 Mgal was used on the sixth cycle (OP-3); however, the recharge water chloride concentration for cycle 3 was high (180-230 mg/L) and unreported for cycles OP-1, OP-2 and OP-3 (table 9). For the first multiwell cycle (OP-4), potable recovery efficiencies for wells ASR-3 and ASR-4R were about 51 and 65 percent, respectively. Recovery efficiency for ASR-1 remained low (about 15 percent) for this cycle; however, although more than 70 percent of the recharge water was injected into this well during the cycle (158 Mgal as opposed to about 30 and 33 Mgal for ASR-3 and ASR-4R, respectively). Well ASR-1 was not used for cycle OP-5, and the combined recovery efficiency at the end of the cycle for ASR-3 and ASR-4R was about 49 percent,





Table 9. Cycle test data from the Shell Creek Water Treatment Plant (site 6).

[Potable water chloride concentration limit of 250 mg/L (milligrams per liter). Cumulative recovery efficiency extracted from table 6; all other data extracted from table 5. Values have been rounded off. Mgal, million gallons; < less than; >, greater than; --, no data]

				Chloride concentration			Potable water		Cumulative	
C	ycle	Storage period (days)	Recharge volume (Mgal)	Recovery volume (Mgal)	Recharge water (mg/L)	Recovered water (mg/L)	efficiency at end of cycle (percent)	Recovery volume (Mgal)	Recovery efficiency (percent)	recovery efficiency (percent)
	1	0	5	>1	100	250	30	>1	30	30
	2	0	2	<1	75	250	37	>1	37	32
	3	1	20	<2	180-230	250	9	<2	9	14
0	P-1		23					>2	10	12
0	P-2		36					<1	>1	8
0	P-3		199					10	5	6
0	P-4	26-29	221	61	94-107	242-252	28	60	27	15
0	P-5	166	198	97	94-95	250-270	49	93	47	24

even with the long storage period used (166 days). The poor recovery for ASR-1 is believed to be caused, at least in part, by the presence of an area of fractured dolomites overlying the storage zone to the south of ASR-1 (Water Resources Solutions, Inc., 2003d). Some of the recharged water in ASR-1 may be moving above the storage zone through the fractured dolomite because of buoyancy effects, even though the ambient chloride concentration at the site is not high (900 mg/L).

Marco Lakes (Site 7)

Construction of three ASR wells began at the Marco Lakes site in western Collier County during 1996. Well ASR-1 was completed in July 1996, and wells ASR-2 and ASR-3 were completed in November 1999. Six single-well cycles (ASR-1) were conducted between June 1997 and June 2001, and three multiwell cycles (1E, 2E, and 3E) using all three ASR wells were conducted between October 2001 and July 2004 (fig. 11). Cycles have been conducted on an annual basis since the start of the fourth cycle in 1998, and the recharge period for these cycles has been initiated between July and September every year. Storage period ranged from 3 to 181 days (table 10). Potable water recovery efficiency per cycle ranged from about 4 to 68 percent, with an average value of 33 percent. Cumulative recovery efficiency was about 34 percent. With the exception of cycle 2, potable-water recovery efficiency increased from about 22 to 44 percent during cycles 1 to 6 (table 10). Recharge water chloride concentration was comparatively high relative to other sites, ranging from 98 to 136 mg/L for the first six cycles. On the basis of numerical simulation, the erratic recovery curve and poor recovery efficiency for cycle 2 (about

4 percent) has been attributed to preferential well plugging during recharge of one of two receiving intervals in the storage zone (Water Resources Solutions, Inc., 1999c). Precipitate formation probably caused this plugging, and acidification of the recharge water prior to injection has minimized or eliminated the problem in later cycles.

Beginning with cycle 2E, operation at this site may have followed a water-banking approach. A large recharge volume (about 670 Mgal) was injected during cycle 2E (table 10), and recovery was stopped when chloride concentrations in the wells were low (110-150 mg/L). This buildup of a buffer zone in the aquifer, followed by a much smaller recharge volume for cycle 3E (about 246 Mgal), apparently resulted in a high combined recovery efficiency (greater than 68 percent) in cycle 3E, even though a long storage period (181 days) was used and recovery ended when chloride concentrations ranged from only 130 to 200 mg/L (fig. 11 and table 10).





Table 10. Cycle test data from the Marco Lakes facility (site 7).

[Potable water chloride concentration limit of 250 mg/L (milligrams per liter). Cumulative recovery efficiency extracted from table 6; all other data extracted from table 5. Values have been rounded off. Mgal, million gallons; <, less than; >, greater than; --, no data]

				Chloride c	Chloride concentration		Potable water		Cumulativo
Cycle	Storage period (days)	Recharge volume (Mgal)	Recovery volume (Mgal)	Recharge water (mg/L)	Recovered water (mg/L)	efficiency at end of cycle (percent)	Recovery volume (Mgal)	Recovery efficiency (percent)	recovery efficiency (percent)
1	3	19	6	98	384	31	>4	22	31
2	63	87	32	115	398	37	<4	4	9
3	2	21	17	13	370	82	7	33	13
4	85	113	65	130	420	58	39	34	23
5	108	132	75	118	395	57	47	36	28
6	125	125	80	136	360	64	55	44	32
IE	112	326	145	105	250-350	44	123	38	34
2E	121	670	147	88	110-150	22		>22	29
3E	181	246	167	56	130-200	68		>68	34

Boynton Beach East Water Treatment Plant (Site 23)

Construction of well ASR-1 was completed at the Boynton Beach WTP in southeastern Palm Beach County by April 1992, and 21 cycles were completed between October 1992 and July 2004 using ASR-1. Cycles 1 to 4 were conducted over a 7-month period, cycles 5 to 18 were conducted at a rate of almost two per year, and subsequent cycles have been conducted on an annual basis (fig. 12). Storage period lengths ranged from 0 to 174 days; data were unavailable for cycle 17 (table 11). Potable water recovery efficiency per cycle ranged from about 27 to 96 percent, with an average value of about 64 percent. Cumulative recovery efficiency was about 63 percent.

Potable recovery efficiency increased rapidly during the first four cycles to about 90 percent (fig. 12 and table 11), but the high frequency and short storage periods of these cycles may have contributed to the rapid rise. Compared to the preceding two cycles, the low volume of recharge for cycle 4 (about 18 Mgal) also probably contributed to the high recovery for this cycle.

Potable water recovery efficiency decreased to about 27 percent during cycles 5 to 7, probably because of more extended storage periods; for example, the storage period for cycle 7 was 124 days (table 11). Most subsequent storage periods were shorter. Except for cycle 15, recovery efficiency

for cycles 8 to18 ranged from about 40 to 96 percent. Cycle 14 recovery continued until chloride concentration increased to about 1,000 mg/L, which probably contributed to a lower projected recovery efficiency for cycle 15. Presumably, to replenish the system, the recovery for cycle 15 ceased at about 34 percent recovery efficiency and a chloride concentration of only about 146 mg/L. On a plot of percent recovery and recovered water chloride concentration during each cycle, the data points for cycle 15 are shifted to substantially lower recovery percentages at the same chloride concentration than for cycles 9 to14 (Reese, 2002, fig. 13).

At about 85 percent, the potable water recovery efficiency for cycle 16 is one of the best obtained for site 23 (table 11). The storage period for cycle 16, however, was only 4 days, and the recovery efficiency for this cycle probably benefited from the incomplete recovery for cycle 15. At least 73 Mgal of water injected during cycle 15 was not recovered. For cycle 19, the first annual cycle, recharge volume was increased to about 201 Mgal (about 4 times the amount for most previous cycles) and the storage period was increased to 86 days, yet the recovery efficiency for this cycle remained relatively high (about 63 percent). Recovery efficiencies for cycles 20 and 21 were about 81 and 77 percent, respectively, with lower recharge volumes (about 104 and 119 Mgal, respectively) than for cycle 19.



Table 11. Cycle test data from the Boynton Beach East Water Treatment Plant (site 23).

[Potable water chloride concentration limit of 250 mg/L (milligrams per liter). Cumulative recovery efficiency extracted from table 6; all other data extracted from table 5. Values have been rounded off. Mgal, million gallons; >, greater than; --, no data]

Cycle	Storage period (days)	Recharge volume (Mgal)	Recovery volume (Mgal)	Chloride concentration		Recovery	Potable water		Cumulative
				Recharge water (mg/L)	Recovered water (mg/L)	efficiency at end of cycle (percent)	Recovery volume (Mgal)	Recovery efficiency (percent)	recovery efficiency (percent)
1	0	13	10	60	760	77	6	47	47
2	0	57	26	50	420	46	17	30	33
3	8	54	32	47	300	59	27	49	40
4	8	18	17	51	274	97	16	90	46
5	98	60	39	46	300	65	32	54	49
6	57	61	48	47	307	78	39	64	52
7	124	60	20	48	302	33	16	27	47
8	2	43	21	52	321	48	17	40	47
9	22	40	32	52	301	79	25	63	48
10	52	42	35	48	307	83	31	75	51
11	149	41	37	41	314	91	34	82	53
12	81	41	32	49	302	79	27	66	54
13	174	43	37	48	318	87	30	70	55
14	1	33	96	62	1,004	287	27	81	57
15	57	111	38	46	146	34		>34	53
16	4	90	89		310	99	76	85	57
17		39	47		348	121	37	96	59
18	8	77	57		319	74	47	61	59
19	86	201	149		308	74	127	63	60
20	56	104	109		337	105	84	81	61
21	113	119	156		508	131	91	77	63

Delray Beach North Storage Reservoir (Site 24)

Construction of well ASR-1 at the Delray Beach North Storage Reservoir in southeastern Palm Beach County was completed by August 1996. Six test cycles were completed between May 2000 and November 2001; a seventh cycle failed to be completed due to pump failure during recovery (fig. 13). Storage period lengths ranged from 0 to 118 days (table 12). Potable water recovery efficiency per cycle ranged from about 16 to 94 percent, with an average value of about 61 percent (including cycle 7). Cumulative recovery efficiency was about 44 percent.

A TSV of about 250 Mgal was estimated for ASR-1 to support a 50-Mgal recovery volume, and this TSV was recharged at the beginning of cycle testing (CH2M HILL, 2002a). This recharge volume is included in cycle 1, and

recharge continued without interruption until the total recharge volume for cycle 1 was 313 Mgal (table 12). Recovery efficiency for cycle 1 was likely adversely affected by a 118day storage period caused by recovery pump failure; recovery efficiency for cycle 1 was 16 percent at a chloride concentration of 225 mg/L at the end of the cycle. About 50 Mgal per cycle were recharged during cycles 2 and 3, and recovery efficiencies were high (about 94 and 79 percent, respectively). Recovery efficiency decreased to about 53 percent for cycle 4, but recovery was stopped at a chloride concentration of only 185 mg/L. Recovery efficiency improved to almost 80 percent for cycles 5 and 6. With the exception of the first cycle, recovery efficiencies at site 24 were high; however, the storage period length for cycles 2 to 7 averaged only about 1 day, intercycle time was short (usually 2 days or less), and cycles were short (about 2 months or less each).





Table 12. Cycle test data from the Delray Beach North Storage Reservoir (site 24).

[Potable water chloride concentration limit of 250 mg/L (milligrams per liter). Cumulative recovery efficiency extracted from table 6; all other data extracted from table 5. Values have been rounded off. Mgal, million gallons; >, greater than; --, no data]

	Storage period (days)	Recharge volume (Mgal)	Recovery volume (Mgal)	Chloride concentration		Recovery	Potable water		Cumulative
Cycle				Recharge water (mg/L)	Recovered water (mg/L)	efficiency at end of cycle (percent)	Recovery volume (Mgal)	Recovery efficiency (percent)	recovery efficiency (percent)
1	118	313	50	40	225	16		>16	16
2	4	50	47	40	250	94	47	94	27
3	1	48	38	40	230	79		>79	33
4	0	102	54	40	185	53		>53	37
5	0	69	52	40	180	75		>75	41
6	2	71	55		225	78		>78	45
7	0	73	21		62	28		>28	44

West Palm Beach Water Treatment Plant (Site 29)

Construction of well ASR-1 at the West Palm Beach Water Treatment Plant in northeastern Palm Beach County was completed by January 1997, and five ASR test cycles were completed between October 1997 and November 1998 (fig. 14). Storage period lengths ranged from 0 to 3 days (table 13). Recharge volumes per cycle ranged from about 103 to 146 Mgal. Potable water recovery efficiency per cycle was low, ranging from about 3 to 7 percent (table 5). Cumulative recovery efficiency was about 4 percent.

Recovery for cycle 1 was stopped at a chloride concentration of only 133 mg/L (about 4 percent recovery), and recovery efficiency would have been higher if recovery had continued to the potable water level (table 13). Cycle 2 followed immediately and recovery went well beyond the potable water level; however, potable water recovery efficiency was only about 3 percent. Recovery efficiency increased to about 6 to 7 percent for cycles 3 and 4. Recovery efficiency for cycle 5 decreased to only about 3 percent, even though the recharge volume was similar to those used during the previous four cycles. This decrease may have been caused by the 2-month period of inactivity between cycles 4 and 5 (fig. 14). Recovery for cycles 2 to 5 continued until chloride concentrations of about 800 mg/L were reached, thereby eliminating some of the fresher water buffer zone around the well that could have improved recovery efficiency for cycles 3 to 5.

Evaluation of Site Performance

Potable water recovery performance at all ASR sites in southern Florida is discussed in the subsequent sections. First, analysis of recovery efficiencies is made and relative performance of sites is determined. This relative recovery performance is then compared to four hydrogeologic and design factors.

Recovery Efficiency and Relative Performance

A comparison of potable water recovery efficiencies for each cycle at all of the ASR sites with three or more cycles (including test cycles) was made (fig. 15). Much of the recovery efficiency variability between sites and cycles may be attributed to factors not shown, such as recharge volume per cycle, duration of storage and intercycle periods, and the extent of recovery for each cycle. Eight of the 15 sites had recovery efficiencies of less than about 10 percent for the first cycle (sites 1, 3, 12, 14, 20, 22, 27, and 29). Of these eight sites, three have not yet achieved recoveries exceeding 10 percent, and three failed to achieve a recovery exceeding 30 percent by the third cycle. Conversely, the other seven sites had an initial recovery of about 20 percent or greater and attained more than 30 percent recovery by the second cycle, except for site 7, which had a well-plugging problem during cycle 2 as previously discussed. Recovery efficiencies for the most recent cycles at all sites with data are shown in figure 16. Three sites on the east coast and two on the west coast of Florida achieved recoveries of greater than 60 percent for their most recent cycles.





Table 13. Cycle test data from the West Palm Beach Water Treatment Plant (site 29).

[Potable water chloride concentration limit of 250 mg/L (milligrams per liter). Cumulative recovery efficiency extracted from table 6; all other data extracted from table 5. Values have been rounded off. Mgal, million gallons; >, greater than; --, no data]

Cycle	Storage period (days)	Recharge volume (Mgal)	Recovery volume (Mgal)	Chloride concentration		Recovery	Potable water		Cumulative
				Recharge water (mg/L)	Recovered water (mg/L)	efficiency at end of cycle (percent)	Recovery volume (Mgal)	Recovery efficiency (percent)	recovery efficiency (percent)
1	0	114	4	65	133	4		>4	4
2	3	132	36	54	766	27	4	3	3
3	1	111	46	50	850	42	7	7	4
4	3	103	58	42	820	57	6	6	5
5	3	146	74	80	790	50	4	3	4

Comparisons of site performance were made using the cumulative recovery efficiencies and cumulative recharge volumes calculated at the end of each cycle in table 6, and these comparisons were used to group sites by performance. The cumulative potable water recovery efficiencies at the end of each cycle for all sites with at least three cycles (fig. 17) display substantially less variability than the per-cycle recovery efficiencies (fig. 15). Much of the variability in per-cycle recovery efficiency apparently caused by water banking, such as at sites 3 (fig. 8), 4 (fig. 9), 7 (fig. 11), and 24 (fig. 13), is eliminated on the cumulative recovery efficiency plot. A comparison of cumulative recharge volume and time at the end of each cycle since the beginning of cycle testing for sites with at least three cycles illustrates large differences in the overall rate of recharge (fig. 18). Sites on this plot can be divided into two groups based on the overall recharge rate. The group with the higher recharge rate includes sites 1, 3, 20, 22, 24, and 29; this group has an overall recharge rate of about 300 Mgal/ yr or higher, which is the same as 2 Mgal/d for a 5-month recharge period each year. Three sites in the other group (sites 4, 14, and 23) also had close to this higher rate of recharge, but only for the first few cycles during their first year of operation. A higher overall recharge rate could improve recovery efficiency because of the water-banking effect as previously discussed.

The relative performance of all sites was grouped into "high," "medium," and "low" categories based primarily on their cumulative potable water recovery efficiency during the first seven cycles (fig. 17 and table 14). The cumulative recovery efficiencies were arbitrarily chosen to be 0 to 20 percent for low performance, 20 to 40 percent for medium performance, and greater than 40 percent for high performance. Seven cycles were used because six sites had this number of cycles or greater. For sites with less than seven cycles, the trend of points for the site in figure 17 was projected up to seven cycles. The ratings of three sites, considered borderline, were modified using the overall recharge rate (fig. 18). Site 1 (Broward County WTP 2A) was rated medium instead of high because of a high recharge rate, site 6 (Shell Creek WTP) was rated medium instead of low because of a low recharge rate, and site 7 (Marco Lakes) was rated high instead of medium because of a low recharge rate. Also as previously discussed, the recharge water used at site 7 for cycles 2 to 6 had a substantially higher chloride concentration than the concentration typically used at most other sites, and preferential well plugging occurred during cycle 2. Two sites (sites 11 and 15), not shown in figure 17, also were rated (table 14). Site 11 (Lee County WTP) was rated high based on three cycles with a cumulative recovery efficiency for the third cycle of about 27 percent (table 6) and a low overall recharge rate, and site 15 (Winkler Avenue) was rated low based on one cycle with a recovery efficiency of only 0.5 percent (table 5). Of the 30 sites in this study (table 1), a rating was determined for 17 sites. Seven sites were rated high, five were rated medium, and five were rated low. The remaining 13 sites have not been tested or inadequately tested, and therefore, could not be rated.

Hydrogeologic, Design and Management Factors

Performance at all sites was compared against four of the hydrogeologic and design factors, including thickness, transmissivity, and ambient chloride concentration of the storage zone, and the thickness of the aquifer above the top of the storage zone (table 14). A threshold was chosen for each factor to represent a value above which the factor could adversely affect recovery efficiency. The approximate threshold values chosen for transmissivity and ambient chloride concentration, which were previously identified, are 30,000 ft²/d and 2,500 mg/L, respectively.







Figure 16. Potable water recovery efficiencies for the most recent cycle at aquifer storage and recovery sites in southern Florida. Three sites (indicated) use three wells simultaneously; all other sites use one recharge well.








Table 14. Comparison of hydrogeologic and design factors that may affect recovery efficiency with aquifer storage and recovery site performance.

[Values for transmissivity and ambient chloride concentration are rounded to two significant figures based on values in tables 3 and 4. Threshold values are shown in brackets in table headings. Values that exceed thresholds are shown in italics. Recovery performance rating based on cumulative recovery efficiency for first seven cycles, or projected to seven cycles if less cycles have been completed. Low is 0 to 20 percent recovery efficiency, medium is 20 to 40 percent recovery efficiency, high is greater than 40 percent recovery efficiency. UFA, Upper Floridan aquifer; MFA, middle Floridan aquifer; ft²/d, square feet per day; mg/L, milligrams per liter; ND, not determined; ?, recovery performance rating is less certain because of the low number or type of cycles or other reasons]

	Factors that may affect recovery efficiency				Recovery performance	
Site number	Storage zone thickness (ft) [150]	Transmis- sivity of storage zone (ft²/d) [<i>30,000</i>]	Ambient dissolved chloride (mg/L) [<i>2,500</i>]	Thickness of UFA above top of storage zone (ft) [50]	indicated by cycle testing (number of cycles completed, including test cycles)	
1	205	29,000	1,900	145	Medium? (3)	
2	168	24,000	2,000	50	No testing	
3	145	20,000	3,500	85	Low (7)	
4	160	5,700	3,600	70	Medium (7)	
5	188	4,700	11,000	2	No complete cycles	
6	169	6,000	900	160	Medium (8)	
7	45	9,100	2,600	0	High? (9)	
8	61	ND	2,100	162	No testing	
10	260	ND	900	0	No testing	
11	155	800	500	0	High (3)	
12	100	8,300	750	0	Medium (4)	
13	61	9,400	1,000	344	High (3)	
14	51	70,000	1,100	0	Low (3)	
15	98	27,000	1,300	0	Low? (1)	
16	240	13,000	700	35	No testing	
17	150	11,000	1,200	0	High (3)	
18	470	11,000	2,200	0	No testing	
19	404	12,000	1,600	0	Inadequate testing (1)	
20	452	15,000	2,400	0	High (3)	
21	313	40,000	600	0	No testing	
22	442	590,000	3,000	0 for MFA	Low (7)	
23	105	9,400	1,900	4	High (21)	
24	104	ND	2,300	86	High (7)	
25	215	19,000	2,100	60	No testing	
26	210	8,100	1,800-2,500	30	No testing	
27	290	ND	1,800	30	Medium (4)	
28	90	8,800	2,100	95	No testing	
29	215	110,000	2,800	60	Low (5 test cycles only)	
30	175	5,900	1,000	0	Inadequate testing (1)	

Design factors that concern the thickness and position of the storage zone also were used for comparison. The threshold values that were chosen for these factors, however, are somewhat arbitrary. A value of 150 ft was chosen for the thickness of the storage zone. This value is less than the average storage zone thickness of 183 ft (for all sites with the storage zone in the Upper Floridan aquifer), but is about halfway between the original and reduced storage zone thicknesses for two ASR wells at the Shell Creek WTP (site 6). Both wells had improved recovery efficiency in comparison to the original ASR well at the site, which has a storage zone thickness of 169 ft. Additionally, the average thickness of 183 ft is upwardly biased by sites 19 and 20 in Miami-Dade County with storage zone thicknesses of greater than 400 ft (fig. 4), of which about 300 ft is interpreted to be above the Upper Floridan aquifer. A threshold value of 50 ft for the thickness of the portion of the aquifer above the top of the storage zone was chosen. This value is approximately the average of this thickness determined for all sites with the storage zone in the Upper Floridan aquifer (table 14) using the plots in appendix 1. An aquifer thickness above the top of the storage zone of 50 ft or less could still result in a loss of recharged water due to the buoyancy effect, depending on the vertical hydraulic conductivity of the aquifer and ambient salinity. The four factors were determined for all sites, and the sites exceeding the threshold values were identified for the purpose of comparison with the relative recovery efficiency performance ratings (table 14).

Relative ASR performance, determined at 17 sites, was grouped by rating and compared with the four hydrogeologic and design factors that may affect recovery efficiency (table 15). Some correlation of the ratings with the number of factors exceeding their respective threshold value was found. As the ratings decrease from high to low, the number of sites with two or more factors that exceed threshold values increases. Of the five sites rated low, three sites had two to four factors that exceeded their threshold values, whereas for the sites rated high, none had more than one factor. Three of the sites rated low have storage zone transmissivities above the threshold value of $30,000 \text{ ft}^2/\text{d}$, and three have ambient chloride concentrations above the threshold value of 2,500 mg/L. All of the sites that have transmissivities above the threshold value were rated low. Of the eight sites with a storage zone thickness greater than 150 ft, only two had a high rating. A correlation with the factor for the thickness of the Upper Floridan aquifer above the top of the storage zone, however, was not indicated. Sites that exceeded the 50-ft value were relatively evenly distributed among the three performance ratings.

Although not included in the preceding comparison, storage period length or time between cycles also may affect recovery efficiency. This appears to be more likely for sites in southeastern Florida than in southwestern Florida; southeastern Florida has higher ambient salinity, higher apparent vertical hydraulic conductivity in the aquifer, and more storage zones located more than 50 ft below the top of the Upper Floridan aquifer. Ten of the 16 east coast sites have chloride concentrations of at least of 2,000 mg/L, but concentrations at only 2 of **Table 15.** Aquifer storage and recovery site performance, grouped by rating, and compared with factors that could affect recovery efficiency.

["X" indicates factor equals or exceeds threshold value. Threshold values are given in table 14. Site ratings are described in the text and in table 14. Sites with insufficient data for ratings are not shown. no., number; --, no exceedence for factor]

Site No.	Storage zone thickness	Storage zone transmissivity	Storage zone chloride concentration	Aquifer thickness above storage zone				
		High						
7			Х					
11	Х							
13				Х				
17								
20	Х							
23								
24				Х				
		Medium						
1	Х			Х				
4	Х		Х	Х				
6	Х			Х				
11	Х							
12								
27	Х							
Low								
3			Х	Х				
14		Х						
15								
22	Х	Х	Х					
29	Х	Х	Х	Х				

the 9 west coast sites exceed this value. Because of the possibility of enhanced vertical hydraulic conductivity in the upper part of the Upper Floridan aquifer in the southeastern coastal area, upward migration of recharged freshwater during long storage or intercycle periods may cause substantial decreases in recovery efficiency. This reasoning tends to be supported by the cycle test data. Seven of the 16 east coast sites have a thickness of the aquifer above the top of the storage zone of greater than 50 ft (table 14). Of these seven sites, four sites—Broward County WTP 2A (site 1), Fiveash WTP (site 3), Springtree WTP (site 4), and West Palm Beach WTP (site 29)—have a low or medium performance rating; one site—Delray Beach North Storage Reservoir (site 24)—has a high rating; and two sites—Hillsboro Canal East (site 25), and System 3 Palm Beach County (site 28)—have had no cycle testing.

Some evidence seems to indicate poor recovery performance can occur in southeastern Florida because of long inactive periods. For example, no potable water was recovered at the Southwest Well Field (site 19) after recharge of 228 Mgal into two wells and storage for 360 days. Additionally, a large reduction in recovery efficiency at the Fiveash WTP (site 3) occurred between cycles 5 and 6 (fig. 8), mostly perhaps because of 8 months of inactivity since cycle 3 with its large recharge volume and the low volumes recharged for cycles 4 and 5.

Summary

This report completes the second phase of an ongoing investigation to compile and synthesize data on existing aquifer storage and recovery (ASR) sites in southern Florida and to identify specific hydrogeologic, design, and management factors that control the recovery of freshwater recharged into ASR wells. The first report completed in 2002 provided preliminary data inventory, review, and analysis. The current study: (1) compiled new ASR data that have been made available, (2) determined the hydrogeologic framework at each ASR site, and (3) further evaluated performance at each site including a more complete comparative analysis of ASR sites. The focus of the current study is on the Upper Floridan aquifer, which is continuous throughout southern Florida, and generally has good overlying confinement; however, this aquifer contains brackish to saline ground water, which can greatly affect the recovery of the freshwater recharged and stored because of dispersive mixing.

Well data were inventoried and compiled for all wells at existing and historical ASR sites in southern Florida. All of the ASR wells at the 30 sites have been drilled to the carbonate Floridan aquifer system, mostly under the direction of local municipalities or counties in coastal areas. The Upper Floridan aquifer of the Floridan aquifer system is either being used, or is planned for use, at 29 of the sites. Three of the 30 sites are currently operational, 11 are undergoing "operational (cycle) testing," 11 require additional infrastructure development or regulatory approval prior to "operational testing," and 5 are no longer active or abandoned after experimental testing was completed. Five of the more recent sites are pilot or test well sites drilled as part of the Comprehensive Everglades Restoration Plan (CERP), for which ASR has been proposed on a large, unprecedented scale; cycle testing at these five sites has not yet begun.

Many utility-operated, nonexperimental ASR facilities with constructed wells have experienced cycle testing or operational delays because of unresolved regulatory issues; mechanical problems, such as well pump failure; inadequate source-water supply, or other reasons. Out of ten sites with wells constructed in the 1990s, five have conducted only three cycles or less, and cycle testing has not begun at two others.

The hydrogeology of the Upper Floridan aquifer in southwestern Florida differs from southeastern Florida. Confinement between flow zones within the Upper Floridan aquifer in southwestern Florida is generally better than in southeastern Florida, and some zones in southwestern Florida are referred to as separate aquifers or subaquifers. Unconformities are present at formation contacts in the Upper Floridan aquifer, and zones of dissolution can be associated with these unconformities. Because of these unconformities and associated karstification, the vertical hydraulic conductivity in the upper part of the Upper Floridan aquifer may be higher in southeastern Florida than in southwestern Florida. The hydrogeologic framework at each of the 30 ASR sites is delineated in this report; geophysical log traces, lithologic columns, flow zones, geologic and hydrogeologic units, completed open-hole intervals, and ambient water-quality data are illustrated for each site.

Storage zone factors that can affect the efficiency of ASR operation vary widely between sites. The thickness of the open-hole storage zone ranges from 45 to 470 ft, and borehole diameter ranges from 5.125 to 29 in. Twenty-inch or greater diameter ASR wells are required to obtain an injection or withdrawal rate of 5 Mgal/d or greater. Transmissivity of the Upper Floridan aquifer storage zones is reported to range from 800 to 110,000 ft²/d, but at most sites, transmissivity ranges from about 5,000 to 30,000 ft²/d. Chloride concentration of ambient ground water in Upper Floridan aquifer storage zones ranges from 500 to 11,000 mg/L, but at most sites, the chloride concentration ranges from about 1,000 to 3,000 mg/L. A high degree of correlation between chloride concentration and salinity (dissolved-solids concentration) in the Floridan aquifer system in southern Florida has been demonstrated in previous studies. Water-quality data obtained from known sampled intervals and inferred from resistivity geophysical logs indicate that ambient salinity and chloride concentration increase with depth below the storage zone at six sites.

Potable water recovery efficiency on a per cycle basis was the primary measure used to evaluate site performance and is defined as the percentage of the volume of freshwater recharged that has been recovered before the chloride concentration of recovered water reaches 250 mg/L. Cycle test data were compiled for 20 ASR sites, and potable water recovery efficiencies were calculated for 18 of these sites. Cumulative recharge volumes and cumulative potable water recovery efficiencies were calculated for each cycle and also were used to evaluate performance. Additionally, total recovery efficiencies or the percent recoveries at the end of each cycle were determined. They can be substantially higher than the potable water recovery efficiencies because of blending of the higher salinity water recovered from the aquifer with low salinity water at the WTP. Total recovery efficiency is the performance measure used in the operation of WTPs.

Potable water recovery efficiencies per cycle vary widely. Eight sites had recovery efficiencies of less than about 10 percent for the first cycle, and three of these sites have not yet achieved recoveries exceeding 10 percent. The highest recovery efficiency achieved for a cycle was 94 percent for cycle 2 at the Delray Beach North Storage Reservoir. Three sites on the east coast of southern Florida and two sites on the west coast have achieved per cycle potable water recovery efficiencies exceeding 60 percent, and three of these sites (two on the west coast and one on the east coast) have achieved good (greater than 60 percent) recovery efficiencies, even with long storage periods (from 174 to 191 days).

Results of cycle testing at several sites appear to support the target storage volume or water-banking approach. For example, at the Delray Beach North Storage Reservoir site, six times more recharge water (313 Mgal) was used during the preceding cycle 1 than in cycle 2 with its high recovery

efficiency (94 percent). This method involves recharging a large volume of water in an initial cycle, which flushes out the aquifer around the well and builds up a buffer zone that can maintain high recovery efficiency in the following cycles with much lower recharge volume. Recovery efficiencies at the Delray Beach North Storage Reservoir site remained high for the next five short cycles (about 2 months or less per cycle) conducted, however, except for the first cycle, there were no substantial storage periods and little or no idle time between cycles.

Comparisons of the performance of sites were made using the cumulative potable water recovery efficiencies and cumulative recharge volumes calculated at the end of each cycle. The cumulative potable recovery efficiencies at the end of each cycle display substantially less variability than the percycle recovery efficiencies. The per-cycle recovery efficiency variability is caused, in large part, by the practice of water banking in some cycles. A comparison of cumulative recharge volume and time at the end of each cycle since the beginning of cycle testing for all sites illustrates large differences in the overall rate of recharge. A higher overall recharge rate (greater than 300 Mgal/yr) can improve recovery efficiency because of the water-banking effect.

The relative performance of all sites with adequate cycle test data was determined. Performance was grouped into "low," "medium," and "high," categories based primarily on their cumulative recovery efficiency for the first seven cycles, or projected to seven cycles if fewer cycles have been conducted. The cumulative percent recoveries for these categories were arbitrarily chosen to be 0 to 20 percent for low, 20 to 40 percent for medium, and greater than 40 percent for high. The ratings of three sites considered borderline were modified using the overall recharge rate. Of the 30 ASR sites in this study, a rating was determined for 17 sites. The remaining 13 sites have not been tested (or were inadequately tested), and therefore, could not be rated. Of the 17 rated sites, 7 were rated high, 5 were rated medium, and 5 were rated low.

The relative performance of all sites rated was compared with four hydrogeologic and design factors: thickness, transmissivity, and ambient chloride concentration of the storage zone, and the thickness of the portion of the aquifer above the top of the storage zone. Respective threshold values of 150 ft, 30,000 ft²/d, 2,500 mg/L, and 50 ft, respectively, were chosen for these factors to represent the approximate values above which recovery efficiency could be adversely affected. The values chosen for transmissivity and ambient chloride concentration were identified in previous studies, Increased permeability in a carbonate aquifer, such as the Upper Floridan aquifer, corresponding to increased transmissivity of a storage zone, typically translates to greater dispersive mixing with high salinity ambient ground water. For the other two factors, which are design factors concerning the thickness and position of the storage zone, the threshold values chosen are somewhat arbitrary; however, they are based, at least in part, on their average value for all sites with the storage zone in the Upper Floridan aguifer. High values for storage zone thickness could result in decreased recovery efficiency because of the greater vertical extent of the transition zone along which mixing occurs and because of increased potential for dispersive mixing. An aquifer thickness above the top of the storage zone of more than 50 ft could lower recovery efficiency, depending on the vertical hydraulic conductivity of the aquifer and ambient salinity. The buoyancy of the injected freshwater in saline ambient ground water could cause part of the bubble to migrate above the level of the top of the storage zone (base of casing), where it may be more difficult to recover. The four factors were determined for all sites, and the sites exceeding the threshold values were identified.

Correlation of the performance ratings with the number of factors exceeding their respective threshold value is indicated. As the ratings decrease from high to low, the number of sites with two or more factors that exceed threshold values increases. The best correlation is found with the transmissivity and ambient chloride concentration factors, but some correlation also is indicated with the thickness of the storage zone. The storage zone transmissivity and ambient chloride concentration each exceeded the threshold value at three sites rated low. All of the sites that have transmissivities above the threshold value were rated low. Of the eight sites with a storage zone thickness greater than 150 ft, only two sites were rated high. A correlation with the factor for the thickness of the Upper Floridan aquifer above the top of the storage zone, however, was not indicated.

Long intercycle or storage periods also may affect recovery efficiency. This adverse effect appears to be more likely for Upper Floridan aquifer sites in southeastern Florida than in southwestern Florida; southeastern Florida has higher ambient salinity, higher apparent vertical hydraulic conductivity, and more storage zones located greater than 50 ft below the top of the aquifer. Because of the possibility of enhanced vertical hydraulic conductivity in the upper part of the Upper Floridan aquifer in the southeastern coastal area, upward migration of recharged freshwater during long storage or intercycle periods may cause substantial decreases in recovery efficiency. This reasoning tends to be supported by the cycle test data. Seven of the 16 east coast sites have a thickness of the aquifer above the top of the storage zone of greater than 50 ft; of these 7 sites, 4 sites have a low or medium performance rating, 1 site has a high rating, and 2 sites have had no cycle testing. Additionally, some evidence seems to indicate poor recovery performance has occurred in southeastern Florida for certain cycles because of long storage and intercycle periods.

Selected References

- Bennett, M.W., Linton, P.F., and Rectenwald, E.E., 2001, Hydrogeologic investigation of the Floridan aquifer system, western Hillsboro basin, Palm Beach County, Florida: South Florida Water Management District Technical Publication WS-8, 33 p., and apps.
- Bennett, M.W., Linton, P.F., and Rectenwald, E.E., 2004, Hydrogeologic investigation of the Floridan aquifer system, Port Mayaca, Martin County, Florida: South Florida Water Management District, 32 p., 7 apps.
- Brown, R.H., 1963, Estimating the transmissibility of an artesian aquifer from the specific capacity of a well, *in* Bentall, Ray, ed., Methods of Determining Permeability, Transmissibility, and Drawdown: U.S. Geological Survey Water-Supply Paper 1536-I, p. 336-338.
- Bush, P.W., and R.H. Johnston, 1988, Ground-water hydraulics, regional flow, and ground-water development of the Floridan aquifer system in Florida and in parts of Georgia, South Carolina, and Alabama: U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 1403-C, 80 p.
- Camp, Dresser, and McKee, Inc., 1993, Floridan aquifer test/production well and monitor well: Completion report prepared for the City of Deerfield Beach, Florida, and South Florida Water Management District, 29 p.
- CH2M HILL, 1989, Construction and testing of the aquifer storage and recovery (ASR) demonstration project for Lake Okeechobee, Florida: Engineering report prepared for South Florida Water Management District, p. 1-1 to 4-9, apps., 3 v.
- CH2M HILL, 1993, Boynton Beach aquifer storage and recovery system: Engineering report prepared for the City of Boynton Beach, Florida, p. 1-1 to 7-1, 13 apps.
- CH2M HILL, 1996, Feasibility study of a lower east coast aquifer storage and recovery system: Phase III Final Report (C-4103): Prepared for South Florida Water Management District in association with Mock, Roos & Assoc., Inc., Milian, Swain & Assoc., Inc., and Holland & Knight, 7 secs., 3 apps.
- CH2M HILL, 1997, Construction and testing of the aquifer storage and recovery (ASR) system at the BCOES 2A Water Treatment Plant: Engineering report prepared for the Broward County Office of Environmental Services and Montgomery Watson, p. 1-1 to 6-3, 13 apps.
- CH2M HILL, 1998a, Construction and testing of the aquifer storage and recovery facility at the West Palm Beach Water Treatment Plant: Engineering report prepared for the City of West Palm Beach, Florida, p. 1-1 to 7-1, 15 apps.
- CH2M HILL, 1998b, Construction and testing of the aquifer storage and recovery (ASR) system at the MDWASD West Wellfield: Engineering report prepared for Miami-Dade Water and Sewer Department, p. 1-1 to 6-2, 13 apps.

- CH2M HILL, 1998c, Construction and testing of the aquifer storage and recovery facility at the City of Delray Beach's North Storage Reservoir: Engineering report prepared for the City of Delray Beach, Florida, p. 1-1 to 5-1, and apps.
- CH2M HILL, 1999a, Cycle testing report for the BCOES 2A Water Treatment Plant ASR facility: Report prepared for Underground Injection Control Program Manager of Florida Department of Environmental Protection, 4 p., figs., and attachments.
- CH2M HILL,1999b, Potable water aquifer storage recovery phase II drilling and testing at the San Carlos Estates ASR site, Bonita Springs, Florida: Well completion report prepared for Bonita Springs Utilities, Inc., p. 1-1 to 7-2, 9 apps.
- CH2M HILL, 2000a, San Carlos Estates potable water ASR 5-day aquifer performance test, water quality and aquifer characteristic data: Technical memorandum TM-5 prepared for Bonita Springs Utilities, Inc., 14 p., and attachments.
- CH2M HILL, 2000b, San Carlos Estates potable water ASR, cycle test 1 recovery water quality results: Technical memorandum TM-7 prepared for Bonita Springs Utilities, Inc., 15 p., and attachments.
- CH2M HILL, 2000c, Construction and testing of potable water aquifer storage recovery at the Winkler Avenue Pumping Station, Ft. Myers, Florida: Engineering report prepared for the city of Ft. Myers, Florida, 8 secs., and apps.
- CH2M HILL, 2001a, Construction and testing of the aquifer storage and recovery system at the Miami Dade Water and Sewage District Southwest Wellfield: Engineering report prepared for Miami Dade Water and Sewer Department, 5 secs., and attachments.
- CH2M HILL, 2001b, San Carlos Estates potable water ASR cycle test 2 water quality results: Technical memorandum TM-8 prepared for Bonita Springs Utilities, Inc., July 20, 2001, 7 p., and attachments.
- CH2M HILL, 2002a, Cycle testing report for the aquifer storage and recovery facility at the City of Delray Beach's North Storage Reservoir: Technical Memorandum prepared for the City of Delray Beach Environmental Services Department, March 26, 2002, 12 p., and 7 attachments.
- CH2M HILL, 2002b, City of Fort Myers Winkler Avenue potable water ASR cycle test 1 recovery water quality results: Technical Memorandum prepared for the Florida Department of Environmental Protection and City of Fort Myers, October 10, 2002.
- CH2M HILL, 2003, Final construction and testing of Class V Exploratory Well at the Florida Keys Aqueduct Authority's J. Robert Dean Water Treatment Plant: Report prepared for the Florida Keys Aqueduct Authority, 6 secs., and apps., 2 v.

CH2M HILL, 2004a, Reclaimed water aquifer storage and recovery at the Englewood Water District South Regional WWTP: ClassV, Group 3, Injection well construction permit renewal application prepared for the Englewood Water District, March 2004, 5 secs., and attachments.

CH2M HILL 2004b, Preliminary Kissimmee River ASR (EXKR-1) transmissivity data: Memorandum to South Florida Water Management District, December 22, 2004, 8 p.

Cooper, H.H., Jr., and Jacob, C.E., 1946, A generalized graphical method for evaluating formation constants and summarizing well-field history: American Geophysical Union Transactions, v. 27, no. 4, p. 526-534.

Federal Regulations Code, 2002a, Environmental Protection Agency Underground Injection Control Program: Title 40, chap. 1, pt. 144, v. 19, revised July 1, 2002.

Federal Regulations Code, 2002b, Environmental Protection Agency National Secondary Drinking Water Regulations, secondary maximum contaminant levels (revised July 1, 2002): Title 40, chap. 1, pt. 143, sec. 143.3, v. 19.

Fitzpatrick, D. J., 1986, Tests for injecting, storing and recovering freshwater in a saline artesian aquifer, Lee County, Florida: U.S. Geological Survey Water-Resources Investigations Report 85-4249, 53 p.

Florida Administrative Code, 2002, Underground Injection Control: Chapter 62-528, effective November 20, 2002.

Florida Geological Survey, 2004, Lithologic Database:Tallahassee, Accessed April 6, 2006, at http://www.dep.state. fl.us/geology/gisdatamaps/litholog.htm

Hantush, M.S., 1960, Modifications of the theory of leaky aquifers: Journal of Geophysical Research, v. 65, no. 11, p. 3713-3725.

Hantush, M.S., and Jacob, C.E., 1955, Nonsteady radial flow in an infinite leaky aquifer: American Geophysical Union Transactions, v. 36, no. 1, p. 95-100.

Hazen and Sawyer, P.C., 2002, Underground Injection Control Application, Aquifer Storage and Recovery Class V Injection Well System at the Broward County 2A Water Treatment Plant Site, 4 p., and apps.

Hazen and Sawyer, P.C., 2003, City of Fort Lauderdale Fiveash Water Treatment Plant aquifer storage and recovery – cycle 5 summary: Memorandum to the City of Fort Lauderdale, February 28, 2003, 6 p.

Hazen and Sawyer, P.C., 2004, Aquifer Storage and Recovery Class V Injection Well System at the City of Ft. Lauderdale Fiveash Water Treatment Plant: Underground Injection Control Application to Renew, 7 p., and apps.

Heath, 1989, Basis ground-water hydrology: U.S Geological Survey Water-Supply Paper 2220, 84 p. Jacob, C.E., and Lohman, S.W., 1952, Nonsteady flow to a well of constant drawdown in an extensive aquifer: American Geophysical Union Transactions, v. 33, p. 559-569.

Khanal, N.N., 1980, Advanced water-supply alternatives for the Upper East Coast Planning Area; Part I –Feasibility of cyclic storage of freshwater in a brackish aquifer and Part II – Desalination alternative: South Florida Water Management District Technical Publication no. 80-6, 75 p.

Kruseman, G.P., and de Ridder, N.A., 1990, Analysis and evaluation of pumping test data (2d ed.): International Institute for Land Reclamation and Improvement, Wageningen, The Netherlands, Publication 47, 377 p.

Lukasiewicz, John, 1992, A three-dimensional finite difference ground-water flow model of the Florida aquifer system in Martin, St. Lucie and eastern Okeechobee Counties, Florida: South Florida Water Management District Technical Publication 92-03, 292 p.

Lukasiewicz, John, 2003a, Floridan aquifer system test well program, C-13 Canal, Oakland Park, Florida: South Florida Water Management District Technical Publication WS-16, 49 p., and apps.

Lukasiewicz, John, 2003b, Floridan aquifer system test well program, L-30N Canal, Miami-Dade, Florida: South Florida Water Management District Technical Publication WS-17, 49 p., and apps.

Merritt, M.L., 1985, Subsurface storage of freshwater in south Florida: A digital model analysis of recoverability: U.S. Geological Survey Water-Supply Paper 2261, 44 p.

Merritt, M.L., 1997, Tests of subsurface storage of freshwater at Hialeah, Dade County, Florida, and numerical simulation of the salinity of recovered water: U.S. Geological Survey Water-Supply Paper 2431, 114 p., 2 pls.

Merritt, M.L., Meyer, F.W., Sonntag, W.H., and Fitzpatrick, D. J., 1983, Subsurface storage of freshwater in south Florida: A prospectus: U.S. Geological Survey Water-Resources Investigations Report 83-4214, 69 p.

Meyer, F.W., 1989a, Subsurface storage of liquids in the Floridan aquifer system in south Florida: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 88-477, 25 p.

Meyer, F.W., 1989b, Hydrogeology, ground-water movement, and subsurface storage in the Floridan aquifer system in southern Florida: U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 1403-G, 59 p.

Miami-Dade Water and Sewer Department, 2003, Recovery of recharge water from the storage zone of the Upper Floridan aquifer at the Southwest Wellfield: ASR-1-SW and ASR-2-SW, 10 p, 2 apps.

Miller, J.A., 1986, Hydrogeologic framework of the Floridan aquifer system in Florida and in parts of Georgia, Alabama, and South Carolina: U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 1403-B, 91 p. Mirecki, J. E., 2004, Water-quality changes during cycle tests at aquifer storage recovery (ASR) systems of south Florida: Vicksburg, Miss., U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Engineer Research and Development Center, ERDC/EL Technical Report-04-8, 36 p., 1 app.

Missimer, T.M., Guo, W., Walker, C.W, and Maliva, R.G., 2002, Hydraulic and density considerations in the design of aquifer storage and recovery systems: Florida Water Resources Journal, February 2002, p. 30-36.

Moench, A.F., 1985, Transient flow to a large-diameter well in an aquifer with storative semiconfining layers: Water Resources Research, v. 21, no. 8, p. 1121-1131.

Montgomery Watson, 1998a, Springtree Water Treatment Plant aquifer storage and recovery system well construction report: Prepared for the City of Sunrise, Florida, p. 1-1 to 5-1, 13 apps.

Montgomery Watson, 1998b, Exploratory ASR well drilling and testing at the Shell Creek Water Treatment Plant: Interim report prepared for the City of Punta Gorda, Florida, and Southwest Florida Water Management District, p. 1-1 to 5-4, and apps.

Montgomery Watson, 1998c, Fiveash Water Treatment Plant aquifer storage and recovery system well construction report: Prepared for the City of Fort Lauderdale, Florida, p. 1-1 to 6-1, 14 apps.

Montgomery Watson, 2000a, Exploratory ASR well drilling and testing at the Shell Creek Water Treatment Plant: Final report prepared for the City of Punta Gorda, Florida, and Southwest Florida Water Management District, p. 1-1 to 5-5, and apps.

Montgomery Watson, 2000b, Springtree Water Treatment Plant aquifer storage and recovery (ASR) system: Cycle testing report prepared for the City of Sunrise, Florida, 27 p., 2 apps.

Montgomery Watson Harza, 2002a, Springtree Water Treatment Plant aquifer storage and recovery (ASR) system cycle testing report – Cycles 1 through 6: Prepared for the City of Sunrise, Florida, 20 p., 4 apps.

Montgomery Watson Harza, 2002b, Interim report on the drilling and testing of the Shell Creek Water Treatment Plant expanded aquifer storage and recovery (ASR) well system: Prepared for the City of Punta Gorda, Florida, 51 p., 10 apps.

Palm Beach County Water Utilities Department, 2003a, Eastern Hillsboro Canal Water Treatment Plant #9 aquifer storage and recovery well: Well construction report and operational testing request, p. 1-1 to 4-1, 16 apps.

Palm Beach County Water Utilities Department, 2003b, Water Treatment Plant No. 3, multipurpose Floridan aquifer storage and recovery well: Well construction report and operational testing request, 5 secs., 12 apps. PBS&J and CH2M HILL, 2000, Reclaimed water ASR well construction and testing summary at the South Regional Wastewater Treatment Plant: Final report prepared for Englewood Water District and Southwest Florida Water Management District, p. 1-1 to 6-1, 14 apps.

Pyne, R.D.G., 1995, Groundwater recharge and wells: A guide to aquifer storage recovery: Boca Raton, Fla, Lewis Publishers, 376 p.

Quiñones-Aponte, Vicente, Kotun, Kevin, and Whitley, J. F., 1996, Analysis of tests of subsurface injection, storage, and recovery of freshwater in the Lower Floridian aquifer, Okeechobee County, Florida: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 95-765, 32 p.

Reese, R.S., 1994, Hydrogeology and the distribution and origin of salinity in the Floridan aquifer system, southeastern Florida: U.S. Geological Survey Water-Resources Investigations Report 94-4010, 56 p.

Reese, R.S., 2000, Hydrogeology and the distribution of salinity in the Floridan aquifer system, southwestern Florida: U.S. Geological Survey Water-Resources Investigations Report 98-4253, 86 p., 10 pls.

Reese, R.S., 2002, Inventory and review of aquifer storage and recovery in southern Florida: U.S. Geological Survey Water-Resources Investigations Report 02-4036, 55 p.

Reese, R.S., 2004, Hydrogeology, water quality, and distribution and sources of salinity in the Floridan aquifer system, Martin and St. Lucie Counties Florida: U.S. Geological Survey Water-Resources Investigations Report 03-4242, 96 p., 2 pls.

Reese, R.S., and Cunningham, K.J., 2000, Hydrogeology of the gray limestone aquifer in southern Florida: U.S. Geological Survey Water-Resources Investigations Report 99-4213, 244 p.

Reese, R.S., and Memberg, S.J., 2000, Hydrogeology and the distribution of salinity in the Floridan aquifer system, Palm Beach County, Florida: U.S. Geological Survey Water-Resources Investigations Report 99-4061, 52 p., 2 pls.

Sprinkle, C.L., 1989, Geochemistry of the Floridan aquifer system in Florida and in parts of Georgia, South Carolina, and Alabama; U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 1403-I, 105 p., 9 pls.

Theis, C.V., 1935, The relation between the lowering of the piezometric surface and the rate and duration of discharge of a well using ground-water storage: American Geophysical Union Transactions, v. 16, p. 519-524.

U.S. Army Corps of Engineers and South Florida Water Management District, 1999, Central and Southern Florida Project Comprehensive Review Study: Final Integrated Feasibility Report and Programmatic Environment Impact Statement, 27 p.

U.S. Army Corps of Engineers and South Florida Water Management District, 2001, Lake Okeechobee aquifer storage and recovery pilot project, project management plan, final draft: Central and Southern Florida Comprehensive Everglades Restoration Plan, 66 p.

ViroGroup, Inc., 1994, Floridan aquifer wellfield expansion completion report of wells RO-5, RO-6, RO-7 and the dual zone monitor well at site RO-5 for the Town of Jupiter system, Jupiter, Florida: 26 p., and apps.

ViroGroup, Inc., 1998, Marco Lakes aquifer storage and recovery pilot project: Final report prepared for Florida Water Services, Inc., 51 p., 8 apps.

Walton, W.C., 1962, Selected analytical methods for well and aquifer evaluation: Illinois State Water Survey Bulletin 49, 81 p.

Water Resources Solutions, Inc., 1999a, Lee County Utilities observation well #1 (LM-6208) at the North Reservoir site, Lee County, Florida: Completion report prepared for Hole, Montes & Associates, Inc., in conjunction with Hazen and Sawyer, P.C., 27 p., 9 apps.

Water Resources Solutions, Inc., 1999b, Lee County Utilities ASR Well #1 (LM-6210) at the North Reservoir site, Lee County, Florida: Completion report prepared for Hole, Montes & Associates, Inc., in conjunction with Hazen and Sawyer, P.C., 26 p., 9 apps.

Water Resources Solutions, Inc., 1999c, Marco Lakes aquifer storage and recovery project cycle 4: Report prepared for Florida Water Services, Inc., 33 p., and app.

Water Resources Solutions, Inc., 2000a, Lee County Utilities observation wells #1 (LM-6209) and #3 (LM-6615) at the Olga WTP site, Lee County, Florida: Completion report prepared for Hole, Montes & Associates, Inc., in conjunction with Hazen and Sawyer, P.C., 39 p., 9 apps.

Water Resources Solutions, Inc., 2000b, Lee County Utilities ASR Well #1 (LM-6086) at the Olga WTP site, Lee County, Florida: Completion report prepared for Hole, Montes & Associates, Inc., in conjunction with Hazen and Sawyer, P.C., 32 p., 9 apps.

Water Resources Solutions, Inc., 2000c, Marco Lakes ASR expansion project: Well completion report prepared for Florida Water Services, Inc., 24 p., 3 v., and apps.

Water Resources Solutions, Inc., 2000d, Marco Lakes aquifer storage and recovery project cycle 5: Summary report prepared for Florida Water Services, Inc., 17 p. Water Resources Solutions, Inc., 2002a, Marco Lakes aquifer storage and recovery project cycle 1E: Summary report prepared for Florida Water Services, Inc., 17 p., 3 apps.

Water Resources Solutions, Inc., 2002b, North Reservoir ASR system cycle 1 report: Prepared for Lee County Utilities, 32 p., 4 apps.

Water Resources Solutions, Inc., 2002c, Olga ASR system cycle 1 report: Prepared for Lee County Utilities, 35 p., 4 apps.

Water Resources Solutions, Inc., 2002d, Report on Drilling and Testing of the ASR exploration well at Pelican Bay Wellfield: Prepared for Collier County Utilities Engineering Department, 16 p., 11 apps.

Water Resources Solutions, Inc., 2002e, City of Punta Gorda backplugging of wells ASR-3 and ASR-4: Letter to Florida Department of Environmental Protection Underground Injection Program, July 24, 2002, 3 p.

Water Resources Solutions, Inc., 2003a, North Reservoir ASR system cycle 2 report: Prepared for Lee County Utilities, 37 p., 5 apps.

Water Resources Solutions, Inc., 2003b, Olga ASR system cycle 2 report: Prepared for Lee County Utilities, 38 p., 5 apps.

Water Resources Solutions, Inc., 2003c, Marco Lakes ASR-2 and ASR-3 UIC operating permit application and engineering report: Prepared for Florida Water Services Corp.

Water Resources Solutions, Inc., 2003d, Summary of City of Punta Gorda ASR system cycle OP-4 results: Letter to the City of Punta Gorda Utility Department, May 8, 2003, 6 p., attachments.

Water Resources Solutions, Inc., 2004a, Marco Lakes aquifer storage and recovery construction permit application renewal: Prepared for the City of Marco Island, Marco Island Utilities, 3 pts., tables and apps.

Water Resources Solutions, Inc., 2004b, Marco Lakes aquifer storage and recovery expansion project cycle 3E summary report: Prepared for City of Marco Island, Marco Island Utilities, 17 p., figures and tables, 2 apps.

Wedderburn, L.A., and Knapp, M.S., 1983, Field investigation into the feasibility of storing fresh water in saline portions of the Floridan aquifer system, St. Lucie County, Florida: South Florida Water Management District Technical Publication 83-7, 71 p.